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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Legendary Education Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from the following
business arms: (i) OEM business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw materials sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the “"OEM
Business”); (ii) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group’s own brand
and high-end fashion brand (the “Retail Business”); (i) money lending
business segment, which provides financing to customers for interest
income (“Money Lending Business”); (iv) financial quotient and
investment education business segment, which provides financial
quotient and investment education courses for the customers in
return of tuition fees from them (“Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business”); (v) property investment business (“Property
Investment Business”); and (vi) private supplementary education
business segment, which provides private supplementary education
courses for the students in return of tuition fees from them (“Private
Supplementary Education Business”).

OEM Business

The garment sector of the consumer market has experienced a
downturn in recent year. Meanwhile, the Company currently has
no intention, arrangement, agreement, understanding, negotiation
(concluded or otherwise) on disposal, termination and/or scaling-
down of the Company’s OEM business. The Group will cautiously
monitor the business environment, market sentiment and customers’
behaviors of the OEM business and will continue to devote effort to
the development of the OEM business. Going forward, the Group will
continue to focus on expanding the customer base by diversifying
the service scope of the OEM business.

Retail Business

While the economic slowdown in the People’'s Republic of China
(the "PRC") and the outbreak of the COVID-19 in early 2020 eroded
consumer confidence, the shifting of pattern to online shopping
further negatively impacted the Retail Business.

Under such an unfavorable ambience, the Group has adopted
a prudent approach in restructuring its sales network aiming at
minimising the operating costs amid meeting the shift of consumers’
preference towards shopping online.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

Money Lending Business

The Group obtained the money lender licence and commenced
Money Lending Business from June 2016. During the year ended 31
March 2024, the Money Lending Business had generated interest
income of approximately HK$2.9 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 15.8% compared to that of last financial year.
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 has had a
significant impact on the business environment within Hong Kong.
The worsening economic conditions stemming from the pandemic
have created a challenging and unpredictable landscape for the
Group.

Given these market dynamics, the Group anticipates that loan
demand and lending risks may be affected in the near to medium
term. In response, the Group will continue to vigilantly evaluate its
risk management measures to ensure a prudent balance between
risk and return over the long run.

Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group established a
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business. This initiative
provides financial and investment education courses to customers,
with the aim of enhancing their knowledge in these areas.

In the year ended 31 March 2024, certain courses were completed
with strong results, generating revenue of approximately HK$184.0
million. This represents a 13.8% increase compared to the prior
year’s revenue of HK$161.7 million.

The performance of the Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business underscores the growing demand for such educational
offerings among the Group’s customer base. The Group will continue
to invest in expanding and refining this business to strengthen
customer relationships and diversify revenue streams.

Property Investment Business

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group established
the Property Investment Business. Going forward, the Group will
proactively seek out opportunities for asset appreciation and stable
cash flow returns within the property markets of Hong Kong and
the broader Asia-Pacific region. In parallel, the Group will maintain
a vigilant approach to market monitoring and continually assess
emerging trends and shifts in regional real estate dynamics.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Private Supplementary Education Business

In August 2021, the Group resolved to develop the business of
provision of private supplementary education services as a new
business of the Group. Private supplementary education courses
play a supplemental role to regular schools, helping students deepen
their understanding of what they have learnt in classes, improve
their school grades and better prepare themselves for public
examinations. Private supplementary education courses, especially
those for local secondary school students, have been in high demand
in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2024, each of the education centers located in
Causeway Bay, Kowloon Bay, Prince Edward and Tsuen Wan has
obtained the “Certificate of Registration of A School” granted by the
Education Bureau of Hong Kong. The education center located in
Mongkok has also obtained the “Certificate of Provisional Registration
of A School” grated by the Education Bureau of Hong Kong.

In the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's Private Supplementary
Education Business generated revenue of approximately HK$97.3
million and recorded a profit of approximately HK$10.6 million.

This represents an increase of 38.2% in revenue and 85.7% in
profit compared to the prior financial year, underscoring the strong
performance and growth trajectory of this business segment.

The Group will continue to invest in and expand its Private
Supplementary Education operations to capitalize on the favorable
market trends and drive sustainable value creation for its
stakeholders.

PROSPECTS
For the OEM Business, the management is committed to
strengthening the customer base for the OEM Business. The Group
will continue to secure new orders and customers to drive growth
in this segment.

For the Retails Business, the management will closely monitor
consumer behavior and continue to implement targeted promotion
campaigns to support the Retail Business. Despite the adverse
impact of the coronavirus outbreak in Hong Kong, the management
remains positive about the long-term prospects of the Retail Business
and will implement appropriate strategies in a timely manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

For the money Lending Business, the Group will continue to expand
it, but will do so with a prudent and balanced risk management
approach to ensure the sustainable growth of this segment.

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, the
Group will (i) invest resources to expand the market share, and
(i) strive to broaden its customer base. The Group is also seeking
for opportunities of asset appreciation and cash flow return in
the property market within Hong Kong and in the Asia-Pacific
region. Whilst the Group remains focused on developing its existing
businesses, in particular the Investment Education Business, it
has been the business strategy of the Group to proactively seek
potential investment opportunities in order to enhance value of the
Shareholders.

The Group commenced the business of provision of private
supplementary education services during the year ended 31 March
2022. The Board is optimistic about the prospects for demand
in the private tutorial class market. The Board believes that the
Private Supplementary Education Business will further enhance
the Company's financial performance and shareholder value. This
positive outlook is based on the Board's assessment of the favorable
market dynamics and growth opportunities in the private education
services sector. The Board is confident that the Company’s strategic
initiatives and execution in this business line will contribute to
strengthening the Company's overall financial position and delivering
enhanced value to its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased from approximately HK$237.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$284.6
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an increase
of approximately 19.9%, which was mainly driven by the strong
performance of the “Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business” and the "Private Supplementary Education Business”.

For the Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business,
certain courses were completed with inspiring achievements and
revenue of approximately HK$184.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2024, representing an increase of approximately 13.8% as
compared to that of approximately HK$161.7 million for the last
financial year and accounting for approximately 64.7% of the total
revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the business of private supplementary education courses, it had
achieved encouraging results with tuition income of approximately
HK$97.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a
significant increase of approximately 38.2% as compared to that
of approximately HK$70.4 million for the last financial year and
accounting for approximately 34.2% of the total revenue.

For the OEM Business and Money Lending Business, it had generated
income of approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$2.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024, representing 0.1% and 1.0% of the total
revenue respectively.

The following table sets forth the breakdowns of the revenue of the
Group by segment for each of the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2024.

OEM Business R RIS TS
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Retail Business TEXK - : 860 0.4
Money Lending Business EES 2,931 3,479 1.5
Financial Quotient and MR RIEERE X

Investment Education

Business 184,043 161,726 68.1
Property Investment Business — #3384 7% - 0.0 - 0.0
Private Supplementary NV ENE G- E S

Education Business 97,331 34.2 70,388 29.7

284,595 100.0 237,253 100.0

Cost of sales and services

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales and services was labor
and operating costs of financial quotient and investment education
courses and private supplementary education courses. The Group's
cost of sales and services increased by approximately 30.2% to
approximately HK$124.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
as compared to the year ended 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2024 was approximately HK$106.1 million (2023 HK$95.7 million),
representing an increase of approximately HK$10.4 million. The
increase was mainly due to the share option expenses, the further
development of private supplementary education business and
increase in marketing and administration expenses relating in
financial quotient and investment education business.

Profit for the year

The profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately
HK$47.1 million. The profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$34.6 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital structure

As at 31 March 2024, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$210,000 and
HK$331.3 million respectively (2023: approximately HK$197,000 and
HK$252.9 million respectively).

Cash position

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's unpledged
bank balances and cash was approximately HK$68.2 million
(2023: approximately HK$48.6 million), representing a increase of
approximately 40.3% as compared to that of at 31 March 2023.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's total borrowings (including the
promissory notes) were approximately HK$4.7 million (31 March 2023:
approximately HK$7.5 million). The gearing ratio was approximately
1.4% as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: approximately 3.0%).

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group’s business operations are denominated mainly in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). The Group's assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in HK$. Currently, the Group has not entered
into agreements or purchased instruments to hedge the Group’s
exchange rate risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Change of company name

On 2 June 2023, the Company changed its English name from
“Legendary Group Limited” to “Legendary Education Group Limited”
and adopted the Chinese name “EFH B £ EHRE A A" as its dual
foreign name to replace its former Chinese name "Bl X {E&EB A
fRAF]" (the “Change of Company Name”). Further details of the
Change of Company Name were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 7 March 2023 and 2 June 2023, and the circular of
the Company dated 7 March 2023. The Change of Company Name
was registered with the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong on
5 May 2023. Following the Change of Company Name becoming
effective, the stock short name of the Company has been changed
from “LEGENDARY GROUP” in English and “&l X f&7%" in Chinese to
“LEGENDARY EDU" in English and “E&Z &£ E" in Chinese with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 7 June 2023. The Company also adopted a
new company logo with effect from 2 June 2023.

Significant Investments Held, Material
Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies, and Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there were no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March
2024 (2023: Nil).

Employees and Emolument Policies

The Group had approximately 116 employees (including Directors)
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: 69). The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their performance and development potential
in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality
staff and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference to
market conditions and individual qualifications and experience)
and various in-house training courses. The remuneration packages
are subject to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the
Directors and senior management are reviewed by the Remuneration
committee, having regard to the Group’'s operating results, market
competitiveness, individual performance and achievement, and
approved by the Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Legal Proceedings

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received a writ of
summons in relation to a repudiatory breach of a tenancy agreement
between the plaintiff, an independent third party landlord, and Sino
Shine Retailing Limited, a former subsidiary of the Group, entered
into on 27 October 2016, which the plaintiff is claiming the Group for,
inter alia, damages in the sum of approximately HK$1,735,000 plus
interest. As the directors of the Group consider that it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, the Group recognised the provision of HK$ 1,735,000 which
is considered as a reliable estimate that can be made.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
Committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).

The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee will be made
available on the Company'’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com
and the Stock Exchange’s website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

BONUS ISSUE

In the previous fiscal year, the Board had proposed, subject to
shareholder approval, a bonus issue of shares on the basis of
one (1) bonus share for every ten (10) existing shares held by
qualifying shareholders. However, after careful consideration and
an assessment of the current market conditions, the Group has
decided not to proceed with the proposed bonus issue. There will
be no bonus issue undertaken in the foreseeable future.

This decision was made to preserve the Group's financial resources
and flexibility, given the evolving market environment. The Board
believes this approach is prudent and aligned with the Group’s
long-term strategic objectives and the interests of its shareholders.
The Group will continue to monitor market developments and
evaluate alternative capital allocation strategies that can best support
the Group’s growth initiatives and enhance shareholder value
over time. Any future proposals regarding bonus issues or other
corporate actions will be thoroughly evaluated and communicated
to shareholders as appropriate.

ADOPTION OF SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND
PROPOSED GRANT OF SCHEME MANDATE

On 26 September 2022, the board of the Company has resolved to
propose the adoption of the Scheme. The purposes of the Scheme
are to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those of the Group
through ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions
paid on Shares and/or the increase in value of the Shares and to
encourage and enable Eligible Persons, upon whose judgement,
initiative and efforts the Group largely depends on, for the successful
conduct of its business, to make contributions to the long-term
growth and profits of the Group and share in the success of the
Group. The share award scheme has been adopted by the Company
on 25 November 2022. Details were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2022, 7 November 2022 and 25
November 2022, and the Company’s circular dated 7 November 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWR DT

Securities Investment Held by the Group rEBRGESZRE

Details of the investment performance for the year ended 31 March #HZEZZTZMNF=A=+—HIEFE  E@EL&E
2024 in respect of equity securities listed in Hong Kong held by the  BEREMRES EMHRAZEHFHRERBFE
Group are as follows: s

Movement during the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-E-ME-A--ALEENEE
% of % of
%tothe interest %tothe interest  Losson
total assets of the total assets ofthe  disposal/
ofthe  respective ofthe  respective redemption
Group  investments  Fair value Fair value Group  investments for the year
asat as at asat  Addition/  Change on as at asat asat ended
1 April 1 April {Apil  (disposal), fairvalue, ~ 31March  31March  31March  31March
2023 2023 2023 net net 2024 2024 2024
W-8zzf iz
MA-R H=%=: 3 3mk ml Jal 2
{558  BA-A RoB== H-ZRE ZPzt-R =B=t-H
EEGEN (RBRE TWA-AK HE AYE =R=f-A {ERBRE LEEHE/
Name of investments ~ R&%R Anlt BENEMM ATE (KE)FE  REFE WOATE £ ERfEAt  REER
HK§1000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$1000 HK000
Thn S T Thn S

Equity securities listed i~ E& L miRARS

Hong Kong
HSBC Holdings ple (5) @ - - - AU - AU 001 000 -
AL Group Limited (8360)
() - - - 2203 (237) 1966 045 087 -
Far East Hotels and
Entertainment Limited (37)¢ - - - (1162) - - - - (1162
Chinse Estaies Holdngs ~~ ZAEZ£E(177)
Limited (127) 0.22% 0.02% 84 (33 - - - - (49)
8l 1166 (237) 1990 (1653
Investment funds REES
Swiss Financial Sevices SWiss Financial Services
(Singanore) Pte Ltd, (Singapore) Pte Ltd.
-ClassLof vestment Target -~ 4 BIELB [ A2 5A
“DIDi ol Inc” Rl ( 0% NAFER 136 - - 1% 031 NATER -
21 1,166 (231) 336 (1653
# The amount represent a net loss of HK$1,162,000 for the year. # Ze BT NEEFEE1,162,0008 7T ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBWmR D

Notes:

14

The investment represented 400 shares, which was approximately
0.00% of the total issued shares of HSBC Holdings plc (“HSBC") as at
31 March 2024. HSBC Holdings plc and its subsidiaries (“HSBC Group”)
is principally engaged in the business of banking and financial services.
According to HSBC Holdings plc annual report for the year ended 31
December 2023, it recorded total operating income and net profit of
approximately US Dollar 66,058 million and US Dollar 24,559 million
respectively.

The investment represented 3,120,000 shares, which was approximately
0.87% of the total issued shares of AL Group Limited (“AL Group”) as
at 31 March 2024. AL Group and its subsidiaries is principally engaged
in design and fit out business and securities investment business.
The Group recorded an unrealised fair value loss of approximately
HK$237,000 in respect of its investment in AL Group for the year ended
31 March 2024. According to AL Group annual report for the year ended
31 December 2023, it recorded revenue and net loss of approximately
HK$64 million and HK$21 million respectively.

The Group will continue to monitor the performance and share price
of HSBC and AL Group.

The unlisted equity investment is issued by private entities with
operations in Cayman Islands. The investment is carried at cost less
impairment as management believes that the range of fair value
estimates is so wide that the fair value cannot be estimated reliably.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2024
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (R#¥®R), aged 36, was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 October 2019. He obtained a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences (Honours) in Administration and Public
Management from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen has
over five years' experience in event management and organising
investment experience-sharing courses and training courses.

Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin (BR3Z &), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive Director on 3 August 2020. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor
degree in Dental Surgery from University of Hong Kong and diploma
in Higher Education, School of Dentistry from University of Liverpool.
Mr. Chan has over 11 years of experience in corporate strategy,
business development and management where he was a founder
of a chain of dental clinics in Hong Kong with over 7 dentists and
6 clinics in 2014 (the "Dental Chain”). Mr. Chan was responsible
for formulating corporate strategies, business development plans
and major corporate decisions for the Dental Chain. In addition,
Mr. Chan has over 7 years of experience in financial quotient and
investment education business. He is an instructor of various
property investment courses and training courses with an average
of 300 attendees per month. In addition, he is an instructor and
course director for memory improvement courses and speed-reading
courses with an average of 60 attendees per course. Mr. Chan also
involves in the development of tutorial and training businesses in
relation to the financial quotient and investment education programs
for over 7 years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Law Wing Chung (#&:kEg), aged 46, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Law obtained a master
degree of journalism and a bachelor degree of laws from the
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Law was an award winning journalist
who has served in the newsroom for over 12 years. Mr. Law has
substantial experience in the media industry. He has set up two
public affairs consulting companies which are principally engaged
in the provision of various consultancy services including public
affairs, public relations, social media, news media and stakeholder
engagement advices. Mr. Law was appointed by the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") Government as the Political
Assistant to the Financial Secretary in 2012 and had also assisted
a candidate to run the Hong Kong Chief Executive election in 2017.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEERE

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny (&2 #), aged 55, was appointed as
a non-executive Director on 13 January 2023. Dr. Tang obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in Business, majoring in finance from Edith
Cowan University in February 1993 and a PhD. degree in Economics
from Renmin University of China in July 2007. He became a senior
associate of the Australian Institute of Banking and Finance in
December 1995 and was appointed as Hong Kong Chief Analyst by
the Finance and Securities Institute of Renmin University of China
in December 2010. Dr. Tang has over 29 years of experience in the
financial and securities sector. He is currently a managing partner of
a company engaging in asset management and financial services. Dr.
Tang also has extensive experience in the education sector. He was
(i) a lecturer of Master of Social Science in Global Political Economy
Programme at The Chinese University of Hong Kong from 2009 to
2016; (ii) a lecturer of Equity Analysis course at Open University of
Hong Kong (currently known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University);
(iii) tutor of The School of Professional Education and Executive
Development of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to
2004; and (iv) tutor of Equity Analysis course at The HKU School of
Professional and Continuing Education from 1997 to 2000.

Dr. Tang is a member of Election Committee Member (Financial
Services) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, the
chairman of The Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysts and
Professional Commentators Limited and the committee member
of the board of directors of Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association. He is also the deputy chairman of The Hong Kong
Chinese Listed Companies Association, the vice chairman of The
Hong Kong Girl Guides New Territories Region Association and co-
initiator of The Hong Kong Coalition. Dr. Tang is also an independent
non-executive director of Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co.
Ltd. (HKEX Stock Code: 6893).

Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze (ZEAF), aged 32, was appointed
as a non-executive Director on 4 September 2023. She obtained
a Bachelor of Arts in Law and a Master of Arts from the University
of Cambridge in 2014 and 2018, respectively. She was admitted
to the New York Bar in 2018. From 2019 to 2022, Ms. Mak worked
for McKinsey & Company where she led multiple management
consulting projects on strategy, organization and design thinking.
Prior to that, she had been engaged in the entertainment industry
between 2015 and 2019 and had acted as host of various major
television shows broadcast and regular talk shows. Ms. Mak is a
co-founder of Project Melo Limited, which is a company focusing on
youth empowerment.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (BR1#€), aged 52, FCCA, CPA (Practising),
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June
2019 and is a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
of the Board. He holds a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Diploma in
Accounting from Kwai Chung Technical Institute. He has engaged
in the accounting industry since 1993 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in accounting and auditing. He is the sole
proprietor of PASICO CPA & Co.

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan (8 &), aged 34, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 30 October 2020. He is also
a chairman of each of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Board and a member of the Audit Committee.
He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration (major
in accounting) from Lingnan University. Mr. Chung has over 10
years of experience in accounting and taxation services. He also
has extensive experience in company secretarial matters. Mr.
Chung is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a chartered tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is the founder of CK Tax Company Limited, a
taxation company granted by the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong as
“Chartered Tax Adviser Accredited Employer”.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEERE

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan ($2EI3R), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2021. Mr. Chung
obtained a bachelor degree in Quantity Surveying from Robert
Gordon'’s Institute of Technology, Scotland (currently known as
Robert Gordon University, Aberdeen) in July 1986 and a master
degree in Business Administration from the University of Stirling,
Scotland, United Kingdom in May 1988.

Mr. Chung has been responsible for the business management of
Chungweiming Knitting Factory Limited since early 1988. Mr. Chung
also has several social positions, including a member of the 5th and
6th Legislative Council of Hong Kong (Textile and Garment Sector),
Leader of Liberal Party, Honorary Life Chairman of Hong Kong Apparel
Society Limited, a member of Honorary General Committee, The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, an advisor of
New Territories General Chamber of Commerce, a director of Hong
Kong Design Centre, Chairman of Design Discipline Advisory Board
of Vocational Training Council, Chairman of Fashion Industry Training
Advisory Committee, Education Bureau of the HKSAR and a member
of the Advisory Group on Implementation of Fashion Initiatives, The
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau of the HKSAR. He
was also a member of the 9th Guangdong Provincial Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 2005.

Mr. Chung is currently an independent non-executive director of
High Fashion International Limited (stock code: 608), Planetree
International Development Limited (stock code: 613) and Esprit
Holdings Limited (stock code: 330) respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally derives its revenue from six business arms: (i)
OEM Business, which entails product design and development, raw
materials sourcing and procurement, manufacturing and product
quality control management; (ii) Retail Business, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of
pure cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as
accessories through the retail network in Hong Kong under the
Group’s own brand and high-end fashion brand; (iii) Money Lending
Business, which provides financing to customers for interest income,
(iv) Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business, which
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for the
customers in return of tuition fees from them,; (v) Property Investment
Business; and (vi) Private Supplementary Education Business.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 257.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024. (2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no arrangement
under which any shareholder waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

Further details of dividends are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEgRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 3 to 14.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environments and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner is a key priority for the Group.
The Group endeavors to comply with all applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations. It also actively adopts measures to
promote the efficient use of resources, energy conservation, and
waste reduction. This includes implementing green office practices
such as redeploying furniture, encouraging the use of recycled
paper, double-sided printing, and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle equipment.

Furthermore, the Group is dedicated to the principle and practice
of recycling and waste minimization across its operations. These
efforts are aimed at preserving natural resources and mitigating
the Group’s environmental footprint. By embedding sustainability
into its business practices, the Group is working to create long-
term value for its stakeholders while fulfilling its responsibility as a
corporate citizen. The Group remains steadfast in its commitment
to environmental stewardship and supporting the well-being of the
communities it serves.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), the GEM Listing Rules,
the applicable employment ordinance both in the PRC and Hong
Kong, the local standards and regulations for our project works as
well as other relevant rules and regulations. Saved as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders
to meet its immediate and long-term goals. Saved as disclosed
elsewhere in this report, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other
stakeholders during the year ended 31 March 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.
Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM")

The 2024 AGM will be held on Friday, 27 September 2024. A circular
containing the details of 2024 AGM and the notice of 2024 AGM and
form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be despatched to
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024 the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$182.0 million (2023: HK$149.9
million). The amount includes the Company’s share premium,
special reserve and accumulated profits which may be distributable
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 258 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 0.5% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: 1.6%) and sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 0.1% of the total sales for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023 0.5%). Purchase from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25.9% of the
total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 39.6%)
and purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 22.9% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: 25.3%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Law Wing Chung

Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny

Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze (appointed on 4 September 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie

Mr. Chung Chin Kwan

Mr. Chung Kwok Pan

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
company, Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin, Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie and Mr. Chung Chin Kwan retire at the 2024 AGM and,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the said
meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 15 to 18 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company for an initial term of one year.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, none of the Directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five individuals with
highest emoluments are set out in Notes 12 to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management whose details
are included in the “Biographical Details of The Directors and Senior
Management” section of this annual report fell within the following
bands:

Remuneration Bands i &1
Below HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000
HK$4,000,000 to HK$4,500,000
HK$5,000,000 to HK$5,500,000
HK$7,000,000 to HK$7,500,000
HK$12,000,000 to HK$12,500,000
HK$28,000,000 to HK$28,500,000

1E741,000,0007% 7T

1,000,0007% 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T
4,000,000/ 7T 24,500,000/ 7T
5,000,000/ 7T £5,500,000/8 7T
7,000,000/ 72 27,500,000/ 7T
12,000,0007% 7T 212,500,000/ 7T
28,000,0007% 7T £ 28,500,000/ 7T

B R
ARBDHERS B IFNTEERIFEGEM TR
AIES0MGER 2 FEHR - BREBLIE - K
RAIRBMBEILFTESHRBIAL »

EERGREEERBEFMALZ
sl

EXHMRARESHFMA L ZFERN EA M
BREMT 12 - BE_T-WF=A=+—HIt
FE EFTRAIAEEE (RFRENAFRE
LR EREREFNE] —&) 2 MEELD
T

Number of Individuals*
AE*

A A A A A O

* Resigned Director and Senior Management during the year is not included.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications and experience) and various training courses.
The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group's operating results, market competitiveness, individual
performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Details of the share option scheme of the Group are set out in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statement.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME
Details of the share award scheme of the Group are set out in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statement.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for share option scheme of the Group, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issues shares were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions”
below, no contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its holding company or subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2024 or as at 31 March 2024.
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UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report is set out below:

(i) Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze was appointed as an Non-executive
Director on 4 September 2023.

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, there is no
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO™), which are required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and underlying shares
of the Company:
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Percentage of
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Name of Directors Capacity Shares held Options held Total 31 March 2024
(%)
R-B-MEF
=A=t+—H
EERABSRAT
EEpE 51 FERAEE MFisEREHE At ROEBEDE
(%)
Chan Lap Jin Kevin Beneficial owner 33,982,080 3,584,000 37,566,080 8.96
BR R EnBBA
Yuen Yu Sum Beneficial owner 6,904,480 3,584,000 10,488,430 2.50
RWR ExfEAA
Chung Chin Kwan Beneficial owner 1,135,200 - 1,135,200 0.27
BRI EnBBA
Interest of spouse 184,800 - 184,800 0.04
[RLEE e (Note 1)
(Krat1)
Law Wing Chung Beneficial owner 211,200 728,000 939,200 0.22
ZoxIR E=nBEBA
Note: Byt -

(1) 168,000 shares are owned by Ms. Lam Ka Yee, who is the spouse of
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan.

(1) BRI A B BLB M SR & 2 455 168,000% ix
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) (i) as required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii)
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred
to in Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Saved as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS”, as at 31 March 2024, neither the
company, holding company nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to
any arrangements to enable the directors and chief executive of the
company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or any
other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had
exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2024, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests
or short positions are disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its
Associated Corporations” above, the following parties have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which have to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company are
listed as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interests

BRREE B8

519,/ EntE

Lui Yu Kin Beneficial owner
B FiE EnEEA

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its Associated
Corporations” above) who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which has to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended
31 March 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the key management personnel compensation and as
disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, the Group did not have
other significant related party/connected party transactions entered
into during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Directors
are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to Rule 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company periodically issues notices to
its Directors reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing in
the Company’s listed securities during the blackout periods before
the publication of announcements of financial results. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that
all the Directors have complied with the required standards of
dealings throughout the year. The Company was not aware of any
noncompliance during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review financial statements of the
Company and judgement in respect of financial reporting; oversee
internal control procedures of the Company; and review risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2024 had been
reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been
audited by Kenswick CPA, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment
of Kenswick CPA as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
2024 AGM.

By order of the Board
Yuen Yu Sum
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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EREARE

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance with
the code provisions of the CG Code under Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 March 2024, save for
the deviations as further explained below, the Company has fully
complied with all applicable provisions of the CG Code. The Company
will continue to enhance its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory and the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises eight members, of which two are
executive Directors namely Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap
Jin Kevin and three non-executive Directors namely Mr. Law Wing
Chung, Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny and Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze and
three are independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and Mr. Chung Kwok Pan.

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of
the Board, there is no relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material relationship(s)) among the Board members.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the “Articles of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years and any director appointed to fill a
causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. The procedures and
process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are
laid down in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, considering and
formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment
of Directors and monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(“CEO")

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman
and the CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 14 April 2021. The Board is in the process of finding
an appropriate person to fill the vacancy of the CEO as soon as
practicable. Meanwhile, the Board considers that the existing Board
members are able to share the power and responsibilities of CEO
among themselves.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2024.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered into
a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company for an initial term of one year and is subject to
termination provisions therein and retirement and re-election at the
annual general meetings of our Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company or any other applicable laws
from time to time whereby he/she shall vacate his office.

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overall management of the Group’s
business, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of major policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed
from time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned
officers.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and revised in 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on the merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company also adopted a nomination policy (The “Nomination
Policy”) on 31 December 2018. The purpose of the Nomination
Policy is to identify candidates who are suitable to become a
member of the Board and to make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships.
The Board shall be composed of members with balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish
the Group's business development, strategies, operation, challenges
and opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender,
age, cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing Rules
and the Nomination Policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE
DIRECTORS

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group and such induction materials
will also be provided to the newly appointed Directors before
their appointment as Directors. All Directors have been updated
on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure Directors, upon
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company'’s expenses.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/
reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided a record of training to the Company. These covered
a broad range of topics including Directors’ duties, corporate
governance and recent updates on the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD MEETINGS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all
regular Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, 14 Board meetings were held,
out of which 4 were regular Board meetings for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
Board committees’ Meetings are set out in the table below:
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was adopted in compliance with paragraph C3.3
of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised terms
of reference of the Audit Committee in line with the GEM Listing
Rules requirement. The revised terms of reference setting out the
Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to assist the
Board in overseeing and reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems and regulatory
compliance of the Group; (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial
statements and application of accounting standards and significant
judgements contained in the financial statements; and (iii) the
relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

As at 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Kwok Pan and Mr. Chun Chin Kwan. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie was the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, 4 meetings of Audit Committee were held
for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual
results, the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the
appointment of auditors of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B1.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted
a set of the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The
terms of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the
GEM website and the Company’s website. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating
to all Directors and senior management of the Group and ensure
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, which is
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory
role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to
approve the remuneration packages of individual Directors and
senior management.

As at 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2 meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy
and structure and determining the annual remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and determining the
annual remuneration packages of the newly appointed Directors and
senior management, if any.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A5.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set
of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee in
line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The revised terms of
reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website and the
Company'’s website. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board on nomination and
appointment of Directors and Board succession, with a view to
appoint to the Board individuals with suitable experience and
capabilities to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the
Company.

As at 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Chung Chin Kwan and one non-executive Director, Mr.
Law Wing Chung. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan was the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 2 meetings of Nomination
Committee were held for, inter alia, considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors and the appointment of the new Directors
and senior management, if any. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group achieved the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy during the year.

Compliance Committee

The Company established a compliance committee (the “Compliance
Committee”) with effect from 20 June 2022. The Compliance
committee is responsible for overseeing the regulatory compliance
with all relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company,
including but not limited to, the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (together, “Applicable Laws”).
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The members of the Compliance Committee consist of two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director.
The Board has appointed Mr. Chung Chin Kwan, Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, both being independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, being the chairman of the Board and an executive Director,
as members of the Compliance Committee. Mr. Chung Chin Kwan
has been appointed as the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

The terms of reference of the Compliance Committee are available
on the Company’s website at http://www.legendaryedu.com and the
Stock Exchange's website at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Upon the
Company'’s specific enquiry, each Director had confirmed that, they
had fully complied with the required standard of dealings and there
was no event of non-compliance for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor of the Company, and its affiliate companies in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by them to the Group were
as follows:

22 Gl ke
BE-Z-MEZA=+-BLEFE ADAR
ELEH R R S SR 1 K S R R IR AR 7S B
FRBRBMEN RS BAMT ;

Fees paid/payable HK$

Service rendered FriR AR IE et ENERET
Audit services ZE RS 1,097,000
Total st 1,097,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement or
loss. Given the relatively simple corporate and operation structure,
the Group currently does not have an internal audit department.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
as well as overseeing the formation, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. In addition, the
Group engages an independent professional advisor with the aim of
setting up and maintaining an effective internal audit function. The
independent professional advisor assists the Board and the Audit
Committee in conducting an annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system in various material aspects,
including strategic, financial, operational and compliance controls at
entity and operational levels.
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The Group reviews the internal audit charter to define the scope,
duties and responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function. The Group also conducts an annual risk assessment
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business. The identified
risks are analysed, rated and prioritised based on the likelihood of
occurrence and their impacts on achieving corporate objectives.
Respective internal control measures are proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group. In last financial
year, a continuous three-year audit plan is devised upon the
results of the risk assessment and under a risk based approach.
According to the three-year internal audit plan devised in last
financial year, an annual internal control review project is executed
by the independent professional advisor with a view to assisting the
Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The risk assessment report, three-year audit
plan and internal control report are submitted and reviewed by the
Audit Committee at least once a year. Summary of findings and
recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meeting
with a view to improving the Group's operations.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and
dissemination of inside information that set out procedures in
handling inside information in a secure and proper manner and to
avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board, through its Audit
Committee, with result of the annual internal control review project
executed by the independent professional advisor, is satisfied that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems (i) are
effective and adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment; and (ii) comply with the code provisions on
internal control as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure that
the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates
have been made. Having made appropriate enquiries, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The statement of external auditor of the Company, Kenswick CPA
Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company encourages two-way communications
with both its institutional and private investors. A shareholder’s
communication policy was adopted by the Board on 25 September
2014 aiming at providing the shareholders and potential investors
with ready and timely access to balanced and understandable
information of the Company. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in its interim report, quarterly
reports and this annual report, which are sent to shareholders
of the Company. The AGM provides a valuable forum for direct
communication between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.
The Board as well as Chairmen of the Board committees together
with the auditor will present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The circular of the AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 21
clear days before the meeting. Separate resolutions are proposed
at general meetings on each separate issue and voting of which
are taken by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Any results of
the poll are published on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website. All corporate communication with shareholders will be
posted on the Company’s website for shareholders’ information.
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The 2023 AGM was held on 28 September 2023 and two extraordinary
general meeting were held on 3 April 2023 and 4 September 2023
respectively. Saved as the attendance of the Board disclosed
under the paragraph headed “Number of Meetings and Attendance
Records” above, the auditor also attended the 2023 AGM to answer
guestions of the shareholders. The Company keeps on promoting
investor relations and enhancing communication with the existing
shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s head office or by
email to ir@legendaryedu.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement of
the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group. The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio and the Board has the sole direction as to the
declaration and payment of dividends. The dividend policy allows the
Company to declare special dividends from time to time in addition
to the annual dividends.

The Company'’s ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the Group’s current and future operations, financial
position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
as well as any other conditions or factors which the Board deems
relevant and having regard to the Directors’ fiduciary duties.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (“Company Secretary”) of the Company, Ms.
Fung Yuk Yiu (“Ms. Fung”), was appointed on 9 September 2021.
Ms. Fung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of certified Public
Accountants. The role of the Company Secretary is responsible for
facilitating the Board meeting process, as well as communications
among Board members, with shareholders and Management. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, Ms. Fung undertook not less than 15
hours of professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility
in respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the
maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted
by legal advisers and financial advisers, would notify the Stock
Exchange and make relevant disclosure to the public as soon as
practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company at 5/F,
World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her
contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/ business and
its supporting documents.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the head office
of the Company at 5/F, World Interests Building, 8 Tsun Yip Lane,
Kwun Tong, Hong Kong or send email to ir@legendaryedu.com.hk.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
its Memorandum and Articles of Association. During the Year, the
shareholder has passed resolution on 28 September 2023 approving
the adoption of second amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company. Save as the aforesaid,
there has been no changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

U<

KENSWICK

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEGENDARY EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Legendary
Education Group Limited (formerly known as Legendary Group
Limited, the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 257, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBZHARE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

As disclosed in notes 3.2 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group's loan receivables, net of expected
credit loss (“"ECL") allowance amounted to approximately
HK$40,996,000.

The assessment of ECL allowance for loan receivables
requires the application of significant judgment which
includes the identification of exposures with a significant
deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used in
the ECL models, such as the probabilities of default, loss
given default, expected future cash flows and forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
loan receivables included, amongst others, the following:

] Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

o Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model inputs, model design,
model performance and calculations;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETSEE (@)

BRETEE
BEMNESOAEERERNER

Impairment assessment of loan receivables
(Continued)

We identified the estimated impairment assessment
of loan receivables as a key audit matter due to
the significant balance of loan receivables to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
significant degree of management judgment involved in
recognising ECL allowance on loan receivables.

o Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the loan receivables;

. Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments;

o Evaluating the Group’s assumptions on the
expected future cash flows, including the value
of realisable collateral based on available market
information; and

o Reviewing the financial statements disclosures
relating to the Group's exposure to credit risk and
impairment assessment of loan receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYBZHARE
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Impairment assessment of goodwill

As disclosed in notes 3.2 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 March 2024, the carrying
amount of the Group’s goodwill, net of impairment
amounted to approximately HK$177,764,000.

The Group’ assessment on impairment of goodwill is a
judgmental process which requires estimates concerning
the forecasted future cash flows associated with the
goodwill, the discount rates and the growth rate of revenue
and costs to be applied in determining the value in use. The
selection of valuation model, adoption of key assumptions
and input data may be subject to management basis and
changes in these assumptions and input to valuation
model may result in significant financial impact.

Our procedures in relation to evaluating the impairment
assessment of goodwill included, amongst others, the
following:

o Reviewing and assessing the management'’s
judgment used in the identification of cash-
generating units for annual impairment
assessment;

o Challenging the assumptions adopted in the
impairment testing performed by the management
of the Group and the independent valuers;

o Assessing the underlying data and assumptions
used in the discounted cash flows model, including
changes in the growth rate of revenue, gross
margin and discount rate employed;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BERETEEH (2)

Key audit matter BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter R ET R ERAEETTEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued) BERENE (&)

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a F IR EEHREF LI REREFFE  RERHEY
key audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated B EFa T BHRERNEZ N W RESEERENE
financial statements as a whole and the involvement of a TT/R{E R B 1B H O B A 2B R (&5t -

significant degree of judgment and estimates made by the

management of the Group when performing impairment

testing.

e  Evaluating the discount rates adopted in the ®  BEBESFHEEERLEE ABERETISZHR @ 77
discounted cash flows model by reviewing its basis HARA S REEAHAMMAE &
of calculation and comparing the input data to
market sources; and

e Reviewing the potential impact of reasonably ®* EEZFMREBELEBRSEAGEINEHNEE
possible downside changes in these key data and R o

assumptions.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Fung Tze Wa.

Kenswick CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Fung Tze Wa

Practicing Certificate Number P01138

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERmRkHEMEEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

TAET

(restated,
see note 40)
(1B -
RFfi5E40)

Revenue Uk % 284,595 237,253
Cost of sales and services HE R RIS A AR (124,016) (95,250)
160,579 142,003
Other income HAbYA 7 2,742 2,594
Other gains and losses, net H b Yam K 518558 8 3,248 (3,180)
Selling and distribution costs e RO Rk A (20,479) (20,407)
Administrative expenses 1THFRX (85,624) (75,259)
Finance costs B R AR 9 (2,393) (2,391)
Profit before taxation BRBLRRT 10 58,073 43,366
Income tax expenses i 11 (10,962) (8,776)
Profit and total comprehensive FREMNREEKR
income for the year FEkE 34,590
Profit and total comprehensive T%I A + FE{5 & Rz Fl
income for the year RE2EKFEE :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company — AREEBA 45,598 33,389
- Non-controlling interests — JEER S 1,513 1,201
47,111 34,590
HK cent HK cent
AL gl
Earnings per share SREF 14
— Basic — EAK 8.47
- Diluted — 85 8.39
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mRE M HHIR R R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZT-_WWF=A=+—H

Notes
BraE

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y] 15
Intangible assets EREE 16
Goodwill FEES 17
Interest in an associate R N R R 18
Loan receivables FEUE K 20
Prepayments and deposits TERRIE RiRE 19
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables Z 5 R H b ENGRIE 19
Loan receivables FEMRE R 20
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEZN S/

through profit or loss BE 21
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEED 22
Current liabilities G =R
Trade and other payables Z 5 REMERNKIE 23
Contract liabilities BHBE 24
Bank borrowing RITEE 25
Lease liabilities HEaE 26
Tax payable FERHIIE
Provision for litigation FRAAEE 27
Net current assets RENEEFE
Total assets less current EEAERRBARE

liabilities

Legendary Education Group Limited
58 g y p
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2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
T

24,989
510
177,764
1,105
2,436

206,804

106,108
39,891

13,383
68,222

227,604

17,780
28,236
4,682
11,938
9,032
1,735

73,403

154,201

361,005

= —

HK$'000
TiETT

35,503
705
177,764

3,175

217,147

58,705
43,217

11,930
48,599

162,451

12,469
33,256
5,000
12,289
6,477
1,735

71,226

91,225

308,372




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE KRR T

As at 31 March 2024

i e — E| = <= 5

Non-current liabilities ERBARE

Trade and other payables B 5 N E i fE A 78 23 24,409 45,538
Lease liabilities HEBRE 26 3,692 9,753
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIEE & 28 Ly} 663
28,625 55,954
Net assets EEFE 332,380 252,418
Capital and reserves BEXRREE
Share capital N 29 210 197
Reserves B 331,129 252,693

Equity attributable to owners of the A &% A AEIG R
Company 331,339 252,890
Non-controlling interests IR 1,041 (472)

Total equity DA 332,380 252,418

The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 257 were  £B57BEEE257BMERE MBEMKRN T ZMNFE X
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2024 and were signed A=+ /\BEZEgi g WHTIESREE

on its behalf by: g
Yuen Yu Sum Chan Lap Jin Kevin
BHRR PRI
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEEREEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

Attibutable to owners ofthe Company
FATREARE

Share option
and award Accumulated Nor-controlling
Share capital  Share premium  Special reserve  share reserves  Other reserve profts Sub-tofal intgrests Total

EiER
ik RfiE KilE  2RRGRE iR i it HehRs it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T T T T T T T
(note (a) below)  (note (b) below) (note (c) below)  (note (d) below)
(FaMae)  (FXEm) (e (Fus)

AE31 March 202 and 1 Al 2000 R-FE=R=1-RR
H-E-ZFmA-H 1 g9 BB L) 130 47,565 13338 (121 mim
Proftand total comprefiensive income e
for e year - - - - - B39 B3 1201 350
Acquistion of a subsidary - - - 8 8
Deemed disposalof parial interestin
4 Sbsidary (note 34) - - 516 516 (516)
15302 f bonus shares (ote 29) (i (19 - - - -
Recagnition o equity-seted under share
Options arangement note 300 - - S - - 51 - 56
At 31 March 2023 an 1 Aprl 2023
197 §7673 B4 10792 43 2140 2280 () 12418
Profitand total comprehensive income
forthe year - - - - 15598 LR 1513 fm
Issue of sfres under the October
2003 Award Shares (note 290)) 1 580 - (5,466) - - - -
Brercie of March 2001 Share Opfionsand 74
Qctober 2022 Share Options
(notes 2900)) 1 350 - (3%1 - - 5 - 5
Recognition ofequity-seted under share
Optons and award shares arengements
(note 3) - - - 53U - - 53 - 53
AL31 March 2024 R-E-mE-A-1-A m 124,64 B8 669 137 167,068 B3 1001 R0
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Notes:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following the date on
which a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve represented the difference between the nominal
amount of the share capital and share premium of a former subsidiary
of the Company and the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in prior years.

Share option and award share reserves

The share option/award share reserves represent equity reserve arising
from equity-settled share option/award share expenses under share
option/award share schemes of the Company provided to certain
directors, employees and others.

Other reserve

The other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a controlling
shareholder of the Company in previous years.

REERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

Bedn i 8

RERSBRERRNE (BIER]) - RABRZRME
BIRAI IR TARABBR - HEERBEEED KA
BEB®%  ARAEFRNEEREEBRED
MEIEIET o

Rl

F IR IE AR A B AT A B AR AR S0 5 (B
MEEERNRANBEFEREEESHMET
RAHEE 2 FZER °

Rk BB HE

B EEROBEERARRETES &
BREMATIRANEE EERHEET
R E AR SRR B S T AR MO RS A
&t -

HAREE

HivERELEARA — R EBRBRNVBEFE
HEEK -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

2024
—E-mEF
HK$°000
F#BT

Operating activities ReEEH
Profit before taxation e 258 A A 58,073

Adjustments for: AT EHBETHE
Amortisation of intangible assets M EERH 195
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - BB R REITE
equipment 20,843
Finance costs B F5 AR R 2,393
Interest income FBEUWA (585)
Net gains arising from acquisition of RE BT E IR B
subsidiaries in prior years NGIE Gyt (6,778)
Changes in fair value on other financial & X F({ExH ABxH 2
assets at fair value through profit HiemEEZ
or loss, net NHESE)FE 237
Loss/(gain) on disposal of other financial H&E AT EF AERS
assets at fair value through profit HhemEEN
or loss Eia (as) 1,653
Impairment losses under expected TREEEEE THRE
credit losses, net of reversal 518 - MkR#EE
Impairment of goodwill [EEERED
Deposit and other receivables written e RH MY RIE
off i
Written back of long outstanding trade  BE R AL E 5
and other payables K2 E At A~ 5RIE
Equity-settled under share option and EENSHE N SSBhRR (0 ZHEIE T
award share arrangements BRI
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAI 2 RKE
movements in working capital RERE 82,985
Decrease in inventories FERD =
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 & £ fb & W R IE L 41 (48,260)
Decrease (increase) in loan receivables  FEUE TR (3840) 1,127
(Increase) decrease in financial assets at Z A VAT ABRZH S HERE
fair value through profit or loss (&) md (3,056)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 I B JE A~ 3B R (8,107)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities & #&& (i) & (5,020)
Decrease in amount due from an JE Uk Bt 22 1\ ) FRIE R
associate
cash generated from operations REMBHRSE
Income tax paid BAEH

Net cash generated from operating R ZEFERLSTE
activities

62 Legendary Education Group Limited
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2023

—E =&
HK$'000
T
(restated, see

note 40)
(8

195
16,878
2,391

(7,570)

(139)

(274)

3,754
7,389

80

71,648
3,055
(18,478)
(3,045)

236
(384)
8,262

6,230

67,524
(16,747)

50,777




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024

e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

Investing activities

2024
—E-OEF
HK$'000
FET

REEH

2023
B
HK$'000
TETT
(restated, see
note 40)
(=75
FF5E40)

Acquisition of subsidiaries W B BT BB ) - (3,201)
Interest received BUFI & 585 9
Payment for purchase of property, plant B ZE W  HE &K&E

and equipment AT (1,317) (10,172)
Net cash used in investing activities #&ZE AR S EE (732) (13,364)
Financing activities AESEE
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHERE (15,328) (11,886)
Repayments of bank borrowing BERITEE (466) -
Repayment of promissory note EEAHER (2,511) -
Interest paid BRFLE = (239)
New leases entered BRI FHEE = 2,289
Proceeds from exercise of share options 77{# B A% #& B9 TS 08 27,537 -
Net cash generated from (used in) @& EZHHME (FiH)

financing activities HEFEE 9,232 (9,832)
Net increase in cash and cash RERRESSEYIEM

equivalents B 19,623 27,581
cash and cash equivalents at FNEERREEEY

beginning of the year 48,599 21,018
Cash and cash equivalents at end of EXREERRELZEEY

the year 68,222 48,599
Analysis of balances of cash and HeRESEEBYER

cash equivalents kil
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in =~ #A B L REXRPFAIIREIR

the consolidated statement of cash e RREEEY BEe R

flows, represented by cash and bank RITEE R

balances 68,222 48,599

EERBEEBERRARA 63
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE

64

—E-ME=A=+—HItEE

GENERAL

Legendary Education Group Limited (formerly known as
Legendary Group Limited, the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 5 June 2014 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
and its shares were listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 October 2014.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the special resolution of the shareholders of the
Company passed on 3 April 2023, the name of the Company
was changed from “Legendary Group Limited” to “Legendary
Education Group Limited” and the dual foreign name in Chinese
of the Company was changed from "&| X & EE BB A R]" to
"EEHEEEARAA"

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency, and all
value are rounded to the nearest thousand HK$ except where
otherwise indicated.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Ccontracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies

Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

2,

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE
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LA TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

66

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS
8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates, and changes in accounting policies and the
correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the "Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance but
has affected the disclosure of the Group's accounting policy
information set out in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory and
voluntary MPF contributions to the trustee who administers the
assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each
individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset
severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In
addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month'’s
salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of
the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate
the portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before
the Transition Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively
S0 as to provide more reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from
employer MPF contributions that have been vested with the
employee and which could be used to offset the employee’s
LSP benefits as a deemed contribution by the employee
towards the LSP. Historically, the Group has been applying the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits to account for the deemed employee contributions
as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism
in Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the Abolition,
these contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to
the employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory
employer MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still
be used to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore,
it would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and the
practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits is no longer applicable. Instead, these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service in the
same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying paragraph
93(a) of HKAS 19 Employee Benefits. Accordingly, the Group
has recognised a cumulative catch-up adjustment in profit or
loss for the service cost, interest expense and remeasurement
effect from changes in actuarial assumptions for the year
ended 31 December 2022, with corresponding adjustment
to the LSP obligation. The cumulative catch-up adjustment
is calculated as the difference at the enactment date (16
June 2022) between the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
before the Abolition and the carrying amount of the LSP liability
calculated under paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
after the Abolition.

The directors of the Company consider that the changes in the
Group'’s accounting policy in the current year had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
ASsociate or Joint Venture'!

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the results and the financial position of the Group in the
foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

Material Accounting Policy Information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

)

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

MRBRORHEEEREAS

STCRER (&)

3.1

3.2

REMBRRORREE @)

RHETINFTERYTHS2EEET
BERFRZEHEEEMPRIMSEER
B AEER - M A wEREER
BEEBEINBEMEETDE[ER
H o RiEFFEESABEN A FER -
HiiE2EERTERRNR/EERE
EEEREEEEXAGENFE A
AEBTEEEZERML - ZFHE
MHBRPARTER HFED
RETRZELEETE - EBME
WEERNE2SRUMR D B ER AT
E AR AR BERONHRS -
REEEVHERELENE16RHEEA
ENHER S ARBERTFEREN
UZREWIENFE (MEEGTE
AIE2R R A BB FEXE L
BRHERIFE36SRE AR E P E R E
18) MR ERIRRIN

BEREHBERER

REE%E
GEMBREMBARBRARAR
HIER RO EROMB]E -
BB TOE RS BRI

s ARFHWKETABFES
1

o ARFARAEZEBRESTNED
1M [ED i =X 78 A M AR ] 2 [el 3R

I3
o ARFREMNAHEBENNTER
EE

BELHEEEERAF 73
2024 £



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

/4

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group'’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or 10ss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“"HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

76

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in October
2010.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

J deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements,
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits, respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Inventories at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date.
Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market
terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or l0ss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
at that date.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger that an operating segment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREEREARE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STERER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)
(Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued) REENTNRE (&)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is or the portion so classified is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Any
retained portion of an investment in an associate that
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have
been made to conform the associate’s accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

82

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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e M BRRME
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope
of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the associate is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGEREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEBRER @)

(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STHERER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWE (8)
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the services underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised services separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable,
the Group estimates it using appropriate technigues
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised services to
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation
Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of services

A portion of the Group’s financial quotient and investment
education seminars services income is recognised
under output method. Output method is used when
determining progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation of the courses and programs,
which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of services transferred to
the customers to date relative to the remaining services
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods
or services before that goods or services are transferred
to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or
services by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified goods or services provided
by another party before that goods or services are
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers
is provided in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEUBBRNEREEREARE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL STHERER (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)
(Continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HEWES

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 Leases at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of property, plant and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short- term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of- use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option
to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date
at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
leases. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods
S0 as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
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94

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15") to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

On disposal of a group entity that is not a foreign
operation, the exchange differences accumulated in
equity relating to translation of assets and liabilities of
that group entity into presentation currency of the Group
are transferred to retained profits.
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96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the year in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
PRC state-managed retirement benefits schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Share options/award shares granted to
employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options/share award
reserve.

For share options/award shares that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options/
share award granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options/award shares are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options/share
award reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When share options/award shares are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options/share
award reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

98

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Shares held under the share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired or issued
(shares held under the Share Award Scheme) are
recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount
and the consideration is recognised in equity. The number
of shares held by the trustee under the share award
scheme would be eliminated against the corresponding
amount of share capital issued in the calculation of the
earnings per share for profit attributable to owners of
the Company.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or 0ss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods, or
for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress as described below) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following
rates per annum:

Furniture and 20% per annum
equipment
Office equipment 20% — 33% per annum
Leasehold Over the remaining term of the
improvements lease or 5 years, whichever is
shorter
Motor vehicles 20% — 33% per annum

Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the
leased for own use leases

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation
less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of five years. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, other
than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, other
than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or l0ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include: (a) cash, which
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and (b) cash equivalents, which
comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity
of three months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to
third party contractual restrictions are included as part
of cash unless the restrictions result in a bank balance
no longer meeting the definition of cash.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group'’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEBRER @)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRITH (&)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
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to cash flows that are solely payments of principal EREARASINAE RAKRE
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. BAREZHE

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that
at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

()

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the other reserve, and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated profits/losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses” line item.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

3.

REVBBRRNEREERERE

STRCRER (&)

3.2 EAEHBEER &)

ERTH (&)
EHEE (#8)

()  EERRLFEFAARMBZE

Weas e e T A

BAFESARBEZEKED
RETAMNKREERRAFE
e ERATEEHELNK
a3 N IR H 2 T U R FE R
W E AL RE - BEETT
BERE o RETREREIER
TERHERRNREREHD
BERD  UHBRERG

M, EE -

i) BAFEFAMSZ EHEE
AHARBHER AL R AT E
AR 2 F M SR B
AFE AR 2 ERI
EENSBABRAFEIA

BAFEFABENEREE
REmERAREZAFEFE
EAFERGIEERIER
HER - NEEEARN RIS
BFESEASRMEERDRN
EAREHME - WEATHE

i K EtE | 1R E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HKEMBEBRRNGREERERS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL sTBURER (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances), which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group under the contract and the cashflows
that the Group expects to receive, with the consideration
of forward-looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEBRER @)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRITH (&)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Significant increase in credit risk 15 BB EEE
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased S EERB BV ERUARELRE

ZHEME > AREELRNRE RS
ERVIZHERBMEMTAELEED
B o (ELLRHER - AEEEEE
AEAENEENELEN BB
EERIREERNHBZRARE S
TR ERHRTIEIEE L -

In particular, the following information is taken into BEREms  fMtEERkeSHEE
account when assessing whether credit risk has g ZEUATER

increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower; or

o A breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

J The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

o It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

1 1 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
when appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets
expire or, when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangement
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised

(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EASTHERER ®)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIA &)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERER (&)
Derecognition of financial liabilities HIFERE B E

EHEEAEENETERR - T
SERE  AKRETERIEERTE
AE - ERLIEACRABZREE
HENRENREZZBERBaPE

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in e
profit or loss.
Financial guarantee contracts HHIEREK

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the l0ss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

() A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(1) has control or joint control over the Group;
(2)  has significant influence over the Group;

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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(Continued)
3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEERER (®)
(Continued)
Related parties (Continuead) RS (&)
(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the iy BRATEABAERESEE
following conditions applies: LS 2 [ A
(1) The entity and the Group are members of the (1) ZERBEASEBR -5
same group (which means that each parent, B2 E (g AHE
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to MEA R RFARMEAF
the others). HE B
(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture 2 E-EBRE—ETEMNH
of the other entity (or an associate or joint BRREERE (IR
venture of a member of a group of which the S—EEEBKEARINE
other entity is a member). El)i- M A=WNSI D) kN

(3)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same Q) MEEBAHBRFR—ZF=H
third party. THRERE -

(4)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity @ FE-ERRE=T7EENH
and the other entity is an associate of the BERE ME—EER
third entity. ZE=ZREBEBZBHER

Ej °

(5)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan 6) ZELANEHIEASE
for the benefit of employees of either the EEEE s ERMEEN
Group or an entity related to the Group. BN 2 BEE 2 e A BT

g -

(6)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by 6) ZEREX MOz A
a person identified in (i) above. TR R

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) above has 7))  REmOMerz A4
significant influence over the entity or is a ZEBAERTENIE
member of the key management personnel ZER (ZEBHER
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 7)) XEEREKE -

(8) The entity, or any member of a group of @) “ERENZERAHS—
which it is a part, provides key management BrEEAEMKERTA
personnel services to the Group or to the RAEESN AR EEG AT
Group's parent. REFBERASRS -
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(Continued)

3.2 Material Accounting Policy Information 3.2 EXSHEBRER @)

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Company'’s executive directors (i.e. the chief operating
decision maker of the Group) for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgment, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgment in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgment, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
Statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)
The Group engages in retailing and wholesaling of garment
products. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the
principal for such transactions as it controls the specified
good before it is transferred to the customer after taking
into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods.
The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the
performance obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024,
details of the Group's revenue relating to retailing and
wholesaling of garment products are set out in note 6 below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or
fair value less costs of disposal of each of the cash-generating
units.

The value in use calculations require the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which results in downward revision
of future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may arise.
Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to higher degree of estimation uncertainties.

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of goodwill are set out
in note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan
receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across all categories of financial assets requires judgment, in
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future
cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models
with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of
the ECL models that are considered accounting judgment and
estimates include:

The Group's internal credit grading model, which assigns
probabilities of default to the individual grades;

° The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for
financial assets should be measured on a lifetime ECL
basis and the qualitative assessment;

° The segmentation of financial assets based on risk
characteristics of the customers and by product types
when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

° Development of ECL models, including the various
formulas and the choice of inputs over determination of
the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk
based on the behavioural life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of the credit
exposures;

o Determination of associations between macroeconomic
scenarios and, economic inputs, and the effect on
probabilities of default, exposures at default and losses
given default; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

Impairment allowances of ECL on loan

receivables (Continued)

. Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios
and their probability weightings, to derive the economic
inputs into the ECL models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models
in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of loan receivables are
set out in note 20.

Impairment allowances of ECL on trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses
provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables
which are individually insignificant. The provision matrix is
based on the Group's historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, details of the carrying

amount and impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in note 19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, details of the carrying
amount and impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 15.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values of property, plant and equipment

In determining the estimated useful lives and estimated
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment,
the Group has to consider various factors, such as technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in the market
demand for the product or service output of the asset,
expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and
tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and legal or
similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on the experience of the Group
with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are
different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period based
on changes in circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines (products and services). The
operating segments of the Group are identified in a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Company’s executive directors (i.e. the
chief operating decision maker, “CODM") for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The executive directors of the Company regularly review
revenue and operating results derived from the following:

()  OEM Business: Manufacturing and sales of OEM garment
products;

(i) Retail Business: Retailing and wholesaling of garment
products under the Group’s own brand and high-end
fashion brand,

(i)~ Money Lending Business: Provision of loan services to
generate interest income,

(iv)  Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business:
Provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses;

(v)  Property Investment Business: Investing in properties in
Asia Pacific region to generate rental income and to gain
from the appreciation in the properties’ values in the long
term; and

(vi)  Private Supplementary Education Business: Provision of
private supplementary education courses.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE

128

—E-ME=A=+—HItEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Company’s
executive directors monitor the results attributable to each
reportable segment on the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments.

Segment results represents pre-tax profit earned or loss
incurred from each segment without allocation of other income,
other gains and losses, net, certain corporate administrative
expenses, share of results of associates, certain impairment
losses and central finance costs. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker of the Group for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segments assets include all tangible and intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of goodwill, investments in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include provisions, lease
liabilities and trade and other payables attributable to the
activities of the individual segments and borrowings managed
directly by the segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit or loss, the Company’s executive directors
are provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances and
borrowings managed directly by the segments, depreciation
and amortisation, impairment losses and additions to non-
current segment assets (other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets) used by the segments in their operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15 by the timing of revenue
recognition, as well as information regarding the Group's
reportable segments as provided to the Group's executive
directors for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2024 is set out below:

Money
Lending
Business

OEM Retail
Business

Business
i

PEEE  ZEER  HEER

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn T

Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E-pE

Quotient and

ZAZT-ALEE
Reportahle segment revenue TE2EAPUE
Revenue from external customers REJIRRH A 298
Reportable segment profit loss) ~ T2HAH¥R (E) 1219
Other income EfiA
Other gains and losses, net EbUERERTE
Consolidated profit before taxation GRRHHER

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

DEER ()
BEN S BRI BUR AR EE 2 7 BURHE

o

aj

HEZT-_=F-A=-+—HRERZZZNF
=A=+—HIEEE - RisERAREED
RS BB GRS ERIE 155N BE N E
BHWEDTF - URREIRD IR EDH
KERARERTEFRHAUEAKEN 2
WO EEERIETIINT -

Financial

Private
Investment  Supplementary
Education Education  Investment
Business Busingss  Business
HERRE N S
HEER HEER  REEE A48 i
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TH7 Thn Tin T

Property

Unallocated Total

184,043 97,331 284,595

56,601 12,624 (19,60 50,988

214
4,343

58,073

EERBEEBERRARA

2024 3, 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. oHER (#)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Mongy  Investment Supplementary  Property
OEM Retail  Lending  Education Education  Investment
Busingss  Business  Busingss Business Business  Business Unallocated Total

R HERAE VLT nz
RERE  SERR NRRE 4RRE LCES I e Vil it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000
Tén  fEn TER i TR fEn TR TER

As at 31 March 2024 HoE-REZfF=1-A
Assets &

Reportable segment assets (ncluding W 25H B4 (85

Interest n an associate) A-ERELAER) 57,628 86,607 61,806 27,650 12,751
Goodwil k8 177,764
Intangie ssets EVEE 0
Financial assets at fair valug through profit AT A B

0 loss cHEE 13,383
Consolidated tofal assets GALERE 434,408
Liabilities af
Reportable segment liabites PES R (223) (47,445) (21,545) (8,369)  (77,619)

Other payable for acquition of KEHBL AL E3E
subsidiaries (24,409)

Consolicated total liabities FAREEE (102,028)

For the year ended 31 March 204~ ZZ=8-p£=f

ZT-ALEE
Other segment information BfpiER
Additons o non-current assefs during the - ERFEs AR
Jear 9 03
Depreciation fo the year EnfiE 3,040 20883
Amortisaton for the year Ergy = 195
Finance costs s 1.1 2393
Inerest income from banks BAHERA (4) (585)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. oHER ®)
E ]
Quotient and Private
Money  Investment  Supplementary  Property
OEM Retail lending  Education Education  Investment
Busingss ~ Business  Business Businss Busingss  Business  Unallocated Total
Fife HHRRE ENE ) i
REEE  TEEE  HEER HEER HEEER  REER AR it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T T Thn T T Tikn T T
(restated,
see note 40)
LR
ELRL)
Year ended 31 March 2023 gr-g-cf
ZRET-ALEE
Reportable segment revenue BE: vl
Revenue from external customers RENDREMIE 800 860 347 161,726 70,388 - - 11253
Reportable segment profit (loss) TERAPER (BB 30 (#9) 1412 B0 8975 - 6177 12001
Other income EMA 259
Other gains and losses, net haRERSE (1,29
Consoldated profitbefore taation GARRHER 13366
As at 31 March 2023 HoEZZfZf=1-F
Assets &

Reportable segment assets (including

Interest in an associate) - 5007 19078 5371 59581 - 150 189.199
Goodwl 177,764
Intangile assets 105
Financial assets at fair value through profi

0rloss 11930
Consolidated total asses GREEUE 379,59
Liabilities 88
Reportable segrment iabiltes PEE VRN -+ I 08 50417 18311 - 14,404 8134
Other payable for acauisition of WENBARERERE

subsidiaries 13046
Consolidated tofal liabilties 127,180

BEERABEEEERAF 131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2%EHR (@)

Financial
Quotient and Private
Mongy  Investment  Supplementary  Property
OEM Retail Lending  Education Education  Investment
Busingss  Business  Business Business Busingss  Business  Unallocated Total
i HERRE Lugh g
HEEE  ERE  HERR HEEE HEEE  RERR #28 it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T TH7 Thn T#7 T T T
(restated,

$e¢ note 40)

(&E5]

A0

For the year ended 31 March 2023~ FZ=§-=£=f

Z1-ALEE

Other segment information EhagEs
Addtions tonon-current assets during e~ EhFEREAE

ear - - - 245 0% - 790 16632
Depreciation for the year it - - i) 3554 9,080 - 41% 16878
Amortisation for the year - - - 1% - - - 1%
Finance costs - - 2 1,664 1% - 06 21
Interest incorme from banks - - {2 1] - - - 0)
Written back long outstanding trade and

Oter payatles - (60) - - - - (80
* Less than HK$1,000. * 81,0008 T °
Geographical information EER
The Group principally operates in Hong Kong, which is also REBFTERES (TREH) K&
the place of domicile. During the years ended 31 March 2023 BeHE_TZ=F=-A=+—HBKRZ=F
and 31 March 2024, all revenue were derived from Hong Kong ZMFE=RA=+T—HILFE  BREEF K
based on the location of the customers and services delivered RERERINE - PTAERGEAKEES - M
and the Group’s non-current assets are all located in Hong REBEHZERBEEHLMLNEE -
Kong.
Information about major customers EBEXEEFZER
There has no single customer contributed to 10% or more FATESE -FPERKEEASEE KR
revenue to the Group's revenue for the year (2023: Nil). 10%IA L (ZFEZ=5F : &) -
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6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers represents the
fair value of amounts received and receivable from the
manufacturing and sales of OEM garment products,
provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses and private supplementary education courses
and interest income from loan receivables.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BEFEEHWES
(@) BEFEHAWEDF

B A NN A WA R E R
BREREES  REME - RAK
BRI R BB AL 2 E MR
HEAHUB B BB B R B I A 2 24
P -

2024
—E-NE

HK$'000
TET

Revenue from contracts with REIEERRREKE >N
customers within the scope of AEBHMKBRELRNBE15%

HKFRS 15 by categorise of major
product lines and business:

— Provision of financial quotient and
investment education courses

— Provision of private supplementary
education courses

— Retailing and wholesaling of garment
products under the Group’s own
brand and high-end fashion brand

— Manufacturing and sales of OEM

HENEFSHWRE :
— R RIRERERE

184,043 161,726
— REALZEBHERE
97,331 70,388
—EREEAFmENEE
B3 g T8 LA B RS
Em = 860

—BUERHERBREREREK

garment products

i 290 800

Revenue from other sources:

R B H At SR 2 Ya
- Interest income from loan receivables — fEUE =2 F U A

281,664 233,774

2,931 3,479

284,595 237,253

BELHEEEERAF
2024 £ 138



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2024, total amounts of interest income on financial assets
measured at amortised cost are as follows:

Interest income from:
— Loan receivables
— Others

MBMAKE :
— R ER
— Hfth

6.

EEEHWE #)

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, out of the
Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15, revenue amounted to
approximately HK$268,306,000 (2023: HK$233,774,000)
was transferred at point in time and the remaining
amount was transferred over time.

Information regarding the Group's revenue from the
transfer of goods and services by geographical markets
is set out in note 5 above.

1 3 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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2024 2023

—ENE —E =%

HK$'000
FExT

HK$'000
FHT

2,931
585

3,516
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#)268,306,000% L (Z T = = F :
233,774,000% 70) #9425 70 3 — B
DR EReBAlN—BREEAE

%o

ERASERNRTSEBEMRNMR
TS N B R _ESCPHRES



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6.

CUSTOMERS (continued)
(b) Contract balances

Trade receivables
Less: Impairments

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

EEaHWE #)

(b) EHEER

As at

As at 31 March 1 April 2022

R=A=+—F R

—E -4

2024
—ECUE
HK$'000
FHET

2023
—E- =%
HK$'000
FET

mA—A
HK$°000
TR

Notes
et

Loan receivables arising from
money lending and accrued
interest

Less: Impairments

Contract liabilities
- Billing in advance of
performance

Z 5 WA 4,801
B ORUE (194) (190) (69)
4,607 5,974 2,019
R E a2 R E R
Ko FEET RIS
20 51,816 52,943 49,898
B ORE (10,820) (9,726) (7,775)
40,996 43,217 42,123
ABEE 24
— BXIRIERE
33,256 24,994

Information regarding trade receivables, loan receivables
and contract liabilities are set out in respective notes.

EREZEEGR - BREREAEH
BEZEMENERME -

EERBEEBERRARA

2024 3, 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMBA
2024 2023
—EComEF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR

Other income comprises: HAW A AIE

Rental income from course center 2 LMHESUA 1,206
Bank interest income RITHLBMA 9
Government subsidy (see note below) BfFwat (R F3CHEr) 891
Sundry income HIEUL A 488
2,594
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidy has Wit REE_ZE_=F=-A=1+—HILFE
been received from Hong Kong Employment Support Scheme A BRI R BB EREESE TH
under the Anti-epidemic Fund to support the eligible employers RIEZIRFTEITES  UXHaERETE
for paying wages of employees from May to July 2022. Employers SN EZ—FRAZEEAMEBTIA -
are required to undertake and warrant that they will not EEXEFABVRENFUHHRABE TS ER
implement redundancies during the subsidy period and spend HE WHABEIEHEARMEREX
all the wage subsidies on paying wages to their employees. NI&E RZZEZ=F=-A=+—80 "8
As at 31 March 2023, there were no unfulfilled conditions or AR A0 MR AR 2 RIS S A F A ©
contingencies relating to this subsidy.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have HE_ZT-_MF=A=+—BIEFE K

such kind of government subsidy. S B S A BUTARAS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Other gains and losses,
net comprise:

Impairment losses under expected — FEEAE EEEEE THRIE
credit losses model, net of reversal  E548 - 1% B (D

Hitt s R B RFHEEHE -

8.

- Trade and other receivables — B 5 REMEWGIE
— Loan receivables — EWEFR

Net gains arising from acquisition of & 5@ E FEUREEH B A 7]

subsidiaries in prior years: Uk EEE
— Brilliant Ever Global Limited — FKIRIRBRAF]
— Best Take Global Limited — Best Take Global Limited
Others Hith
Changes in fair value of other financial R A B ABZEHEM S
assets at FVTPL, net BB E N T EEEFE
(Loss) gain on disposal of other B ERAFEFT ABED
financial assets at FVTPL EhemEEL
(EBE) W
Impairment of goodwill ERE

Deposit and other receivables written 1% & K El 4t & U 3k TE # 5%
off

Written back long outstanding trade  #iEIRHIREEZ 5 R EHM
and other payables FEfTFRIE

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

H s B8 F 8

T =&
HK$'000
FHET
(restated,
see note 40)
(&7 -
RHI5E40)

(1,803)
(1,951)

(3,754)

7,570

7,570

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs comprise:
Interest on bank borrowing

Interest on promissory notes payable
Interest on lease liabilities

Imputed interest on other payables

9. BBARA

2024
—EoNE

HK$’000
TR

PATERR AR BIE
RITEEFN S
AN E TN
HERENE

HAb N SRR AR E RS

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION BR % AR A
2023
T =4
HK$'000
FHIT
Profit before taxation has been BREADEF AR (FEA) LT
arrived at after charging (crediting): &E#%ESBY
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA (BREESHM -
emoluments, see note 12(a)) BHE123)
- Salaries, wages and other benefits — %% ITAERHMEF 109,878
- Performance bonus — RIFTEL 7,210
— Equity-settled share option expenses — DA E e I AR A 2 5,314
— Contributions to defined contribution — ERAE TR R
retirement plans 1,126
123,528
Cost of sales and services comprises:  $4& & IRIEH A EIE -
- Sales of garment products —HEREER
- Provision of financial quotient, — R  REHERER
investment education courses and FLIEHBIHAFRE - 81
private supplementary education
courses, comprises:
— Staff costs — BIRA 87,667
- Other operating costs — B Ep A 36,127
124,016
Auditor’'s remuneration 1% 2R B 2 B 1,097
Depreciation of property, plant VI BB REEITE (FEATT
and equipment BFEx)
(included in administrative expenses) 20,843
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEE#E GTATBHAR)
(included in administrative expenses) 195
1 3 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Income tax expenses represent: Fris®iMx s :
Hong Kong Profits Tax HEBENEH
- Current year - KEFE

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

1. FiSBiBx

— Under provision in prior years —BEFERETR
Deferred tax BT IA
— Origination and reversal of temporary —EERBOERERE

differences

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI, respectively.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of Group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying Group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25% (2023: 25%).

No PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 March
2024 (2023: nil).

REBALAEBKE R EHER R EE
M ELERR NELSITERNENIZ B AR
BUANFTISHL

REFASHENRBRAHE ((REBREK
HE1) ZRAEBRG - REBHBED I
WHSRHBNRBRAZRBNEMMEN o

BB NS TIEZMEF A ERTE T8
16.5%x1H »

REEENERBEEREY - cEREEE
B £9 552,000,0007% 7% F1/3%28.25% ) 7 2= 44
i - M8 82,000,00078 7T 2 i 12 16.5%HY
PR - TRHEFEHH EMARHIHE
B 22 0 FI) 4 48 1 [ 78 B R 16.5% =
Hit - GESEEREROBBNEHIE
52,000,000/ 7T 2 i 5 FE AR A i A1 #98.25%
K 8 382,000,000/ 7T 2 1 51 FE 2R 5 i 7 &Y
16.5%#HE ©

P EREHERA25% (T2 -=4%
25%) °

HRAEERHE T -_NF=A=+—H
I EFEWEEA B ERTEN (ZF ==
F 8 BYBERGEEPBHRRPITE
EMSHIFL Y -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 11. FISHEAX (®)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the FRAMEHAX Al RF S B R E M2 EI
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit i A2 R AR FE R

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024
—E_E

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Profit before taxation B R R 58,073

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of IR TS R B 216.5%5%.8.25%

16.5% or 8.25% FTEZFE 9.416
Tax effect of: LAREIB B2
- Income not taxable for tax purpose — BAERBIA (1,280)
— Expenses not deductible for tax purpose — RaJ 1% 1,551
— Effect on other temporary differences — AERHEMNEREEy o2

not recognised 1,136

— Utilisation of tax losses — DEAFHERR (900)
- Tax losses not recognised — AERHIBERE 705
Statutory tax concession FAEREER (27)
Under provision (over-provision) in prior  sBAFEEET R (BREEE)

years 361
Income tax expenses PRSI X2 10,962
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

12. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =SEHMES

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s (@) EERFETHBAEME
emoluments
Directors’ and Chief Executive’'s remuneration for the R E FACEM E 4R Al R BB A A&
years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, disclosed PlIE s HE T =F=A=1+—
pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Ak=ZZFT-MF=A=+—HIFE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows: ESERFETHAEMENAT

Equity- Contributions
Salaries, settled  to defined
wages share  contribution
and other  Performance option retirement
Fees benefits honus expense plans Total
¢ 1% NREGE  EBEMTERA
e REMET RARA WERERX HEE @zt

Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
S Thr TR AR S Thr

(note (v)

below)

(GE)

mF)

Year ended 31 March 2024 5Z-Z-m#

Zh=t-H
LHEE
Executive directors #1TES
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum RIRLE
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin RIRLE
Non-executive directors  F#if78%
Mr. Law Wing Chung Bxisk
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny HERET U
Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze VT il
Independent non-executive BiksHTES
directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddle RelBLE
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan BRI
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan B

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHRAEMERERR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID aSHMES »)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive's (@) EBRFETHAEME #®)

emoluments (Continued)

Equity- Contributions
Salaries, settled to defined
wages share  contribution
and other  Performance option retirement
Fees benefits bonus expense plans Total
¢ 1% NRELE  EEATER
e REMET RATA MBRERS HE 5 @t

otes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TAL TAL TEL AL TEL

(note (v)

below)

(HEE(v)

mF)

Year ended 31 March 2023 #Z-2-=#

Zh=t-A

LEE
Executive directors yaEE
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum REREE 300 1,000 210 793 14 2377
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin BUELE 300 8,200 - 793 - 9,293
Non-executive directors ~ ##i{7&Z
Mr. Law Wing Chung Bxipsk 200 - - 161 - 361
Dr. Tang Sing Hing Kenny HEREL (i 5 - - - - 52
Independent non-executive BuFHiTES

directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie RalEr A 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Chung Chin Kwan ERMEE 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Chung Kwok Pan EERLE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis RERLE i 70 - - - - 70
Mr. Leung Kai Cheong Kenneth 24 8% 4 ) 188 - - - - 188
1,910 9,200 210 1,747 14 12,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE—_Z_mME&E=A=+—HILEE

EERFETRAEMERAEERR
aEFMES (@)

(a) EERTETHAEME @)

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iif)

Appointed as non-executive director on 13 January 2023.
Appointed as non-executive director on 4 September
2023.

Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 30
November 2022.

(iv)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on
7 December 2021 and resigned on 13 December 2022.
(v)  Mr.Yuen Yu Sum and Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin are tutors of

training courses of the Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business and their related tutor fees have been
included in the salaries, wages and other benefits during
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024.

The Chief Executive’'s and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2024, certain directors were granted share options in
respect of their services to the Group under the share
option schemes of the Company. Details of the Company's
share options/award shares granted are set out in notes
30(a), (b) and (c) to the consolidated financial statements.

Byt -

(i) R-ZB-=ZF—-A+=HEZER
FEMITESE -

(i) M-T-_=FNPAEOBEEEERFE
WiTESE -

(il MZZZ—F+—A=1+AHEHISE
SIIEHITEE -

vy RZZEZ—F+-ALAEZEAR
BYUFNTEERR T __F
+=—B+=H&HT -

V) EWRERLERBYRELEAVER
REHBEBEIFERNEM - &
E_Z_—F=ZA=+—HK=ZF
ZMFE=ZA=T—HIEFEFREZ
HEAEMERE AE TER
HAbEH) o

EXHREBARAARRTES
e IR E AR RN
BAT (MERA) $5 2 Ri5m S
fi o

EXPRIEITE S B IFAT
BN IR NEREARFE
ERTIRBMA RIS M AT ©

HE-_Z-_=Z#=ZA=+—HK=
ToNFE=ZA=+—HIEFE R
BANGERETE ETESH
1% E A AN S B IR ) R 7 M 1 B AR
e APAIREOBRE EE
Bin 2 s IB BN R & B IS SRR M o
30@) ~ (b)F(c) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SHEMES #)

EMPLOYEES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (b) EEEESFMES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FRN - AEBREEaTNEERRE
year included one (2023: one) director, details of whose — R (ZT=F: —H)EF H
remuneration are set out in note 11(a) above. Details of B 5B R L XBTEE11(a) « FAER
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023: THE (ZEZ=F: OF) &=
four) highest paid employees who are neither a director BiES (WIEARRFEFTREETH
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: AB) MEBEFBDT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMER 25,115
Performance bonus FKIRTELL 9,090
Equity-settled share option expense ARG HE 45 & 1 BE AR A =2 1,218
Retirement benefit scheme RIRR AT IR

contributions 18

35,441

The number of the highest paid employees who are not WIHARBESBFHFMNNT T UATEHE
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell &= HEE AZNT -

within the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-NE B =%

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE N
HK$2,500,000 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0007% 7T 2 3,000,000/% 7T 1
HK$3,500,000 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,0007% 7t 24,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$4,000,000 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,000% 7T £4,500,000/% 7T -
HK$4,500,000 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,000/% 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$5,000,000 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,0007% 7L 5,500,000/ 7T -

HK$12,000,000 to HK$12,500,000 12,000,0007% 7L 2 12,500,000/% 7T -
HK$24,000,000 to HK$24,500,000 24,000,0007% 7T 224,500,000/ 7T
HK$28,000,000 to HK$28,500,000 28,000,0007% 7T % 28,500,000/ 7T -

-
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12.

13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHAEMEREERR

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID =SEMES (&)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (continued) (b) EEESFHMES &)
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March BEZZT-=F=A=+—HRZ=ZZ
2024, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any ZME=ZA=T—HIEFE  Kx&KH
of the directors of the Company or the chief executive WAL NEFHHTFEARRAREERA
of the Group or the five highest paid individuals as an EEFZTRAERRRZESTHA
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as THERMAREBE R INAR 2 E
compensation for loss of office. B - SKIEABEBEES(E -
None of the directors waived any emoluments during the FR - BEEERERANE - BE
year. There was no arrangement under which a director ZEC=F=A=+—HKRZZ_/N
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any FZA=+T—HLFE BEZEFL
remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2023 and FETHABNEXRBREEME
31 March 2024. FHE) 22 B -

DIVIDENDS 13. RE

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment AAREBEETEHERBEE_ZE-_=F=A

of a final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 =+ —RAERZEZMF=A=+—HILFE

March 2024, nor has any dividend proposed since the end of IRAARHIRE - BlEHRARINEREZS

the reporting period. IR E ©

EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RAEHE NEMBRERNREERF TR

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the LATEHERETE -

following data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows: BNEBBOETHENT -

2024 2023
—ENE —E=F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHR FHT

Profit for the year attributable to the HEGIERN RS RFETE Y
owners of the Company for the NAEEA ARG F RS T
purpose of basic and diluted earnings
per share

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
Number of shares are calculated as follows:

Number of shares KA

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares:
- Share options — B

AEESRERBANMAZ
BT E BT8R

=

WEAT LRIz

. BRER #)
RSB ST

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F

(in thousand) (in thousand)
(FR) (FR%)

407,769 394,302

14,309 3,858

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

IFEF I8

AAEERESRN 2 BB

422,078 398,160

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2024 have been adjusted for the issuance of
shared upon the exercise of share options for the year ended
31 March 2024.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purposes of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2023 has been adjusted for the September 2022 Bonus
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the March 2021 Share
Options, October 2022 Share Options and December 2023
Share Options granted by the Company have potential dilutive
effect on the earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share
is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the exercise
of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from exercise of
the March 2021 Share Options, October 2022 Share Options
and December 2023 Share Options granted by the Company.
No adjustment is made to earnings.

1 46 Legendary Education Group Limited
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ﬁtﬂx%$&i§&%f@ﬂ BRI 8
ERREBE—T_NE=A=1T—HILFE

TR AR T BT TROBR DL %L o

HE-Z-=F=ZA=1+—RAULFEAR
BEEREARAEMNK LT BRMETFHHE 3
HE_Z-=—F-A=+-—HALFEZ_-Z
ZZFNRALRIEL A -

BHEZZ-_NF=F=+—HBLFE £Q
AREe B —F=AERE T
FHABRER T =F1+ " AERkiEY
BRBFNHEEBEEEVE - TRES
BAEBRITERARRBEN S =—F
—ABkiE —E-F+HABRERS
T T AERERTEMELENTEE
R EERR - EBFAEARITENT AR
IMETHEGETE - SESATEL AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the October 2022 Share
Options granted by the Company have potential dilutive
effect on the earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share
is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the exercise
of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from exercise
October 2022 Share Options granted by the Company. No
adjustment is made to earnings.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the computation of diluted
earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s March 2021 Share
Options because the exercise price of those options were
higher than the average market price of the shares for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

14.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BRERN &)
HEZT-=F=-A=+—HILEFE &1
ARz —E - F+ ABREYSTRER
BEREBEHETE - GREERTIRERIT
FRARNRBREN - —F1 AEREE
TEMEENEBELEES LB - Fi8H
BMARITEO S BRINE T HEEH - 8
HRFELTE -

BE T =—F=A=1+—HIFE &
BHEZ-=F=A=1+—RHILFEZ8RK
BERANYEBRRITEARRZ T -_—F
= RBERE  RERZEBREZTRES
REBE-Z-=F=A=+—BIFEZK
DFHEME -

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M m R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BERRE

Furniture and Office Leasehold Right-of-use

equipment equipment  improvements  Motor vehicles assets
BRRR BiRE  RENREE hE EREEE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T
Cost B
At 1 April 2022 RS- —FEA-A 47 2801 12,109 1499 3137 18,257
Addtions ME 153 101 1764 36 14,268 16,632
Acquisition of subsidiaries YEHBAT - - 1,100 - - 1100
Written-0ff i - - - - (53) (53
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 WZZZZFZA=1-Ak
ZEZZEMA-H
Addtions RE
Written-off i
At 31 March 2024 WZZZRE=A=1-A
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE
impairment
A1 April 2022 R-E--%MmA-A 51 1788 2210 1405 8,094 13,608
Charge for the year ERRER 1% 516 138 2% 11784 16878
Elimination on written-off elsgini - - - - (3) (3)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 WZRZZE=A=-8R
ZECSERA-A
Charge for the year EhRER
Eimination on written-of plilizs
At 31 March 2024 HEZmF=A=1-F
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 March 2024 RZZME=A=1-R
At 31 March 2023 WZFZZF=A=+-A 403 648 8375 316 25,761 35,503
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) ~ 15. 1% - BERRE (4)

Right-of-use assets - properties, motor FHREEE - HEFERNYE
vehicles and yacht leased for own use FERERE

For both years, the Group leases certain properties, motor RREFE  AEERHEEHESRTY
vehicles and yacht for its operations. The leases typically run ¥ RBEREME - BH— MU P BHRES
for an initial period of 2 to 5 years. Leases terms are negotiated F o HERFRIIRER &R - WHBET
on individual basis and contain different terms and conditions. EEFR R A& -

The analysis of right-of-use assets and the related expense BER AR E R e AEEERE
items and cash flow in relation to leases recognised in profit MBAXIEE MASRESTIT :

or loss is as follows:

2024
—B-F

HK$'000
FH T

Right-of-use assets comprise: HHEAEDE

- Leased properties —~HEWE 12,981

- Leased motor vehicles —HEA 1,281

- Leased yacht — HEHER 4,239

18,501

Depreciation for the year: FRFE -

— Leased properties —HEmE 12,226

— Leased motor vehicles —HERE 427

- Leased yacht — HEHER 2,569

15,222

Interest on lease liabilities FEaERS 954

Expense relating to short-term leases RERERX 1,560

Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLEE 15,328

Addition to new lease liabilities MEHEaE 7,962

The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight REEWNEREEENESFILZATERT

line basis at the following rates per annum. E-

Motor vehicles 20% — 33% per annum or HEE G4 20% 5 33%K 1R AH £
over the term of the leases, (AREERE)
whichever is lower

Yacht 20% — 33% per annum or Plicged G 20%ZE33%3k 1% 58 B
over the term of the leases, (ABHE & A%)
whichever is lower

Leasehold properties Over the unexpired term of the HEEEEMNE  BRERHEE

leased for own use leases =¢JEd

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023

and 31 March 2024

16. BLEE

Customer
relationship
EFBRR

HK$'000
THETT

R
RZZE-_—FNYA—H —ZT-=F
ZA=+—H - ZE-=FmA—H
F=—ZFE-ME=A=+—H

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2022
Charge for the year

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023

Charge for the year

E-HE £

R-E-_—_FWMHA—H 75
FRHAX 195
RZE-_=F=A=+—HBK

—E-=4A—H

FRBAX

At 31 March 2024

R-SEBE-NE=HA=+—H

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2024

BREE
R-EBE-_NE=A=+—H

At 31 March 2023

RZZE=—=F=A=+—H 705

The customer relationships, which have finite useful lives,
were acquired in business combinations and the amounts are

EARERFRzEFBEINEBAGT
Yol B 72 & RR{E A B AUE RS 7 R 20%HE 35

amortised using the straight-line method at the rate of 20% TET=F 1 20%) °

(2023: 20%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. GOODWILL

Balance at beginning of the year

Acquisitions of the subsidiaries
(notes 33(a)(i) and (ii)) L (i)

Impairments recognised during the year — EREZHEE

FHkES

WeBB KB R) (H17233(a)()

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

17. B&

2024
—EoE

HK$'000
T

177,764 175,070

10,083
(7,389)

Balance at end of the year FREERS

177,764 177,764

The Group's goodwill is attributable to the following CGUS:

Bewisekid Holding Limited;

° Zone Galaxy Limited;

o Prestige Concord Limited;

° KC Training Company Limited;

o Brilliant Ever Global Limited;

o Best Take Global Limited; and

° Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the cash-generating units in the financial quotient and
investment education business of the Group for impairment
testing purposes.

With reference to a valuation performed by an independent
professional valuer, the directors of the Company assessed
the impairment of the Group’s goodwill. The recoverable
amounts of the financial quotient and investment education
business cash-generating units have been determined based
on value in use calculations using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management of the Group.

AEENEEREENATREEESM

° Bewisekid Holding Limited :

. Zone Galaxy Limited :

. Prestige Concord Limited :

° KC Training Company Limited :

o EOKIRIRBRAR]

e Best Take Global Limited : K&

o  EHEBREXEZLRBEAF -
EERE R
BREBHEHESNBEIRTIHERASE

BIREHE XBNR S ELE BAAFIRER

Al ©

R2EBUEEHEMETHOME  KNQF]
ERTMHEAKERENRE - MARKER
BEBH e ELBMM AT E SR IREL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
The following sets out the key assumptions for the value-
in- use calculation of the cash-generating units for goodwill

impairment assessments:

The discount rates ranging from approximately 18% to
29% (2023: approximately: 22% to 38%) are used: The
discount rates applied to the cash flow projections and
the long-term growth rates used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the cash-generating units beyond the five-year
period are shown above.

The average growth rates ranging from 2% - 10% (2023:
2%) are used: These growth rates were determined and
are based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
do not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry.

There were other assumptions used in the value in use
calculations of the cash-generating units as at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2024. The following describes each of these
others key assumptions on which management has based its
cash flow projections when undertaking impairment testing
of goodwill:

Projected revenue and budgeted gross margins: The basis
used to determine the values assigned to the projected
revenue and budgeted gross margins is based on the
past performance of the cash-generating units and
management’s expectations for the market development.

The discount rates used are before tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the respective cash-generating units.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

17.

BE %)

BERENR (@)

TXHS R AT R S E B
EREENEEBRS

o FHERZEERENFHI8RE29% (=
TTZF D Q22%%E38%) - ARE®
MEERAZBRREANEERER
FHERCELBLUZRAEREZR
HEREFHN EX -

o FIFERMTYHEER RN F2EI0%
(ZBZ=%:2%) : ZSHREDR
BHEBITRERTAANET - BTEBA
HRETEN T RPERE -

FERZE=F=A=+—AKk=ZF=N
FZA=+—RAZHSELESMNEAEER
AT HMERR - T EIRE RHETR
ZRERR - TR REEARELD
FrE H (AR R -

o FERHRARIEEERNE : BEEBFTK
ARREENEBENEETIERS
TELBEMMBERALEEEHD
HERITEE] -

o FIEMMRIRERRTACBEL R
PR 2% 3R & A A B A ARRE R 1 E R

%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, based on the annual goodwill impairment
assessment conducted by the management of the Company,
in view of the keen competition of the financial quotient and
investment sharing courses market in Hong Kong during the
year, it is expected that the overall performance of the company
for the project revenue and budgeted gross margins were
lower than their previous projected and budgeted amounts
and thus, based on the Group’s annual goodwill impairment
test for Brilliant Ever Global Limited, the recoverable amount of
the Brilliant Ever Global Limited CGU was lower than its carrying
amount and accordingly, impairment loss of approximately
HK$7,389,000 was recognised and charged to the profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2024, based on the Group’s annual goodwill
impairment assessment conducted by the management of the
Company for the Group’s CGUSs, the recoverable amounts of
the Group’s CGUS were higher than their respective carrying
amounts and accordingly, no impairment was recognised for
the goodwill related to the Group’s CGUSs for the year ended
31 March 2024.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of the above mentioned assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amounts of the cash-generating units
to exceed the respective recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units.

17.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. R—REBE QA RANER
2024
—EComE
HK$'000
FET
Cost of investment in an associate B R AR E KA 472,387
Share of post-acquisition losses, net AMEW R BB FRE (44,836)
427,551
Less: Impairments B RE (427,551)
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 March 2023 and 31 MRZEBEZ=F=A=1+—HEZZZNF=
March 2024 are as follows: A=+—0 REEBEQATZFBENAT

Place of

establishment Attributable interest

and principal and proportion of

place of Fully paid-up share capital and  voting power indirectly Principal
Name of associate operation number of shares held by the Group activities

RIBER AEERMEFEZEEERR

oINS TEEENY BRRARRAEE RERELLA TEEK
2024 2023
—E-_MNE C—B-=F

Red 5 Studios, Inc. United States 65,567,709 Common stock of 47.63% 47.63% Inactive
("Red 5") US$0.01 each and 10,180,553
Preferred Stock (Series B) of
United States Dollar (“US$")

0.01 each
Red 5 Studios, Inc. %6 65,567,709 GREE0.015E 7T H) 47.63% 47.63% EEER
([Red 5J) 38R 10,180,553 BB EE

0017 ([%7T)) MEER

(BZ7)
Red 5 and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the Red SKEWB AR EFZNEFESRE -
development of innovative entertainment software and online BOM - B R R R A FTAR A 2
games in the United States of America, Europe, the PRC and PR bR o Wik EzEkFirefall ([Firefall])
Southeast Asia. The online game called Firefall (“Firefall”) was #Red SHZHEZEMR °
the main product developed by Red 5.
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, Red HE-Z-_=F=-A=1+—HEZZZNF
5 continued to be inactive. ZRA=1T—HILFE ' Red EEE(FEE -
Red 5 is accounted for using the equity method in the Red 5Ty 4R & I Mk AR AR -

consolidated financial statements.

1 5 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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18.

19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
summary of financial information of the
associate

For Red 5, the company remained inactive during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024. Though there is
no management accounts made available to the Group since
the business of Red 5 ceased in 2017 and hence no financial
information of Red 5 was disclosed.

Impairment assessment

The Company has recognised full impairment on its interest in
Red 5 in prior years. The directors of the Company consider
that there is no reversal of impairment required for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 W IR
Less: Impairments R RE

18.

19.

Other receivables Hith pE U kI8
Deposits paid to brokers B EES
Temporary receipts U RIE
Prepayments TEfTFRIA (b)
Other deposits Hitniz e ()
Deposits for decoration of HEPLREZRS
education centers
Rental deposits HEZRS
Analysed as: DR
- Current —
- Non-current — JERE

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

R—EBEQRNER (@)
BENRANMBERNRE

BRed 5ME * R AFRBE_T_=F=
A=+T—BRkZT-ZMF=A=+—HIEF
EikEE - BT —+FRed SEBHKIL
& - REEWEIEISHNEZRERER - Bt
M TERed 52 AR -

B
RABIERBAFENRRed SHEHERE
BHE  ARAEFRR/BE_T_=F=
A=+—Bk=TE-—mMF=A=+—HIEF
B TRERE -

B 5 REMERRE
2024
o 11k 3

HK$’000
TR

4,801
(194) (190)

4,607 5,974
24,696 21,489
14,298 -
13,038 7,248
15,196 15,026
28,760 5,206

2,480 3,530
5,469 3,407

108,544 61,880

106,108 58,705
2,436 3,175

108,544 61,880
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

156

(@)

Trade receivables

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days
to customers.

As at the end of the reporting period, an ageing analysis of the
trade receivables, net of loss allowances presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

30HA
90H LAk

Within 30 days
Over 90 days

19. ES R EMEWRFIE (&)

Wit -

@)

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising
from trade receivables are set out in note 36(b)(2)(iii).

Advances and prepayments to Mr. YY Lam

Included in the Group's prepayments, there were prepayments
paid to Mr. YY Lam, a director of a subsidiary of the Company,
and his related parties.

Pursuant to the service agreement and the supplementary
agreements entered into between Mr. YY Lam and the Group
(collectively, the “YY LAM Service Agreements”), the Company
has prepayments paid to Mr. YY Lam and his related parties
for his services rendered to the Group. Pursuant to the YY Lam
Service Agreements, Mr. YY Lam exercised the option and his
service term was extended to 31 August 2026.

As at 31 March 2024, the related prepayments balance
was approximately HK$6,638,000 (2023: approximately
HK$12,879,000). The directors of the Company consider that
the amount would be charged to profit or loss over the terms
of the YY Lam Service Agreements.

Deposits for the acquisition of a land

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company and Mr. Lui
Yu Kin, a substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into
a non-blinding Memorandum of Understanding agreement and
pursuant to which the Group proposed to acquire a land with an
aggregate amount of HK$45,000,000 from Mr. Lui Yu Kin. As at
31 March 2024, refundable deposits amounted to approximately
HK$27,650,000 was paid to Mr. Lui Yu Kin.

Subsequent to 31 March 2024, the Company and Mr. Lui Yu Kin
agreed to terminate the proposed transaction and the entire
deposits were refund to the Company in June 2024.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables arising from money
lending and accrued interest

A E 2 R E R BT HE

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

20. BWER

2024
—EomF

HK$'000
TRR

Less: Impairment R RE
Analysed as: DT A
- Current — R E

- Non-current — JEmED

39,891
1,105

40,996

All of the Group’s loan receivables are derived from money
lending business carried out in Hong Kong and are denominated
in HK$.

At 31 March 2024, the Group's loan receivables with gross
amounts of HK$51,425,000 (2023: HK$47,707,000) are secured
loans with collateral which are mainly properties and listed
securities. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the
collateral in the absence of default by the loan debtors. There
have not been any significant changes in the quality of the
collateral held for the loan receivables. In addition, the Group'’s
loan receivables with gross amounts of HK$6,891,000 (2023:
HK$8,022,000) are secured loans with guarantee provided by
independent third parties.

At 31 March 2024, the Group's loan receivables bear interest
at fixed rates ranging from 5% to 12% (2023: 5% to 12%) per
annum.

A typical loan generally has a term of 4 months to 36 months
(2023: 6 months to 15 months).

AEEMRARKEFEKENEERROR
B - WABTTEHE »

RZEZWNF=A=+—H0 NEEEK
B 348 5E51,425,0008 L (Z T — = F ¢
47,707,000 7T) REERFER - HEHRG
TERMER EMES - AEEBEEREL
AWEBANBERT » THHEENHFER
FRAEHD IRFEWERERR B X
WS RE b o o AEBREIEFLR
86,891,000 7T (= Z = = 4 : 8,022,000
L) BEBME = A REERNEIEFE

=+
Ko

ToFEZR=+—H REEZER
FIEN F5%E12% 2 B FEEF KL (=
= 1 5%E12%) °

W om
“ hUH |‘

HAVE I —MIE KR AIE36EA (=2
=F 6F15@A) o

\IE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

20.

158

LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of
loan receivables, based on loan draw down date or loan last
rollover date, if applicable, is as follows:

Maturity profile BN

0. BWER (&)

REMR - EREFIRRABRERRR
RIERE SR B H (WMER) Z K EREH
BAEIIT -

2024 2023
—E-ME

—E-=F
HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TET

9,149

2,420
39,118
1,129

Within 30 days 30HA

3110 90 days 31THZE9H

91 to 180 days 91HZE180H
More than 180 days but within one year  #8:i8180B{B14 R
Over one year HRiR1F

Less: Impairment R ORE

51,816
(10,820)

40,996

At 31 March 2024, the directors of the Group considered the
credit risk relating to the credit-impaired unsecured loans and
loan receivables with reference to the assets which are held by
the Group as collateral. Expected credit loss of HK$8,713,000
(2023: HK$8,713,000) was recognised for these credit-impaired
loan receivables with gross carrying amount of HK$8,713,000
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$8,713,000).

The directors of the Company consider that, other than above-
mentioned credit-impaired loan receivables, at the end of the
reporting period, there have no overdue and credit-impaired
loan receivables.

Details of the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
loan receivables and the reconciliation of changes in gross
carrying amount and allowances for loan receivables are set
out in note 36 (0)(2)(i).

Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in 36(b)
2).

Expected credit loss of loan receivables
Expected credit loss in respect of loan receivables are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, in which case the
expected credit loss is written off against loan receivables
directly in accordance with the accounting policy of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. BAVFEFABENERMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—EoE

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TR

Financial assets mandatorily — a&#liz A FEE A Bz

measured at FVTPL CEREE
- Profit guarantees — BRAWEATEIE R
in relation to the MRS -
acquisition of:
— Brilliant Ever Global — BKIRIER AT
Limited (see note (RFIE23(c))
23(c) %:1:7/ 7,570
— Best Take Global — Best Take Global
Limited (see note Limited ( Z.M5E
23(d)) 23(d)) 3,160 2,190
10,047 9,760
— Equity securities listed in —RNEBLEMZRAES
Hong Kong @ 1,990 824
- Investment funds —KBEES b) 1,346 1,346
13,383 11,930
Notes: Bt -
(@)  Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (8 REBLHMZBRAEFES
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the fair value of the RZZEZ=F=A=+—HRZZT_NF
equity securities listed in Hong Kong is based on the bid prices =ZR=+—H RAEBLTMZBREAFSZ
guoted on the Stock Exchange at the end of the reporting period. NEEDIRBERRE ARG IR E
ANEBEE o
(b)  Investment funds b EFEES
As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the fair value of the RZZEZ=F=A=t+—HRZZT_EF
investment funds is based on the quoted prices obtained from ZA=Z+—8  BEESZRATFETIRE
the investment fund manager as at the end of the reporting RBEMRREL KB WMET
period as the investments in these investment funds are B REAANZEREESNIREAHAR
redeemable by the Group based on such quoted prices. SERBEEBRERER -
Details of the fair value measurement hierarchy of the financial BAFEFABGNESREEN A TEN 2
assets at fair value through profit or loss are set out in note [ EE B EF I FE36(D)(1)() ©
36(0)(1)().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

22. BERBEEEEY
2024

—EOF

HK$'000

FET

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at banks and on hand RITRFBERE 68,222

Cash and cash equivalents presented in ~ RiGa BBk RER
the consolidated statement of financial REHSREREVZES
position and consolidated statement of LR EEY

cash flows
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily IRITIRSIRIE T A RITF R RIZZ BT X
bank deposit rates. BREF B, -
At 31 March 2024, there were bank balances denominated in RZBEZNEFE=A=+—H FEUARKE
RMB amounting to approximately HK$41,000 (31 March 2023: SHEMSRITAE 41,0008 (Z 2 =4F
Nil). Remittance of funds out of PRC is subject to the relevant ZA=t—H: |  EoEETREEST
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated AP B R T A8 10 89 SN & 1 4B B 28 BI| J2 4R 401 -

by the PRC government.

1 60 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ESRHMENRIE
2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET BT
Trade payables B 5 e F0R ) = 448
Accrued staff salaries EETEIH & 6,876 4,759
Other accruals and payables HAbfEET & A R FER A 6,396 7,262
Other financial liabilities HEtemaEess
comprise (note below) ("R3B EE)
— Payables for acquisition of — UZBEKC Training (b)
KC Training Company Ccompany Limited
Limited FEfHRRIE 4,154
— Payables for acquisition — WWEHKIRIKERA ()
of Brilliant Ever Global AIFER A
Limited 30,795
- Payables for acquisition of — Iz B Best Take (d)
Best Take Global Limited Global Limitedf&
3018 7,184
— Payables for acquisition — RSB ERE (€
of Hong Kong Institute B ERAEE
of Professional Studies ~5RIE
Limited 914
— Promissory notes payable for — — Uzf#Best Take
acquisition of Best Take Global Limitedf&
Global Limited CH 9% 2,491
42,189 58,007
Analysed as: DA
— Current L) 17,780 12,469
— Non-current —JERE 24,409 45,538
42,189 58,007
Note: The amounts represent contingent consideration payables by Wiet  ZERAEAEERBE T -_=F=4
the Group regarding the acquisition of certain subsidiaries during S+ —HERZZE-_NF=A=+—HILF
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 which are EREEE THEB AR ENKARE I
recognised as financial liabilities of the Group. HRRAEENEHEE -

BELHEEEERAF 161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

23. ESREMENSTE (&)
et

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

162

(@)  Trade payables

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date is as follows:

Over 90 days HE90H

@

BHRENFOR

NREBRENERBHNE 5 ENFIE
BREC DTN

2024
—E-mE

=%
HK$'000
FHT

HK$'000
FET

448

(b)  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited

The amount represents the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of KC Training Company Limited” which was acquired
by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 20 September 2021, the Company, Able Glorious Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Mr. Chung Kar Ho, Carol (the “KC Training Vendor") entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “KC Training Agreement”)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in KC
Training Company Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, which is wholly-owned by the
KC Training Vendor for a consideration of HK$9,000,000 (the “KC
Training Consideration”).

KC Training Company Limited, through its subsidiary, is principally
engaged in holding development and training programs (the
“Training Programs”) with an aim to enhance selling technigues
and communication skills of the customers. The Training
Programs are specifically designed for the insurance brokers
and agents, who wish to enhance their sales performance and
customer relationships. The directors of the Company consider
that the acquisition of KC Training Company Limited will facilitate
the Group to further expand the business scope and revenue
stream of the Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business and is in line with the business development strategy
of the Group.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited (Continued)

On 11 November 2021, the Company, Able Glorious Limited
and KC Training Vendor entered into a supplemental agreement
(the “KC Training Supplemental Agreement”) and the principal
amendments contemplated under the KC Training Supplemental
Agreement are set out below:

1.

The KC Training Consideration to the Vendor has been
amended and restated as follows:

The KC Training Consideration of HK$9,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) shall be satisfied by Able Glorious
Limited by four instalments according to the following

schedule:

(0]

(in

First instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000 will be
satisfied upon completion of the acquisition in the
following manner:

(@)

()

as to HK$1,000,000 by cash; and

settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000 owed
by the KC Training Vendor to KC Training
Company Limited (the “KC Training Assumed
Liabilities”).

Second instalment in the sum of HK$3,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2022 in the following manner:

(@)

as to HK$1,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) in cash; and

as to HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the promissory
note in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000
by the Company to the KC Training Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) (the "“KC Training
Promissory Note A").
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

164

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited (Continued)

1. (Continued)

(ifi)

(iv)

Third instalment in the sum of HK$3,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2023 in the following manner:

(a) as to HK$1,000,000
adjustments) in cash; and

(subject to the

(b) as to HK$2,000,000 (subject to the
adjustments) by the issue of the promissory
note in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000
by the Company to the KC Training Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) (the “KC Training
Promissory Note B”).

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000
(subject to the adjustments) will be satisfied by
the issue of the promissory note in the principal
amount of HK$1,000,000 by the Company to the
KC Training Vendor (or its nominee(s)) within
14 business days upon issuance of the audited
financial statements of the company for the year
ending 31 March 2024 (the “KC Training Promissory
Note C”, together with the “KC Training Promissory
Note A" and “KC Training Promissory Note B”, the
"KC Training Promissory Notes").
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited (Continued)

2.

The KC Training Vendor irrevocably and unconditionally
guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the actual net
profits for each of the three years ended 31 March 2022,
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall be no less than
HK$2,000,000 (the “KC Training Guarantee Profits”).

The principal terms of the KC Training Promissory Notes

are as following:

Principal amount:

Interest:

Maturity:

Early repayment:

HK$2,000,000 for KC Training
Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000
for KC Training Promissory
Note B and HK$1,000,000 for
KC Training Promissory Note C,
with an aggregate amount of
HK$5,000,000.

5% per annum from the date of
issue of the KC Training Promissory
Notes and payable monthly in
arrears

3 years from the date of issue of
the KC Training Promissory Notes

The Company may pay to the
Vendor prior to the maturity date
any outstanding principal amount
(together with the outstanding
accrued interests) of the KC
Training Promissory Notes

The completion date of the acquisition was 11 November

2021.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

166

(b)

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of KC Training
Company Limited (Continued)

2. (Continued)

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as other
financial liabilities of the Group the KC Training Promissory
Notes issuable by the Company upon meeting the KC
Training Guarantee Profits at the present values of the
KC Training Promissory Notes amounted to approximately
HK$7,203,000 that are expected to be issued. Based on
the assessment of the management of the Company, the
probability the full amount of the contingent consideration
would not eventually have to be issued was not significant
at the date of acquisition and as at 31 March 2022.

According to the audited results KC Training Company
Limited for the years ended 31 March 2022, 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024, the actual profits have met
the KC Training Guarantee Profits and thus, there has no
adjustment to the outstanding other financial liabilities —
payables for acquisition of KC Training Company Limited
for the years ended 31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2024.

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant Ever
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to the acquisition of
Brilliant Ever Global Limited

The amount represents the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited which was acquired
by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 31 March 2022, the Company, Able Glorious Limited and
Mr. Leung Yu Hang (the “Brilliant Ever Vendor”) entered into the
sale and purchase agreement (the “Brilliant Ever Agreement”)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity interest in
Brilliant Ever Global Limited, a company incorporated in BVI
with limited liability, which was wholly-owned by the Brilliant
Ever Vendor, for a consideration of HK$40,000,000 (the “Brilliant
Ever Consideration”).

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

Brilliant Ever Global Limited, through its subsidiary, is principally
engaged in provision of financial quotient and investment
experience sharing courses in Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company expect that the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited will create synergy effect to the existing business lines
to the extent that it would allow the Group to conduct cross
selling and cross-marking exercises for other investment courses
currently offered by the Group.

The Brilliant Ever Consideration of HK$40,000,000 shall be
satisfied by the Company in the following manner:

(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$7,000,000 has been
satisfied in the following manner upon signing of the
Brilliant Ever Agreement:

(@  asto HK$6,000,000 in cash; and

(b)  settlement of debts of HK$1,000,000 owed by the
Brilliant Ever Vendor to Brilliant Ever Global Limited
(the “Brilliant Ever Assumed Liabilities”).

(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$6,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statements of
the company for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue
of the Promissory Note A to the Brilliant Ever Vendor (or
its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A").

(i) Third instalment in the sum of HK$9,000,000 (subject to
the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business days
upon issue of the audited financial statements of the
company for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue of
the Promissory Note B to the Brilliant Ever Vendor (or its
nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B”).
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
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©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$18,000,000 (subject
to the adjustments) will be satisfied within 14 business
days upon issue of the audited financial statements of
the company for year ending 31 March 2025 by issue
of the Promissory Note C to the Brilliant Ever Vendor
(or its nominee(s)) (the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note
C", together with the “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note A"
and “Brilliant Ever Promissory Note B”, the “Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes”).

The Brilliant Ever Vendor irrevocably and unconditionally
guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the actual
profits for each of three years ending 31 March 2023,
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 shall be no less
than HK$5,000,000, HK$8,000,000 and HK$11,000,000,
respectively (the “Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits”).

The principal terms of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes
are as follows:

HK$6,000,000 for Brilliant Ever
Promissory Note A, HK$9,000,000
for Brilliant Ever Promissory Note
B and HK$18,000,000 for Brilliant
Ever Promissory Note C

Principal amount:

Interest: 5% per annum from the date
of issue of the Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes and payable
monthly in arrears

Maturity: 3 years from the date of issue of

the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes
Early repayment: The Company may pay to the
Brilliant Ever Vendor prior to the
maturity date any outstanding
principal amount (together with
the outstanding accrued interests)
of the Brilliant Ever Promissory
Notes

The completion date of the acquisition was 31 March
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)

(Continued)

At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Brilliant Ever
Promissory Notes issuable by the Company upon meeting
the Brilliant Ever Guarantee Profits at the present values
of the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes amounted to
approximately HK$29,412,000 that are expected to be
issued. Based on the assessment of the management
of the Company, the probability the full amount of the
contingent consideration would not eventually have to be
issued was not significant at the date of acquisition and
as at 31 March 2022.

According to the audited results of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023, the actual
profit has met the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits and
thus, there has no adjustment to the outstanding other
financial liabilities — payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited for the year ended 31 March 2023.

However, as at 31 March 2023, based on the assessment
of the management of the Company, there might have the
probability the full amount of the contingent consideration
relating the meeting of the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed
Profits for each of the two years ending 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2025 would not eventually have to be
paid and thus, the Company recognised a financial asset
amounted to approximately HK$7,570,000 relating the
“profit guarantee in relation to the acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited” (see note 21) which was credited to
the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 (see
note 8).
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
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©

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Brilliant
Ever Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition
of Brilliant Ever Global Limited (Continued)

(iv)

(Continued)

According to the audited results of Brilliant Ever Global
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024, the profit did
not met the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed Profits and thus,
there has an adjustment amounted to approximately
HK$5,363,000 made to the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes.
Further, as at 31 March 2024, based on the assessment of
the management of the Company, there might have the
probability the full amount of the contingent consideration
relating the meeting of the Brilliant Ever Guaranteed
Profits for the year ending 31 March 2025 would not
eventually have to be paid and thus, the Company
recognised a financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$6,887,000 regarding the “profit guarantee in relation
to the acquisition of Brilliant Ever Global Limited” (see
note 21) and thus, there has a change in such financial
asset amounted to approximately HK$683,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2024. Thus, the net amount of the
adjustment to the Brilliant Ever Promissory Notes and the
change in the financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$4,680,000 was credited to the profit or loss as “other
gains and loss” for the year ended 31 March 2024 (see
note 8).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited/Profit guarantees in relation to acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited

The amount represent the outstanding payables for the
acquisition of Best Take Global Limited which was acquired by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Details of the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited are set out
in note 33(a)(i).

According to the audited results of Best Take Global Limited for
the year ended 31 March 2023, the actual profit has met the Best
Take Global Guarantee Profits and thus, there has no adjustment
to the outstanding other financial liabilities — payables for
acquisition of Best Take Global Limited for the year ended 31
March 2023. Based on the assessment of the management of
the Company, the probability the full amount of the contingent
consideration would not eventually have to be issued was not
significant as at 31 March 2023.

According to the audited results of Best Take Global Limited for
the year ended 31 March 2024, the profit did not meet the Best
Take Global Guarantee Profits and thus, there has an adjustment
amounted to approximately HK$1,128,000 made to the Best Take
Global Promissory Notes. Further, as at 31 March 2024, based
on the assessment of the management of the Company, there
might have the probability the full amount of the contingent
consideration relating to the meeting of the Best Take Global
Guaranteed Profits for each of the three years ending 31 March
2025, 31 March 2026 and 31 March 2027 would not eventually
have to be paid and thus, the Company recognised a financial
asset amounted to approximately HK$3,160,000 regarding the
"profit guarantee in relation to the acquisition of Best Take
Global Limited” (see note 21) and thus, there has a change in
such financial asset amounted to approximately HK$970,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024. The net amount of the
adjustment to the Best Take Global Promissory Notes and
the change in the financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$2,098,000 was credited to the profit or loss as “other gains
and loss” for the year ended 31 March 2024 (see note 8).
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

172

€

Other financial liabilities — Payables for acquisition of Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Limited

The amount represent the outstanding payable for the acquisition
of Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited which was
acquired by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Details of the acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited are set out in note 33(a)(ii).

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, the
Company is still in the process of renewing the registration of the
certificate courses. The directors of the Company are of the view
that the process of renewing the registration of certificate course
has not yet been completed and thus, there has no adjustment
to the outstanding other financial liabilities — payables for
acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024.

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2024

23. BEREMBNRE &)

Hist -

)

(%)

Hiema s - WEEERREXERA
IRABENFIR

ZEHREAEENEE T _=F=8
=t -RALEFERETEEREXERE
NS E SN AN B S

WS EEEREXBRARAR ZFIEH
FAFTEE33()(i) ©

BE-_T-_=F=ZA=+—HEK=Z-@
F=ZA=1+—HLFE ARANEEE
BERENZM - XA2REERE EE
BERENTMEARTHK - Bt - BEZ
T =F=A=+—HARZT_EHF=A
=+—HLEFE  REHKREENEMSE
BEE - WEEBRBREXZRAERAR
FERFRIBHEITRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. SHEE

Contract liabilities aBHBEE
— Billings in advance of performance — BHIAIIRE 33,256

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group's contract RZEZNF=A=+—HERZZT=Z=F=

liabilities represents the advances received from customers A=1+—8  X&EBEMN&Ha BB

regarding the provision of financial quotient and investment P RIS E B RIS A AL S BN B AR B

education services and private supplementary education B UER Y BASK o

services.

The contract liabilities primarily related to below: AHEEFEHETIRIERRA -

. advance consideration received from the customers o TR RIEEHEEREUARILY
for the provision of financial quotient and investment HWOHERIEERPWEIERNRE
education seminars and private supplementary education LR PR RN ER A B

courses, for which revenue is recognised when the
services have been rendered;

o certain customers are required to pay deposits when they o EATEPANRTEHEFERIMNIZ
place the sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities T wsI B (ERAEERNERE
until the Group delivers the products and the customers EPESHEMMESEIER) 64
obtain control of the products. BfE-

The amount of billing in advance of performance are expected FERTBRAONBRENSBEN —FANER A

to be recognised as income within one year. Ao

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting RREHEWEERBEERNBEFETKZ

period that related to performance obligations that were BHE TS -

satisfied in prior year.

BEERABEEEERAF
2024 3, 173



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 24. EHEE #&)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised FRATARRBERNASHABLHRAR
in the current reporting period that were included in the i PR L AR

contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

2024 2023
—Z & —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THAT

Revenue recognised that was included RIRERTAAEHNBEZ

in contract liabilities at the beginning BRI A ¢
of the reporting period:
— Provision of financial quotient and — REH R RIEEHE
investment education and private LA R FLST B B2 B 2R 72
supplementary education courses 33,256
The movements of contract liabilities are as follows: ARBEZEHNT
2024
—E-OF
HK$'000
FET
Balance at beginning of the year FVEE#R 24,994
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result  REMF AL N B EHFE I
of recognising revenue during the REIBAENEERD
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (24,994)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  FRFEWGRZESEHNEL
of billing in advance of courses during B &L
the year 33,256
Balance at end of the year FREES 33,256

1 7 4 Legendary Education Group Limited
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BANK BORROWING 25. RITEE

2024
—EmF

HK$'000
T

Amount repayable within 1 year or on demand R—F R IZEREETHE

- Bank loan, unsecured — RITE R - K
The Group's bank borrowing contains a repayment on demand REENRITEEBSRERERER -
clause and thus, the amount was classified as current liabilities It - ARG S BRET O ERRBA
in the consolidated financial statements. & o
The bank borrowing is unsecured, interest bearing at 3.625% RITIEEREER  RENE3.625% (ZF
per annum (2023: 2.75% t0 3.75%). T4 1 275%E3.75%) 5T E e
LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRETAEENHESENE A AR
of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and HHARBER TSN EER

previous reporting period:

HK$ 000
:F/%E

Lease liabilities payable: ENEEARE

— Within one year — 15" 11,938
— Within a period of more than one year — BB 1E(ETHBIB2FH
but not exceeding two years RSN 3,482
- Within a period of more than two years — B2 F BN EIRSF A
but not exceeding five years RSN 210
15,630
Less: Amount due for settlement with B B AEIE TATRA121E
12 months shown under current liabilities A AR BEEMFRIE (11,938)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A& 2| BB E 3K
12 months
As at 31 March 2024, the lease liabilities amounting to RZZ-NF=A=+—08 E5E R
HK$760,000 (2023: HK$1,183,000) and HK$1,074,000 EHESRBHEEE D 51/760,000% T
(2023:HK$1,952,000) related to leases of motor vehicles and —ZF =~ =4 :1,183,000/% 7t) }&1,074,000
yacht which net carrying amounts of HK$1,281,000 (2023: B (ZEZ=4F : 1,952,000 7T) * BRE
HK$1,708,000) and HK$4,239,000 (2023: HK$6,808,000) FED R A1,281,0008 T (ZF — =4 ¢
respectively (note 15). All other lease liabilities related to 1,708,000/ 1) K%4,239,0008 T (ZE ==
leases of properties. % : 6,808,000/ 7T) (FiI5E15) o BTA EAb

EaEEmERERH -

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

27.

PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

27. FTEAEEE

2024
—EoNE

HK$'000
TR

176

Litigation claim FARE

1,735

The litigation claim brought against Sino Shine Retailing
Limited (“Sino Shine”) arose from a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between Sino Shine as the tenant and an
independent third party landlord entered into on 27 October
2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group received
a writ of summons in relation to a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between the plaintiff, an independent
third party landlord, and Sino Shine Retailing Limited, then
a subsidiary of the Group, entered into on 27 October 2016,
which the plaintiff is claiming the Group for, inter alia, damages
in the sum of approximately HK$1,735,000 plus interest. The
directors of the Company consider that it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and the Group has recognised the provision of
HK$1,735,000, which is considered as a reliable estimate that
can be made.

Though Sino Shine was disposed by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020, according to the terms in the agreement
for sale and purchase of shares in Sino Shine with the buyer
of Sino Shine, the legal claim incurred for Sino Shine which
related to event before the date of disposal on 20 September
2019 shall be payable by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there has no further
development on the outstanding litigation and accordingly,
the directors consider that the provision for litigation claim of
HK$1,735,000 (2023: HK$1,753,000) remained a liability of the
Group as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, based on the consultations with the
Company's legal counsel, the directors of the Company
consider that the claim is well covered by the provision made
and would not result in any further material adverse impact on
the financial position or results and operations of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

. EEHEARE

TRAMMBERE 0 R IRLHRD
i

2024
—EIF

HK$’000
FERT

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBA G

663

The components of deferred tax liabilities regarding accelerated
tax depreciation recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the movements during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

BE_T_MF=A=t+—HAR=_FT_=F
ZA=+T—RHIFE  REEMBIRRARA
R AR IB T EEERIR B ER
MR R BN

HK$’000
THETT

As at 1 April 2022
Charged to profit or loss B8z Nk

R-FT——

N—=——

FMA—H 14

649

R-TE-_=FZA=+—A8K
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 “E-=FMHA—H 663

Credited to profit or loss FFAE&=

(139)

As at 31 March 2024

RZE-_mW&F=A=+—~H 524

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$55,149,000 (2023. approximately
HK$56,327,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset was
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$ nil) since it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences in respect of accumulated provision for
allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$10,820,000
(2023: HK$9,726,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in related to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised in the foreseeable future.

RZZZNF=A=+—H8 ' AEE#EX
&) A B T8 S B 4955,149,0008 T (ZE ==
F : #956,327,0007% 7r.) ] 4 9K 85 ] A 4
REGEENRICHEF - RZTZWMF=A
=+—H  HREERSE AR R R ERE

A] B2 ) BR 5K 2 R RR A R B LA B R R 8 S
8 WSS SRR R P ERIELER
BEE (ZT-=F : THL)

R|EMR - AEEHEA REEERRER
187 B 2 A H1RCES B 2 B 4010,820,00078 7T
ZE =% :97260008 7T) ° B A
R RN A AT B AT TR R R SR A
R ok A B A R B = R A SR T IR
BE

BEERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BRA
Number of
shares Amount
B8 A ot |
HK$'000
FA&7T
ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 #&/80.00058 T2 ZiER
each
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, RZZE-_—_FPmPA—H -
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024 —E-=F=fF=+—8"
—E=FWA—AB K
—E-F=A=+—H 1,000,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid ERITRAR
At 1 April 2022 RZZE-__FWUA—H 358,456,059 179
September 2022 Bonus Issue TEFNAETAR
(note (a) below) (R R3CHE(a) 35,845,605 18
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—HK
“E-=FPMA—H 394,301,664 197
March 2021 Share Options —T = AERRE
(note (b)(i) below) (R T XHEED)I)) 10,380,600 5
October 2022 Share Options —E - _F+ AERRE
(note (b)(i) below) (R 3CHEEb))) 11,917,400 6
Issue of share under the October 2023  RiE —F = =%+ A ZEEII D
Award Shares (note (b)(ii) below) BTy (R B EED)I) 2,679,600 2
At 31 March 2024 RZE-MF=A=+—H 419,279,264 210
The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends LTEl s B ANERRBATRERFRS -
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per WHFRBROERARREAE L2 —F
share at general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares FORE - FTBSRBIYUARRB 2 FIBREE
rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets. ZHERSER -

1 7 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Details of the movements of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Movements during the year ended 31
March 2023

September 2022 Bonus Issue

On 26 September 2022, the board of the Company has
resolved to recommend a bonus issue of shares on the
basis of one (1) bonus share for every ten (10) existing
shares held by the qualifying shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company
on the record date (i.e. 3 November 2022). Details
were set out in the Company’s announcements dated
26 September 2022 and 7 November 2022, and the
Company’s circular dated 7 November 2022.

Movements during the year ended 31

March 2024

(i) Exercise of March 2021 Share Options
and October 2022 Share Options
During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain
March 2021 Share Options holders and October
2022 Share Options holders exercised their rights
to subscribe for 10,380,600 and 11,917,400 ordinary
shares in the Company and details are set out in
notes 30(a) and (b), respectively.

Issue of shares under October 2023
Award Shares

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Company issued 2,679,600 ordinary shares of the
Company to an independent trustee based on the
closing price of approximately HK$2.04 per ordinary
shares on 9 October 2023, i.e. with a total value
of approximately HK$5,466,000 in respect of the
October 2023 Award Shares under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme of the Company and details of
which are set out in note 30(c).

(i)

All new shares rank pari passu in all aspects with
each other in accordance with the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company.

29.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

MRS (4#)

HE-ZT
=A=+—HILEE AREZE

T

(a)

(b)

TWE=ZA=+-—BR-ZT-=%F
A

BE-ZE-_=f=A=+—H
I FEZEE
—EEARBTAR
RZBE-_—FHhLA=-+H ' KAA
EFgRAERENCHEAH (A=
TZ-F+—A=H) BIARARRK
REftz6ERBREESEE 10
M RDERE —(NRAL AR 2 AR
THLIR - FFBHERAARIBH A
ZZFNAZFTARERZEZZF
T—AtAZAMBURAATIREA
TR ZFT—RERZBEEK -

BE-F-_MFE=A=+—H

IFEZSE

() TE===_—F=AERE
R-B-_F+ABKRE
HEZZ-_WF=A=+—H
FEE 5T =-—5=7
BREZEAN_Z-_—_F1+
REREREATERSE
) 32 B 7K 22 7)10,380,6000%
11,917,4000% & @A% - FF15 9 7
BRI FE30(@) K (D) °

(i) RE-ZF-_=F1+H%BRK
#BRITRAA
BHE-_T-_WF=A=+—8
IEFE - RRARMBILEZFEA
% 772,679,6000% K A~ &) L i@
B ZEROIE_E_=F
TANBERE @R KTE
#2048 EHE - BIARA A
= ffiﬁﬂ’ﬁfé@];ﬁriwlﬁ"l—_
TE=FTAEEBRONBE
#95,466,0007 7T, + 15 37 B
5130(C) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE

—E-ME=A=+—HItEE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme
The Company’s 2014 share option scheme (the “2014
Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on
25 September 2014 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible participants, and would
be expired on 10 October 2024, after which no further
options would be granted.

180

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Board of
Directors of the Company might grant options to:

0]

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

any employee or proposed employee (whether
fulltime or part-time and including any executive
director), consultants or advisers of or to the
Company, any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the
“Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds
an equity interest;

any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

On 14 July 2020, a total of 10,000,000 share options
(the “2020 July Share Options"”) were granted to Mr.
Yuen Yu Sum, an executive director of the Company, to
subscribe for shares of HK$0.04 each of the Company
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, subject to
acceptance of the grantee and the payment of HK$1 by
the grantee upon acceptance of the options.

On 26 March 2021, a total of 127,992,000 share options
(the “March 2021 Share Options”) were granted
to certain grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of
127,992,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 each in the
share capital of the Company under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme, subject to acceptance of the grantees
and the payment of HK$1 by each of the grantees upon
acceptance of the options.

No share options were granted during the year ended
31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the option
holders of 2020 July Share Options exercised the
options and subscribed for 10,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company. Further, the number of the outstanding
127,992,000 March 2021 Share Options was adjusted to
25,598,400 upon the September 2021 Share Consolidation
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

On 14 October 2022, a total of 35,844,000 share options
(the “October 2022 Share Options”) were granted to
certain grantees, including the executive directors of the
Ccompany, to subscribe for an aggregate of 35,844,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each in the share capital of
the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme,
subject to acceptance of the grantees and the payment
of HK$1 by each of the grantees upon acceptance of the
options.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

30. URODR/ERNNRRS (@)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

182

(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

In addition, the number of the outstanding 25,598,400
March 2021 Share Options was adjusted to 28,158,440
upon the September 2022 Bonus Issue during the year
ended 31 March 2023 (see note 29(a)).

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time without prior
approval from the Company'’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The options granted must be taken up within 28 days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant of the share option. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will
not be less than the higher of (i) the average closing
price of the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option (which must be a business day); and (i) the
closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange'’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option (which must be a business day).

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross
in shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URHBAEBNFRRS (&)
(Continued)
(a) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) (@ —FT—NFEBERETS (@)
Details of the specific categories of options under 2014 —E-NFEREGTEE TR LER

Share Option Scheme granted are as follows: ) BB RIFFIE T -
Exercise price  Exercise price
Initial per share after per share after
Number exercise September September
of share price per 2021 Bonus 2022 Share
Date of grant options  Exercise period share Issue  Consolidation
R=B=-£718 R-B=ZfNA
BRIL ROAREZ Rirage

Option type

BREER R AH BREBE THEH e SROTEE BRTHEE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
2020 July Share Options 14 July 2020 10,000,000  From 14 July 2020 to 0.227 N/A N/A
31 July 2030
“SCEFCRERE T 2E%F 10000000 BEZE=ZEtATNEZE 0227 TNEH TER
+A+mA “E-FELA=1+-H
March 2021 Share Options 26 March 2021 28,158,240  From 26 March 2021 to 0.330 1.650 1.500
25 March 2031
“E--H-RERE 2 -—T--F 28158240 B-E-—-F#=A-+,HE 0.330 1.650 1.500
ZRZt/A —Z--#-A-11A
QOctober 2022 Share 14 October 2022 35,844,000  From 14 October 2022 to 1104 N/A 1.004
Options 13 October 2023
“ECCFHABRE  —F-C 36844000 BE-E-—F+AtMAZE 1104 TEA 1.004
+A+mA “ZoCFtATEH

BYETEARAZ —Z - —F+ AEkEE
RAKEHZE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HK=

The October 2022 Share Options granted to certain
grantees will only be vested if each of the net profit of

the Group for the financial year of the Company ending
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 is equal to or exceeds
the net profit of the Group for the financial year ended
31 March 2022.

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions, Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules have been amended with effect
from 1 January 2023. In light of the above, the Company
terminated the 2014 Share Option Scheme and adopt the
2023 Share Option Scheme to replace the 2014 Share
Option Scheme, which was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 9 September 2023. The 2023 Share Option Scheme will
be valid for 10 years from the adoption date.

- MFE=A=+—HILARAFRFEZ
MARENSBEAEEEE_T - —F=
A=t —HLBMREEZANERE

RIBEH AL - GEMETRRFEBEC T
ER] > BZE_=F—A—HBEER - ERN
EXPrat - ARBERIE- T NFFERE
AHEI R —T — = F R IR =
T-MEBERERE - ZAtEeER T =
FAANAETZERREHIAEG LERLQF]
BRERHAE - —F - = FERE B E KRR
REIEAH T RBER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URBAEBNFRRS (&)
(Continued)
(@) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) () —ET—NFERETS (&)
The following table discloses the movements of the 2014 TREE T FERRERT EIRNE
Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 March EZT=F=A=+—HERZZ
2023 and 31 March 2024: THFE=ZA=FT—RIEFEZEH

Outstanding at Effect of
beginning of the ~ Granted during  Exercised during  September 2022 OQutstanding at
year the year the year Bonus Issue  end of the year
RES) :%::Enﬁ%ﬁ RER

RESHH FREH FRfTk iRe%e BESIES
he nf cha th-

Year ended 31 March 2023 BHE-EC=EZR=1-A

234
Directors Ez
October 2022 Share Options ZEICETRERE NIAVMEE 789,000 - 789,600 8,685,600
Employees and others EERAMAL
March 2021 Share Options “F--F-RERE 25598400 - - 2559810 28158240
October 2022 Share Options CE-CELRERE N ER 27,948,000 - 279,800 30742800
25,598 400 35,804,000 - 6,144,240 67,586,640
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ REXT F7 55,799,000
Weighted average xercise price  METHTHE
(HKS) (%7 165 1104 NATEE 12 132

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE2-E-mE=B=1-H

LEE

Directors gz
(October 2022 Share Options “ECCETRERE 8,685,600 - NATER 8,685,600
Employees and others Eﬁ&ﬁ/df/(f
March 2021 Share Options “B--F-AE 28,158,240 (10,380,600) NARER 17,777,640
October 2022 Share Options “ECCETRERE 30,742,800 (11,917,400) NATER 18,825,400

67,586,640 (22,298,000) NATER 45,288,640
Exercisable atthe end of the year ~ REXT F7 45,288,640

Weighted average exercise price IMETHABE
(HS) (#7) : N/ATER : N/ARER
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URHBAEBNFRRS (&)

(Continued)

(a) 2014 Share Option Scheme (continued) (@) —E—NFERES (®)
The estimated fair value of the share options granted HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HI#F
during the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately EREMERENMGT A TEL
HK$7,400,000. 7,400,000/ 7T °
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group HE-_Z-_NF=ZA=+—HILHF
recognised a share option expense of approximately B AEBERFEAERERERH
HK$1,169,000 (2023: HK$5,647,000) for the year. ¥ #91,169,0008 T (Z F = = & :

5,647,00077T) ©

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted HE-Z-_=F=-A=+—HRKZ=Z
during the year ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2021 Z—F=ZA=T—HIEFE  FAEH
was estimated as at the dates of grant using a binomial KA S E M BB ARIE 2 N P ERE
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon A EER - EABRETHET - I
which the share options were granted. A S A T 2 B ) MR B MR A o
The following table lists the inputs to the model used: TR P FAER AR

Share options granted
during the years ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFERLZERE

2023 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Dividend yield (%) F% B 2K (%) 1.7% 0-2%
Expected volatility (%) TEEAR 1R (%) 33.29% 34.93%-35.24%
Risk-free interest rate (%) A P M1 22 (%) 4.16% 0.492%-1.381%
Forfeiture rate (%) YR UL (%) 10% — 38% 58%
The expected life of the share options is based on the BRENEGTFHOERBE=FHN
historical data over the past three years and is not B BUE - RURRATBERAEMITE
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may B o FEEDR B R LR AR 2R 18 Ak
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption WREARRBEE  MERBERRLN
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, A

which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was FEATERBENAD KD ERE
incorporated into measurement of fair value. R E ARG o
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(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme

The Company’s 2023 share option scheme (the “2023
Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on
1 September 2023, with the adoption date of 1 September
2023 (the “Adoption Date”) for the primary purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants,
and the 2023 share option scheme option period is ten
(10) years commencing on the Adoption Date, after which
no further options will be granted (the “2023 Share Option
Scheme Option Period”).

The key terms of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are set
out in the circular of the Company’s dated 16 August
2023 and the details are extracted below:

(i) Purpose

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to
2023 Share Option Scheme Eligible Persons (as
described below) as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group
and/or to recruit and retain high calibre 2023 Share
Option Scheme Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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(b)

—ECCFEREE
AABMBER T -_=FHLA—HE
RARRREBEANAZREN_-F
ZEFERETE (2T =F8R
TR BB AZZ=_=Fh
A—B ([IRWBH)) - ZZE5EEE
SEHEERSEE T -=FF
AR A =T S B AR 4 ARSI B BR 40 A HARE
FTT0FAB R (RN K EE—
HREERE) ([T - =FERE
STEIMEAEARR ) -

ZE - = IR M E BRI
RAQATBHAE-_Z-_=E N\ A+
BRGEE - FBEMENT

(i B

R CFBEREREEHEE
RAFA =T Z = FRERET
ZEERAL (T K
BRE FANSEHAREM
FRERSBERR 2 5B e
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URBAEBRNIRRS (&)

(Continued)

Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until the
date of expiry of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
Period, after which period no further options shall
be offered or granted but the provisions of the
2023 Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
any options granted or exercised prior thereto or
otherwise as may be required in accordance with
the 2023 Share Option Scheme. Options complying
with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules which
are granted during the life of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant
and provisions of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
after the expiry of the Scheme Period.

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b)y —EB-_=FERETE ®)
(i) Duration (i) HARR
Subject to the provisions thereof, the 2023 Share TEBEBEXHHERT =

CEFBBRETEE EER
REM BE_Z =K
EETEBEERE AL R

ZHBER N SE - TREHR
R - RN Z M

RHRITE 2 BB RIR
BT - =FBREE I A

REMEMBERERMS - =
T = FRIRER &2 5R3H
METERIRER -R=F

= FBREEARBAR
2 EGEM MR BIME 2
BRI BT B HAR i 12 15
BAEM WARERER B RK
T - ZFHBREE 2%
XATE

EERBEEBERRARA
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(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(iii) 2023 Share Option Scheme Eligible

Persons

The participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
shall be the 2023 Share Option Scheme Eligible
Persons.

The basis of eligibility of any 2023 Share Option
Scheme Eligible Person(s) to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company (or where necessary, the independent
non-executive directors and/or the Remuneration
Committee of the Company) from time to time at its
absolute discretion on the basis of the 2023 Share
Option Scheme Eligible Person’s contribution or
potential contribution to the Group, or such other
factors as the Board may deem appropriate. In
determining whether a person has contributed
or will contribute to the Group, the Board of
Directors of the Company will take into account,
among other things, whether contribution has been
made to or will be made to the Group in terms
of operation, financial performance, prospects,
growth, development, reputation and image of
the Group. In assessing the eligibility of any 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person, the Board of
Directors of the Company will consider all relevant
factors as appropriate, including, among others,
(a) his/her responsibilities and contributions made
or to be made to the Group; (b) his/her ability to
further promote the development of the Group; (c)
his/her years of service; and (d) his/her professional
qualifications and knowledge in the industry.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URHBAEBNFRRS (&)
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

(iv) Grant of Options

—E=FERETE (@)
(iv) R

(b)

The directors shall, in accordance with the
provisions of the 2023 Share Option Scheme,
be entitled but shall not be bound, at any time
within a period of ten (10) years commencing on
the Adoption Date to make an offer to any 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person(s) as the
directors may in their absolute discretion select,
to take up an option pursuant to which such 2023
Share Option Scheme Eligible Person may, during
the 2023 Share Option Scheme Option Period (as
described above), subscribe for such number of
shares at the subscription price as the directors
shall determine.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted
and to have taken effect when the duplicate letter
comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by
the selected participant (the “2023 Share Option
Scheme Selected Participant”), together with a
payment of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant thereof, is received by the Company
within twenty-eight (28) days from the offer date
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme Offer Date”). If
such payment is not enclosed, the acceptance
shall not be prejudiced thereby, but the acceptance
shall create a promise by the 2023 Share Option
Scheme Selected Participant to pay to the Company
HK$1.00 on demand. Such payment shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

RIE-F - =FHEREFEN
&3 E=AHE (BIFRE) 1
Ry A R (10 F BREAE
MHE - MEE2ENIFEE
W —F = = F B RERT &
BERATELZOAENE
Pt Bt BT =%
BRETESEBALTITR S
T FRREREIBRER
B (W EFrill) - IREREEN
REERBEABEE LD -

EARAREBEHABP (=T
ToFEREEENRA]
A=+ \28)H AU B 4
T2EE (T =FHR®
ElgErssEE]) EXE
%m&m&%u#ﬂ$véﬁ
VE R B R E R B 891.00%
TR ZHBERADE

B R AR o (WA BRI
BEMT « BB T 15 I%ﬁxﬂ
1BE  EENAERK=
FREARMERT B8 E%ﬁ%%
HIE B R AARQ A X AH1.00%
T e BRNREAMBERTY
TFRE -
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(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(v) 2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting

Period
The vesting period (the “2023 Share Option Scheme
Vesting Period”) for any option granted to any
grantee under the 2023 Share Option Scheme shall
not be less than twelve (12) months from the date
of grant of such option. The Board of Directors of
the Company or the Remuneration Committee of
the Company shall have the authority to determine
a shorter 2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting Period
on options in its sole discretion under each of the
following circumstances:

(M

grants of “make-whole” options to a 2023
Share Option Scheme Selected Participant
who newly joined the Group to replace the
share options he/she forfeited when leaving
the previous employers;

(2) grants to a 2023 Share Option Scheme
Selected Participant whose employment is
terminated due to disability or occurrence of
any out of control event;

(3) grants that are made in batches during a year

for administrative and compliance reasons,
which may include options that should have
been granted earlier but had to wait for a
subsequent batch, in such cases, the vesting
date may be adjusted to take account of the
time from which the options would have
been granted if not for such administrative
or compliance requirements;

Legendary Education Group Limited
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(Continued)

(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(v) 2023 Share Option Scheme Vesting
Period (Continued)

4)

grants of options with a mixed or accelerated
vesting schedule such that the options may
vest evenly over a period of twelve (12)
months; and

grants of options with a total vesting and
holding period of more than twelve (12)
months.

Such discretion gives the Company more
flexibility to (i) adapt to exceptional and
justified circumstances; or (i) attract talents
or reward exceptional performers with
accelerated vesting. These circumstances
are also considered by the Stock Exchange
to be justifiable reasons for having a shorter
vesting period as set out in the consultation
conclusions.

Accordingly, the directors (including the
independent non-executive directors)
are of the view that the discretion in
allowing a shorter vesting period in each
of the circumstances as detailed above is
appropriate and in line with the purpose of
the 2023 Share Option Scheme (and other
share scheme(s), where applicable). There
is no performance target which must be
achieved by the grantee before an option
can be exercised under the terms of the
2023 Share Option Scheme save as otherwise
imposed by the Board of the Directors of the
Ccompany as it thinks fit in the relevant offer.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE
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(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option

Period

The 2023 Share Option Scheme Option Period of an
option shall not exceed ten (10) years from the 2023
Share Option Scheme Offer Date.

As descried in the Company’s announcement
dated 13 December 2023, on 13 December 2023,
33,166,000 share options were granted (the
“December 2023 Share Options”). Among the
33,166,000 December 2023 Share Options granted,
a total of 7,618,000 December 2023 Share Options
were granted to the following directors and a total
of 25,548,000 December 2023 Share Options were
granted to other 11 employees of the Group, details
of which are set out as follows:

Legendary Education Group Limited
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URGBAEBRNNARRS (&)
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) —FE-_=FBERETS &)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option (Vi) —E-=FBEREFEER
Period HEHE

Number of
December 2023
Share Options
granted during

Name/Category of the Grantees Position in the Group the year
REARRHZ
—E-=%+4+—FH
ABAMSE R RAEE 2B BREHE
Directors
S
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum Executive director and Chairman 3,584,000
BRREE WITEERER
Mr. Chan Lap Jin Kevin Executive director 3,584,000
PR SEHE WITES
Mr. Law Wing Chung Non-executive director 450,000
IR E A FEMITES
Others
Hty
Other 11 employees of the Group N/A 25,548,000
REEHMIBEES N3 A
Total: 33,166,000
HEt
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe BHBRERTHEARER
for one ordinary share in the Company and is NAE—RRE AR R - 30 IA
settled gross in shares. ARADNTEBAEE -
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option
Period (Continued)
Details of the specific categories of options under
2023 Share Option Scheme granted are as follows:

Number
of share
options Exercise period

Option type

Date of grant

B A R B

December 2023 13 December 2023 33,166,000
Share Options

—EF-=F B
+ = AR +=—A+=H

Upon fulfillment of the vesting conditions, the
December 2023 Share Options granted will be
vested on the grantees upon the expiry of eighteen
(18) months from the date of grant and exercisable
from 13 June 2025 to 12 December 2033 (both days
inclusive).
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(b)

BRERE 1TEH

From 13 December 2023 to

(vi)

“E=FRERESE (2
—ECC-FBEREGIBR
A (&)
BE-T - =FRRETER
HEREN REBANFEN
T

Initial
exercise
price per
share
BRATT
fEE

HK$

BT

1.55

12 December 2033
BE-ZE-_=F+-A+=HZE
—F==%t-A+=H
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option

Period (Continued)
The following table discloses the movements of the
2023 Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 March 2024

(b)
(vi)

Granted
during the
year

ERARHE

— = —

—_——

e — T i — A Sl E e

30. URODR/ERNNRRS (@)

=—FBERETE 2
TECFEREEBER
EHE (#)
TERBEE-_FT_=-FERE
HEIRE mE=H
=t-HILEFEZEE

—
ESp—

Exercised Outstanding
at end of
the year

RER

during the
year

ERTE e RAT 2

Number of share options

Year ended 31 March 2024 HBEZE-ZE=-F

=A=t+—-HLEE
Directors BZ
December 2023 Share Options ~ —Z = =4+ = AEkE 7,618,000
Employees and others ESEREMAL
December 2023 Share Options ~ —Z==4%+— ABRE 25,548,000
33,166,000
Exercisable at the end of the year WERA] F17{E
Weighted average exercise price  fIEFEHTHEE
(HK$) (&)

The estimated fair value of the share options
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$14,557,000. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised a share
option expense of approximately HK$3,235,000 for
the year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024
was estimated as at the dates of grant using a
binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the share options were
granted.

BRERE

7,618,000

25,548,000

33,166,000

N/ATE A 1.55

HE-_Z-_W&E=A=+—H
LFFERDMERENGTTR
FAE#9514,557,000/8 7T - BE
—E-WFE=A=+—HILF
[+ REBERFNMERERE
F % 493,235,000/ 7T °

HE-Z-_NWF=A=+—H
IHFE - IEEOUREESE
BRENRE 2 N FERE L B 8
ERAZEARAEITEE - I
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) 2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)
(vi) 2023 Share Option Scheme Option
Period (Continued)
The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

(b)
(vi)

30. UARDA/EBRNNRRS (@)

“E-FRERETE @)

—E- SRR HBE
BHE (&)
TRINH A ERRA 8 AR
5

Share options granted
during the year ended
31 March 2024

HE-_ZE_NF=H=1+—H

Dividend yield (%) PR B (%)

Expected volatility (%) T8 HA IR 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ B 1) 2 (%)
Forfeiture rate (%) 78 WLEE (%)

The expected life of the share options is based on
the historical data over the past three years and is
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns
that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was
incorporated into measurement of fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Share Award Scheme
The Company’s 2022 share aware scheme (the “2022
Share Award Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 25 November 2022 with the
adoption date of 26 September 2022, the key terms of
the 2022 Share Award Scheme are set out in the circular
of the Company’s dated 7 November 2022 and the details
are extracted below:

(M

(i)

Purpose

The purposes of the 2022 Share Award Scheme
are to align the interests of the eligible persons
(the "2022 Share Award Scheme Eligible Persons”)
with those of the Group through ownership of
shares, dividends and other distributions paid on
shares and/or the increase in value of the shares
and to encourage and enable 2022 Share Award
Scheme Eligible Persons, upon whose judgment,
initiative and efforts the Group largely depends for
the successful conduct of its business, to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits
of the Group and share in the success of the Group.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be
determined by the Board of Directors of the
Company, the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years
commencing on the adoption date of the 2022
Share Award Scheme, and thereafter for so long as
there are any non-vested award shares relating to
awards granted prior to the expiration of the 2022
Share Award Scheme.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)

198

(iii)

(iv)

Administration

The 2022 Share Award Scheme shall be subject
to the administration of the Board of Directors
of the Company in accordance with the rules of
the 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “2022 Share
Award Scheme Rules”) and all applicable laws and
regulations. Any decision made by the Board of
Directors of the Company as to all matters arising
in relation to the 2022 Share Award Scheme or its
interpretation or effect (save as otherwise provided
herein) shall be final, conclusive and binding on all
parties.

The trustee of the 2022 Share Award Scheme will
hold the shares and the income derived therefrom
in accordance with the terms of the trust deed(s)
to the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Operation

Subject to the 2022 Share Award Scheme Rules,
the Board of Directors of the Company may,
from time to time, in its absolute discretion and
subject to such terms and conditions as it may
think fit (including the basis of eligibility of each
selected participant determined by the Board of
Directors of the Company from time to time) (the
“2022 Share Award Scheme Selected Participant”),
select any 2022 share Award Scheme Eligible
Person (excluding any excluded participant) for
participation in the 2022 Share Award Scheme as
a 2022 Share Award Scheme Selected Participant,
grant an award to such 2022 Share Award Scheme
Selected Participant and determine the number
of award shares. However, until so selected, no
2022 Share Award Scheme Eligible Person shall
be entitled to participate in the 2022 Share Award
Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Consideration

The award shares will be granted to the 2022
Share Award Scheme Selected Participant(s) at nil
consideration, if any.

2022 Share Award Scheme Limit

The Board of Directors of the Company shall not
make any further award which will result in the
aggregate number of the shares which may be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted
under all of the schemes of the Company (including
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and the share
option schemes) exceeding 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the adoption sate or
35,845,605 Shares (“2022 Share Award Scheme
Limit").

The 2022 Share Award Scheme Limit may be
refreshed after three years from the adoption
date or the date of the Company’s shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment (as the case may
be) in accordance with the relevant GEM Listing
Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continuea)
(vi) 2022 share Award Scheme Limit

(Continued)
Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
9 October 2023, the Board of Directors of the
Company resolved to grant an aggregate of
2,679,600 ordinary shares of HK$0.0005 each in
the capital of the Company to 13 eligible persons
of the Group (the October 2023 Award Shares”),
who are employees of the Company pursuant to
the 2022 Share Award Scheme, details of which are
set out as follows:

30. UARDA/EBRNNRRS (@)

(c) BpEE@stE (&)

(i) —E-—FRORBETER
(%)
BEARRBBHA—T_=F
TANBHAMH  RNABES
CHEABBE_S - —FRHE
BErEImAEEI3RAEERA
T (ZEALRARFEES) &
A $£2,679,6000% 78 A & A% AN
A & % T {E0.00055% 7T #Y & 33
BIZZEZ=F+ARBR
1) - FEHINWT

Purchase

price of

Number the award

of award shares

Award type Date of grant shares Award period granted

=B

KB A BHOHNEE

REE R R B 2E HREH B

HK$

BT

October 2023 9 October 2023 2,679,600 From 9 October 2023 to Nil

Award Shares 8 October 2026

—E-—%+A —E-=F+ANH BE-ZEZ-_=Ft+ANHZE i

HEREAD —E-RFEFTANA

Upon fulfillment of the vesting conditions, the award
shares granted will be vested on the grantees upon
the expiry of three years from the date of grant.
Each award gives the holder one ordinary share in
the Company at zero consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)
(vi) 2022 share Award Scheme Limit
(Continued)
Details of the specific categories of award shares
under the 2022 Share Award Scheme granted are

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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30. URODR/ERNNRRS (@)

(c) BpEEEETE (&)

(Vi) —E-—FRORBETEIR
(%)
BIEZE Z —F RN EE) TS
B RE R B BERFE

as follows: U
Granted Exercised Outstanding
during the  during the at end of
year year the year
REXR
FRRH FRITHE el RATE
Number of award shares
RERHEE
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_ZE_-_M&E
=A=t+—-HLEE
Employees and others EEREMAL
October 2023 Award Shares —E-=F1+A
BRI - 2,679,600
- 2,679,600
Exercisable at the end of the year RERAFITE -

The estimated fair value of the award shares
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$5,466,000, of which the Group
recognised a share award expense of approximately
HK$910,000 during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The fair value of equity-settled share awards
granted during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
estimated as at the dates of grant with reference
to the fair value of the share of the Company at
the date of grant, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the share awards were
granted.

HE-_Z-_NF=A=+—H
LIEFEE TR SZEIRR (5 /5T
R E L) A5,466,0008 T+ H
PAEBREZE T _NF=
A=+— B FERERRRG S
BRI 2 47910,00078 7T °

HE—_Z-_mMF=A=+—H
IEFE - IEREEOUARESH
B B 2 AT EREER
H2ZR QA RMHNEF L B H
A EETHE - WEt AR
17 BBV R A IR SR A1 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) Share award scheme (continued)
(vi) 2022 share Award Scheme Limit
(Continued)
The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

30. UARDA/EBRNNRRS (@)

(c) RHORBEE (&)

(i) —ZE-_FRHORBER
¥ (%)
TR A E AR A AR
%

Award shares granted
during the year end
31 March 2024

BE-E-F
=RA=+—8”
IEFEERE 2 EBRAG
Fair value of shares HK$ [&1n 2 A HEBTT 5,466,000
Forfeiture rate SR U R 0%
31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 31. EEERKEF

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$1,126,000 (2023: approximately HK$748,000) represents
contributions paid to the MPF scheme by the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, there were
no material forfeitures available to offset the Group’s future
contributions (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. EXBHAERS

(a)

(b)

Transaction and balances with related (a) EERABE A MR B RAEER
parties

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated Bz EinE MMz Mo TieE
financial statements, the Group had the following BN AEBERFEANEBEFENT
transactions and balances with related parties during R REEER

the year:

Company directly wholly-owned HERFLLTEER2E

by Ms. Mak Louisa Ming Sze BENQAT

— Consultant fee paid - BEREA -
Compensation of key management (b) EEEEAESHMH
personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FRN - ARAIEERAEEEMESR
members of key management personnel of the Group BEEKEMTMIT

during the year was as follows:

2024 2023

—ENE T =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET BT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITENEMET] 10,980

Equity-settled share option expense VARR & 45 5 e B Pl e Al =2 1,747
Contributions to defined contribution  FEREMHFGRRET 21K

retirement plans 14

12,741

BEERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(i) Best Take Global Limited

On 16 August 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, Ms. Man Chi
Ling (the “Best Take Global Vendor A") and Mr.
Lee Kwok Yui, (the “Best Take Global Vendor B”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement
in relation to the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Best Take Global Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, which is owned as to 85% by Vendor A
and 15% of Vendor B (“Vendors") respectively for
a consideration of HK$15,000,000 (the “Best Take

Global Consideration”).

Best Take Global Limited, through its subsidiary, is
principally engaged in pole dance studios in Hong
Kong. It currently operates three pole dance studios
in Hong Kong, offering various courses for members
of varying experience level. Leveraging on the
extensive industry experience of its management
and lead instructors, it has established solid
reputation and is widely recognised for its high-
quality and experienced training team, which
consists of top talents with regional championship
title. The directors of the Company consider that
the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited will allow
the Group to broaden its business spectrum and
the operation of the Best Take Global Limited will

contribute positively to the Group.
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Best Take Global Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

(M

The Best Take Global Consideration shall be
satisfied by the Company as to (i) HK$1,400,000 by
the assumption of the assumed liabilities by the
purchaser upon Completion; (i) HK$1,200,000 by
cash within 60 calendar days from the Completion
Date; and (iii) HK$12,400,000 in aggregate by issue
of the Promissory Notes to the Vendors in six
instalments in the following manner:

(ii)

(iii)

First instalment in the sum of HK$2,400,000
has been satisfied upon signing of the
Agreement by issue of the promissory notes
(the "Best Take Global Promissory Note A”) to
the Vendors in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
Completion;

Second instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2023 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note B") to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;

Third instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2024 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note C") to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)

206

M

(iv)

Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

Fourth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2025 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note D”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion;

Fifth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2026 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note E”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

(Vi)

Sixth instalment in the sum of HK$2,000,000
(subject to the Adjustments) will be satisfied
within 14 business days upon issue of the
audited financial statement of the company
for the year ending 31 March 2027 by issue of
the promissory notes (the “Best Take Global
Promissory Note F”) to the Vendors (or their
nominee(s)) in proportion to their respective
shareholding interests immediately prior to
completion.

The Vendors irrevocably and unconditionally
guarantees to Able Glorious Limited that the
actual net profits for each of the five years
ending 31 March 2023, 31 March 2024, 31
March 2025, 31 March 2026 and 31 March
2027 shall be no less than HK$2,600,000 (the
"Best Take Global Guarantee Profits”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 33. WEKMBAR (&)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023 (@ RBE-ZF-_=F=A=t+-—
(Continued) HIEFE &)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued) (i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
(vi)  (Continued) ) (&)
The principal terms of the Best Take Global T3 & 5Best Take Global
Promissory Notes are as follows: ESTE S st 3

208

Principal amount:

ZINe gt S

Interest:
FLE
Maturity:
FIH -

Early repayment:

HK$2,400,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note A, HK$2,000,000
for Best Take Global Promissory Note B and HK$2,000,000 for Best
Take Global Promissory Note C, HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global
Promissory Note D, HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory
Note E, HK$2,000,000 for Best Take Global Promissory Note F with an
aggregate amount of HK$12,400,000.

Best Take Global# 3, Z & A A&2,400,0007% 7T « Best Take Global# i, Z &
B.£2,000,000/8 7 * Best Take Global# ¥ Z4&C A2,000,0007% T + Best
Take Global# ¥ Z#£DA2,000,0007 7T « Best Take Globali# & EIEEA
2,000,000/ 7t }2Best Take Global# ¥ = #EFA2,000,0008 7T - #B58 4
12,400,000/ 7T ©

5% per annum from the date of issue of the Best Take Global
Promissory Notes and payable monthly in arrears
B Z%177Best Take Global## & Z 4% B B FFE 55% « & A+

3 years from the date of issue of the Best Take Global Promissory
Notes
B % 77Best Take Global## 3 22 4% A B#E 5134

The Company may pay to the Vendor prior to the maturity date any
outstanding principal amount (together with the outstanding accrued
interests) of the Best Take Global Promissory Notes

REEE ARAB AR BIEA B R = 5 2 fBest Take Global& 3 225 2 (TRl A EE
ReeiE CERAREEEFHNE)
The completion date of the acquisition was WEEBE TR AT

on 16 August 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method and the details are as follows:

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_ZT-_ME=A=+—HIEE

33. KWIBMEAR (&)
(@) RBE-E-_=F=A=1+-—
HIEEE &)
(i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
ZWEEEEALBREERE
FEEEAR  SEOT

HK$'000
F

Consideration transferred in the ZUWBEEREENNE
acquisition:
- Cash consideration paid —BNEREENRE 1,400
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or — ERNREZIRATE
loss regarding profit guarantee (note 21) AAERCsSRMEE
(KiaE21) (2,190)
- Promissory notes issued (note 23) — BBTAREER (FfFE23) 2,491
— Other financial liabilities (note 23) —HEtemaE (fiE23) 7,184
Total consideration BRE 8,885
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities R BTN EER TR
recognised as at the date of acquisition: ROEED -
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 1,700
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERFRIE © e RHA R
RIE 904
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E MR FIR (51)
Tax payable FESBETE (228)
Fair value of the net assets BEEFEZATFAE 1,725
Less: Best Take Global Assumed Liabilities JH : Best Take Global pra#&
af&E (1,200
Fair value of net assets acquired on the WEEHEEWEEEFEZ
acquisition ~NFE 525
Goodwill on acquisition: WEEmE
Total consideration wHRE 8,885
Fair value of net assets acquired EWBEEEFELATE (525)
Goodwill [EES 8,360
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEFFEEMNBESRE T !
Cash consideration paid EfRERE 1,400

BEERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(Continued)

(i) Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised:
(@) as other financial liabilities of the Group the
Best Take Global Promissory Notes issuable by
the Company upon meeting Best Take Global
Guarantee Profits at the present values of the
Best Take Global Promissory Notes amounted to
approximately HK$7,184,000 that would be paid
and the Best Take Global Promissory Note that are
expected to be issued; and (b) the promissory notes
amounted to approximately HK$2,491,000.

Further, based on the assessment of the
management of the Company, there might have
probability that the full amount of the contingent
consideration relating the meeting of the Brilliant
Ever Guaranteed Profits for each of the four years
ending 31 March 2024, 31 March 2025, 31 March
2026 and 31 March 2027 would not eventually
have to be paid and thus, the Company recognised
a financial asset amounted to approximately
HK$2,190,000 relating the “profit guarantee in
relating to the acquisition of Best Take Global
Limited” (see note 21) as at the date of acquisition.
The directors of the Company consider that the
fair value of the “profit guarantee in relating to the
acquisition of Best Take Global Limited” at 31 March
2023 approximates to the amount as recognised as

at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income

tax purposes.
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33. WERKMIEAR (&)
(@) RBZE—B-—=F=A=+-—

BIEFEE (&)
(i) Best Take Global Limited
(%)

Ber - U EE BB ANEE:
@#% AN & & K E mBest
Take Globalfk #& % ¥ & 7]
¥ %% 17 ZBest Take Global
A HERIRE T 2 2Best
Take Global#F 3 Z4EIREL
7,184,000/ 7t & 78 B % T 8
172 Best Take Global#H =
BIRERRAANEE 2 H A
SEEE ROERELE
1B #2,491,000/8 7T ©

AN - BEBEA QB EERERER
B BRI Re AR BRSNS
HEREHE T -NFE=A
=+—RB ZZ-"H€E=A
=+—H - ZZ-XF=A
=t+—BERZZE=tF=A
=+—BAIEMEFESFZ
KRB R B BRIHAR
BRRE - Bt » ARRIRNIK
FEHEARER T —IEEE [H
fEBest Take Global Limited
AN EMNRE] BEN
#92,190,0007%% 7T M) & B &
ERWE21) ARAE

RBE MNTE-_=%F=A
=+—HA [EIfEBest Take
Global Limited48#8 )% FIER
FIOAFERBESEAR
W EERNSEE -

WEEL 2B e ERE#E
B RETAREBRAHMX
2 KRB B 15 B T8 B 163 [R) RUE
Mz WABRRE AR ZARK
MSRRAMZEHE - AR
FHEANEA BB EE
ZHERRE - FUL H IR ER
B RER - mE A METR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)

(M

Best Take Global Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year, Best Take
Global Limited generated a loss of HK$649,000
and revenue for the year includes HK$3,184,000
generated from Best Take Global Limited.

Had the acquisition of Best Take Global Limited been
completed on 1 April 2022, revenue for the year of
the Group would have been HK$239,508,000, and
profit for the year would have been HK$33,933,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 April 2022, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit
of the Group had Best Take Global Limited been
acquired at the beginning of the current year, the
directors of the Company calculated depreciation
of property, plant and equipment based on
the recognised amounts of property, plant and
equipment at the date of the acquisition.

Details of the above acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement on 16 August 2022.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE—_Z_mME&E=A=+—HILEE

33. WEBMBAR (&)
(@) RBE-ZE=-=F=A=+-—

HIEFE &)

(i) Best Take Global Limited
(#)
WK A EEEEHE

F A= B FEBest Take Global
LimitedZE 4 2 %5 1£649,0007#
7T - 4 AU B #EBest Take
Global LimitedZE 4 2 3,184,000
BT °

fiiBest Take Global Limited!4 88
RZZEZ—FMHA—HZX
REBRAFEZWRAER
239,508,000/ 7T * RAFE 2
i 7 FE 433,933,000 7t © It
ZEMEHRSZE  ERUREK
WAEBER=_ZT-_—_FMNA—
B 7E B W B 1 B PR e 8145 2 Uk
AREEEE  TRERRY
REREELE 2 T -

RS iBest Take Global Limited
REE BN B AER Y [T8
iy ] WA ST - AARES
RN AR 2 - B R
BEEE  ATEDE  BERE
B2E -

FBEENFBEIRAE
ARR—_E-_—_F A+ H
B o

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

212

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional

Studies Limited

On 27 September 2022, the Company, Able Glorious
Limited, Hong Kong Institute of Financial Analysis
Limited, China Vantage International Holdings
Limited and Ms. Chau Ching Fong, Elisa (the “Hong
Kong Institute of Professional Studies Vendor A, B
and C", collectively, the “Vendors”) entered into
the sale and purchase agreement (the “Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Agreement”) in
relation to the acquisition of the 75% equity interest
in Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, for a consideration of HK$2,000,000
(the "Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Consideration”).

Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies Limited
is principally engaged in provision of certificate
courses in financial analysis, with topics covering
financial analysis, equity investment analysis,
financial derivatives analysis and bond value
assessment. The directors of the Company expect
that the acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited for further expanding
the business scope and revenue stream of the
Investment Education Business segment and is
in line with the business development strategy of
the Group.
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33. WEBKEBAT (@
(@) RBZE-—B-—=F=H=+-—

HIEFE (&)
(il FEBEBREXBRARATF

RZEZZFAAZ++t
B A 2 7 - Able Glorious
Limited « P ELNIHE
RAR - AREEREEERA
AIRERFES LT ([EEBRE
¥ ERRE HABRC] £
(BRI EERE (B
BREXS2R ]  NEE
AN EEEBREES R AR
AE (—HERE BT
BRAAE)75%RE - RER
2,000,000 7T ([ B EBKREZE
B R(E]) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33. WEMBAR (&)
(a) During the year ended 31 March 2023 (@) RBE-ZE-_=F=A=t+-—
(Continued) HIEFE &)
(i) Hong Kong Institute of Professional (i) BABREXERERAT
Studies Limited (Continued) (&)
The Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies EEBEBEIEXERNKME
Consideration of HK$2,000,000 shall be satisfied by 2,000,000/ 7T #% Fg 28 A B & A
the Company in the following manner: THAZN
(i) First instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000 () 2 — #3 1,000,000 7T
has been satisfied upon signing of the sale EREITEEMRETX
and purchase agreement. (N
(i) Second instalment in the sum of HK$1,000,000 (i) 8 = HB $£1,000,0007% T
will be satisfied within 14 business days upon BR_ZTEZ=FHA
successful renewal of the registration of the =+—HZRIKEE
Certificate Courses on or before 31 May 2023. R ERIZ R 141E
BAX °
The completion date of the acquisition was WEEE TR R T
completed on 27 September 2022. ZZFEAAZ+ER -

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(Continued)

(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited (Continued)
The acquisition has been accounted for as the
acquisition of business using the acquisition
method the details are as following:

33. WIBHEAR (&)
(@ RBE-E-_=F=A=+-—
HIEEE &)
(i) BREREXERERAQT
(#)
ZWEEEEALBREEE
S EARE  SBMT

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration transferred in the acquisition:

ZUEEETERNNAE

- Cash consideration —BeRE 1,000
- Other financial liabilities (see note below and —HiremaE
note 23) (BT Bt sE R p7E23) 914
Total consideration BRME 1,914
Analysis of assets acquired and liabilities RBBEFTBEBHNEER
recognised as at the date of acquisition: RN EEIH
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERNFIE ~ e REAMER
RIE 30
Cash and cash equivalents Re RS EEY 399
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R H A ERFIR (174)
Fair value of the net assets acquired on the WEEBECOWEEEFELZ
acquisition NFEE 255
Goodwill on acquisition: WEERE
Total consideration BR(E 1,914
Fair value of net assets acquired BWEEEFELATE (255)
Fair value of non-controlling interest e 2 A E 64
Goodwill kS 1,723
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEBFTEEWER SR FEE .
Cash consideration paid EfReRE 1,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances acquired & : WiERIRS RIRSEEY
R (399)
601

Note: At the date of acquisition, the Group recognised as
other financial liabilities of the Group the Hong Kong
Institute of Professional Studies Limited’s second
instalment payable by the Company upon meeting
the requirement for the second instalment at the
present values of the cash consideration amounted
to approximately HK$914,000 that would be paid
(see note 23).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

33. WEBMBAR (&)
(@) RBE-ZE=-=F=A=+-—

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(Continued) HIEFE &)
(i) Hong Kong Institute of Professional (i) BABREXERERAT
Studies Limited (Continued) (&)

Goodwill which arose on the acquisition included
a control premium. The consideration paid for the
business combination effectively included amounts
in relation to the benefits of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development of
the company. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet
the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. The goodwill is not deductible for income
tax purposes adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the future.

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the profit for the year is HK$53,000
attributable to the additional business generated
by Hong Kong Institute of Professional Studies
Limited. Revenue for the year includes HK$374,000
generated from Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited.

Had the acquisition of Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited been completed on 1
April 2021, revenue for the year of the Group would
have been HK$238,194,000, and profit for the year
would have been HK$34,570,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 April 2022, nor is it intended to be a projection
of future results.

WIBEL 2B B RE#R
B RETEREBAHMX
2 KRB B 15 B T8 B 13 [7) RUE
Mz WABRRE AR ZARK
MSRRAMZTE - AR
EN@m AN AR BB EE
ZHERZE - HULHI RER
BHRER - BETIATRARK
REE 2 56 B REK T KR
EIEHRATS AR

WIBH X EEFE E

F X35 | /53,0008 T A 55
AR BB EEZRARA
BT PR ZHNIL R - FRIA
374,000 LR A B EEEE
EERBRAF

HEBBEBREEZRERAF
WER-_ZT-_—FA—HA%
B - REBERAFE ZRARE
£3238,194,000% 7T * MR F E
2 m A A34,570,0008 7T © Itk
HEEEREHRS2ZE  HRUR
RWAEENR -—T - —FA
— B SR B T E R SRS 2
WA RSB R - TEERE
HIRREE 2 TBA -

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

216

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023
(Continued)
(ii) Hong Kong Institute of Professional

Studies Limited (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group (Continued)

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit of
the Group had Hong Kong Institute of Professional
Studies Limited been acquired at the beginning
of the current year, the directors of the Company
calculated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment based on the recognised amounts of
property, plant and equipment at the date of the
acquisition.

Details of the above acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement on 27 September 2022.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Best
Take Global Limited and Hong Kong Institute of
Professional Studies Limited is attributable to the
anticipated profitability of the distribution of the
Group's future development on the market of
financial quotient, investment education business
and broaden its business spectrum.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2024

The Company did not have any material acquisition of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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BIEFE (#)

(i) BFREREXZRARAT
(%)
WEH A FEFEHE ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2023

Deemed disposal of Maxi Chain Enterprises
Limited

Pursuant to the YY Lam Shareholders’ Agreement, during
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s interest
in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited was reduced from
90% to 80%. Accordingly, the subscription and the
further subscription constitute a deemed disposal of
the equity interest in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited
without loss of control and the deemed disposal of the
10% equity interest in Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited
has been recognised in equity and thus, an amount of
approximately HK$516,000 was credited to the Group’s
accumulated profits and the corresponding amount was
charged to the non-controlling interests.

During the year ended 31 March 2024

The Company did not have any material disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2024.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

34. HEMBAR

(a)

(b)

BE-—E-_=#=A=+—H
IHFEE
REHERBECEERLT

IRIBMOE R ACR 15 7%
FZA=Z+T—HLEFE ARERE
BEAR AR EEH0%HD =
80% - Atk - RBFERE—FTRE
ERBRGIFHERBREARAR
ZRHE - MR EIESIE - AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. AR BMMBARR KK HE

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE KRB
Investments in subsidiaries B B A E]
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits TBRRIERRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries e N NS PR
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEEED
Current liabilities REBARE
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN BRE

Other payables and accrued expenses HAb N FIBRETHAE

Net current assets RBEEFE

Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBEE

Net assets EEFE
Capital and reserves EXRRREE
Share capital f& s
Reserves B

Total equity RSB

21 8 Legendary Education Group Limited
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34,711
208,688
5,832

249,231

59,383
988

60,371

188,860

188,872

188,872

210
188,662

188,872

2023

216,080
258

216,338

53,862
1,317

55,179
161,159
161,167
161,167

197
160,970

161,167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NF=RA=+—RHILFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. AR RANBBERRREREE (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movements in the Company’s reserves are as follows: RARZRBEZESHNAT
Share
option/
share
Share Share  Special award Accumulated
capital premium  reserve  reserve profits Total
BRE/
R ER
BE  ROEE HEREE 1] L4 eyl @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT THT BT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZE-—FMA—H 179 87,399 56,102 5,437 9,213 158,330
Loss and total FRNEER A< EE
comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - (2,810) (2,810)
Issue of bonus shares BATHLIR (W7229)
(note 29) 18 (18) - - - -
Recognition of equity- R RS S R RE R
settled share option (H:230)
arrangement (note 30) - - - 5,647 - 5,647

At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=f=R=+—-H

1 April 2023 kZFTZ=FNA—H 161,167
Profit and total FREN R AR

comprehensive income 4%

for the year

Issue of shares underthe #HE-F-=%+A1
October 2023 Award BRI EITRG

Shares (note 29(b)(ii)) (FzE2900)i) (5,466)
Exercise of March 2021 {1 =T=—%

Share Option and = REgRiER

October 2022 Share —E--%+R

Options (notes 29(b)(i) FEIRIE (H122290))) 31,799 (4,273) 27,537
Recognition of HEREIRE 2 BRI 2

equity-settled under BTz RS

share option and award  (#7:£30)

share arrangements

(note 30) 5,314
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_WNF=A=1+—H 124,644 56,102 188,872

BELHEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

36.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes borrowing and lease liabilities disclosed in respective
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital

and reserves.

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets

EXREBEE
AEMEBHER - RRAEMOERLE
PHEEE  ANEBECERTEARE
AR EIER - AR [ 2 88 S S A 5 4 4T
ﬁo

AREBNEARBEFERFR (BRERA
BMMERENERREERE)  BE MR
SEBMFRARKRRBEE AREER
(BREETRARMHEE)

(@) EBMTAEH

2024
—BF

HK$'000
FExT

4,607
40,996
86,260
68,222

200,085 126,527

13,383 11,930

213,468 138,457

— Trade receivables — B S RWGIA

- Loan receivables — EUE

- Other receivables and deposits — Hib UK RIZS

— Cash and cash equivalents —BERReEEY

- Financial assets at FVTPL —BAFEFTABEDN
Financial liabilities TREE

- Trade and other payables — B9 REAMENFIA

- Bank borrowing —HRITEE

- Lease liabilities —fHEafE

42,188
4,682
15,630

62,500

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and other price risk. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below.

(1) Fair values

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair
value of the Group's financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technigue as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs, that is,
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued)

222

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager with the assistance of independent
professionally qualified valuers to perform
valuations for the financial instruments,
including profit guarantees in relation to
acquisition of subsidiaries which are
categorised into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee.
A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared
by the team at each interim and annual
reporting date, and is reviewed and approved
by the executive directors. Discussion of
the valuation process and results with the
executive directors and the audit committee
is held every three to six months to coincide
with the reporting dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_WF=A=+—HLLFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 36. EXRMER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) eREAMEEBBERIK &)
and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued) (1) 2AFE#E)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured () BATFEFABHEHEE
at fair value (Continued) REE (&)

ANFEER (&)
Fair value measurement
AVEFE
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AV E -8 -] =4
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AL TET FAT

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023

Recurring fair value EEMLFEAE

measurements:
Assets &
Financial assets at FVTPL SEali0 ko
- Equity securities listed in -RER LT REES

Hong Kong 824 NATER  NATER
- Investment funds - EES N/A NiER 1,346  N/A TR
- Profit guarantees in relation  — BEYEN B ARIAEF

to acquisition of subsidiaries RE N/ATEBR  N/ATER 9,760

824 1,346 9,760

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=A=1+-H

Recurring fair value LRI FEAE
measurements:
Assets EE

Financial assets at FVTPL BATEABRNEREE
- Equity securities listed in - INEE LI RAES

Hong Kong 1,990 1990 NATER  NATER
- Investment funds -REES 1346  N/A TR 1,346  N/A FERE
- Profit guarantees in relation  — BERERB A FMET

to acquisition of subsidiaries RE 10,047 NATER  NATER 10,047

13,383 1,990 1,346 10,047

EERBEEBERRARA
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2024, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

The directors are of the view that the fair
values of the Group’s financial assets at
FYTPL approximates their carrying values.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Assets
BE

Profit guarantees in

relation to acquisition of
subsidiaries

Valuation techniques
fh{E R

Probability weighted

expected return method

B RAWEIN B R B s FRE SR TR R HA

(1

36. EXEBRERE ()
(b) eREAMEEBBERIK &)

DE (&)

(i

BAFETENZHEE
REE (&)
NFEER (E)
HE-Z-_=%=AH
=t+—BAR-ZT-ME=
R=+—HItFE  F—
AR ELEE — B mEES
INEEE A\ kB HEE =4 -
REBBER TR EEED
HEHRER AT ESR
FEﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ °

EERR AREERT
B ABRZEREEZ
NP EEAREERS o

BHE=RATE B4
&H

Revenue growth

rate range
WA R R EE

5-15%

5-15%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(1) Fair values (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried other than fair value
For the Group's financial assets and liabilities
not measured at fair value in the consolidated
statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying
amounts of bank borrowing and promissory
note payables approximated to their fair
values and were determined as Level 3.

The fair values of bank borrowing and
promissory note payables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank
borrowing was assessed to be insignificant
and the fair values of the non-current
portion of interest-bearing bank borrowing
approximate to their carrying amounts.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

(1) 2¥E @)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

226

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to loan receivables, trade receivables and other
receivables and deposits. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents
is limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage of the risk
management system, including pre-approval,
review and credit approval and post-transaction
monitoring processes. The Group conducts
customer acceptance and due diligence during the
pre-approval process. A transaction is subject to
the review and approval by the executive directors.

During the post-transaction monitoring process,
the Group performs credit evaluations on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

Certain loans granted are backed by collateral
(e.g. property and listed securities) as security. The
Group also focuses on ascertaining legal ownership
and the valuation of the collateral. The Group
closely monitors the ownership and the value of
the collateral throughout the loan period. The loan
receivables are due by the date as specified in the
corresponding loan agreements.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) FERME &)

In accordance with accounting policies, if there is
objective evidence that indicates the cash flows
for a particular loan is expected to decrease, and
the amount can be estimated, the loan is recorded
as an impaired loan and the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s policy requires regular review of
the quality of individually significant financial
assets. For assets for which an allowance for
impairment loss is provided individually, the amount
is determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss
at the reporting date on a case-by-case basis. In
making such assessments, the Group considers the
value of collateral held and expected future cash
flows from the asset.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 28% (2023: 27%) and 72% (2023: 76%) of
the loan receivables were due from the Group's
largest loan debtor and the five largest loan debtors
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)
The Group adopts a loan risk classification approach
to manage its loan receivables portfolio risk. Loan
receivables are categorised into the following
stages by the Group:

228

Stage 1:

Stage 2:

Stage 3:

Loan receivables have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised
on the basis of 12 months expected
credit losses (12-month ECLS).

Loan receivables have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk
since origination and impairment is
recognised on the basis of lifetime
expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLS
non-credit impaired).

Loan receivables that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime
ECLs credit-impaired).

The Group applies the ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loan receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) eREAMEEBERIK &)

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(2) credit risk (Continued) (2 =ERRK (&)
Parameters of ECL measurement HHEEERENZE

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment
loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or
the entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring
parameters of ECL include probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). Based on the requirements of HKFRS
9, the Group takes into account the quantitative
analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings of
counterparties, manners of guarantees and types
of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and forward looking
information in order to establish the model of PD,
LGD and EAD.

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

° PD refers to the possibility that the debtor
will not be able to fulfil its obligations of
repayment over the next 12 months or
throughout the entire remaining lifetime. The
Group’s PD is adjusted based on the results of
the internal rating-based approach, taking into
account the forward-looking information and
deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect
the debtor’s point-in-time (PIT) PD under the
current macroeconomic environment;

. LGD refers to the Group's expectation of
the extent of the loss resulting from the
default exposure. Depending on the type of
counterparty, the method and priority of the
recourse, and the type of collaterals, the LGD
varies;

° EAD is the amount that the Group should
be reimbursed at the time of the default in
the next 12 months or throughout the entire
remaining lifetime.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

230

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the analysis
of historical data, the Group identifies the key
economic indicators that affect the credit risk and
ECL of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on the
PD and the LGD varies according to different types
of business. The Group applied experts’ judgment
in this process, according to the result of experts’
judgment, the Group predicts these economic
indicators on a quarterly basis and determines the
impact of these economic indicators on the PD and
the LGD by conducting regression analysis.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) FERME &)

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract
between the Group and a counterparty may result
in a change to the contractual cash flows without
resulting in the derecognition of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities include extended
payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest
settlement method. The risk of default of such
assets after modification is assessed at the
reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset and
the book value of the financial asset is recalculated
and the related gain or loss is included in current
profit and loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present
value of the contractual cash flows following the
renegotiation or modification, as calculated using
the original effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance
of modified assets. The Group may determine that
the credit risk has significantly improved after
restructuring, so that the assets are moved from
Stage 3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. At 31 March 2024, the
Group did not have any financial assets with such
modified contractual cash flows (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 36. EXEBRERE (#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €FEKREEEERBEK (&)
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) EERK &)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREFHIE T REE
() Analysis of loan receivables by collateral () HEEALIETE S A EK

type with maturity profile EXFRIE RS

232

Loans secured by
EREATRE LR
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties
mE=F
BERER MERH4EE RUER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn Tign
As at 31 March 2023 RZB-=#=f=1-H
Due within 3 months or on demand SMEANE SR REREE 1,500 6,500 1523 9523
Due after 3 months but within 6 months  3(a A& E6 (LA Rl 2213 29,585 - 31,798
Due after 6 months but within 12 months {8 A& (E12/8.A foEl - 14622 - 11622
Due after 12 months 12[ER%EE - - - -
3713 47707 1523 52943
Less: Impairments W RE (2249 (1421) (56) (9,726)
1,464 40,286 1,467 43217
As at 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=f=t+-8

Due within 3 months or on demand

Due after 3 months but within 6 months
Due after 6 months but within 12 months
Due after 12 months

SEARZIHIEERER
3(8 A1 E6(E AR
68 A% E120EA A3
DEAREES

Less: Impairments

BB

Legendary Education Group Limited
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6,545
2,420
37,145
1129

47,239
(8,547)

38,692

391
(1)

380

9,149
2420
39,118
1129

51,816
(10,820)

40,996
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NF=RA=+—RHILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 36. EXRMER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) 2RAMEEEEREEK &)
and policies (continued)
(2) cCredit risk (continued) (2) =EERAk &)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables ENREF R E R ()
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) AR IREE 5 B fEY

BEXEEEEZST
Loans secured by
BRANTEEEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties
HEZH
EEREN NERHBEE RitER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThT TR TER

type with credit quality

As at 31 March 2024 R-B-ME=R=1-R
Loan receivables that are credit EERERNES

impaired

- Not past due - a8

- Less than 3 montfs past due - AHH3EA

- Over 3 months past cue - BREEA

- Overdue rescheduled loans -AEREAER

YWAK] 6,500 8,713

Less: Impairments R (2,213) (6,500) (8,713)

Loan receivables that are not credit REEHE EYER

impaired
- Not past due - R 40,739 43,103
- Less than 3 months past due — B HIE A =
- Over 3 months past due - BEREEA -
- Overdue rescheduled loans - BHREAER -
40,739 43,103
Less: Impairments B RE (2,047) (2,107)

38,692 40,996

BELHEEEERAF
2024 £ 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 36. EXRBER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) £EEMREEEEREEK &)
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) EERK &)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables EREFREEE (F)
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) I ALART Ry EH

type with credit quality (Continued) EXEEEZS (8)

Loans secured by
ERHATREEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by
loans  otherassets third parties Total
Y
BEREY MERHMEE RitER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThR THR ThT
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-ZE=8=1-H
Loan receivables that are credit EERERIER
impaired
- Not past due - R 2213 - - 2213
- Less than 3 months past due - BEI3MER - - - -
- Over 3 months past due - BERE A - 6,500* - 6,500
- Overdue rescheduled loans L RER - - - -
- 6,500 - 8,713
Less: Impairments W RE (2213 (6,500) - (8,173)
Loan receivables that are not credit AEEREERER
impaired
- Not past due QL 1,500 1,207 1523 14,230
- Less than 3 montfs past due - BE3MER - - - -
- Over 3 months past due - BEREEA - - - -
- Overdue rescheduled loans -G ERES - - _ _
Less: Impairments W AE (36) (21 (56) (1013)
1464 40,286 1,467 43217
*: The balance was also guaranteed by an 1 REEITBR 2B
independent third party. FE=TER -

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables
(Continued)

(if)

Analysis of loan receivables by collateral
type with credit quality (Continued)
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying
amount and allowances for loan receivables

The table below provides a reconciliation
of the Group’s gross carrying amount and
allowances for loan receivables for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024. The
transfers of financial instruments represent
the impact of stage transfers upon the gross
carrying amount and associated allowance for
ECL. The net remeasurement of ECL arising
from stage transfers represents the increase
in ECL due to these transfers.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

(2) FERME &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 36. EXRBER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) eREAMEEBBERIK &)
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued) (2) EERK &)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables EREFMEF R ()
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (ii) ffffﬁﬁu%ft@f% I EH
type with credit quality (Continued) HIEEEZIT ()
Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying Fﬂﬁz%mﬂ%@é@@iﬁiﬁé
amount and allowances for loan receivables HEBEE (&)

(Continued)

Non-credit impaired Credit impaired
REERE FERE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SRR ERR £3k8 3t
Gross ~ Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance Gross  Allowance
exposure  forECL  exposure  forECL  exposue  forECL  exposue  forECL
BRER ROEE BRER BEER BRAR BEGE ERAR  RHGCH
I I I I
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Tn Tén Tén T#n T#n T Tén Tén

At 1 April 2022 HZgZZ£MmA-5 43,398 (1.275) 6,500 (6,500) 49,89 (7.775)

Newloansffencing oignated ~ REHES /BE 12,063 - - - 1083
Loans/financing derecognised o EREERSREE

repaid during the year (other e/ HE

thn e (ot) (5,018 - b0y
| Transfer between stages £HENEY (2213) : (139)
Total ransfer befween stages SEAREREL (2.213) , (139)
Movements due to changes incredt  £EEBEE3 Bt

fisk 25 (2,074) (1951)

M3 March 203and 1A 003 WoE-ZE

ZA=t-8R
“E-HRR-A 4230 (1,013) h (8,713) 52,943 (9,726)
Newloanffnencing oignated ~— REHE/BE 15,406 - - 15406

Loans/financing Cerecognised or SRR TR EE
tepaid during the year (other HE3/ 88
than writg-0f) (B (16,533) (18,533)

| Tt teeen s KERRES

Total ransfer bebween stages REDRE T

Movements dug to changes incredt  EEEREE 258
risk £9 (1,094) (1,094)

AL 31 March 2004 HoEIRE
ZR=1-A 43,103 (2.107) ! (8713) 51816 (10820)

Legendary Education Group Limited
236 Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 36. EXRABEE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) £REKREEBEERBEK (&)
and policies (continued)

(2) credit risk (Continued) (2) FERR (&)
Concentrations of risk for loan receivables FEREFMEF R ()
(Continued)

(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) EEHFR IR E 5 6 fEWN
type with credit quality (Continued) EXEEEZST (8)
Movements of Expected credit loss of loan EREREHEESE
receivables 28

Non-credit Credit
impaired impaired Total
REERE EERE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR FAT
Movements of ECL JEWE K TERIE B E 15
allowance for loan aiy=t:0p =)
receivables
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-__FMA—H 1,275 6,500 7,775
Impairment 10ss RERER,/(FE)
recognised/(reversed)  SR{EEE
for the year (262) 2,213 1,951

At 31 March2023and R-E-=%

1 April 2023 —A=+—HRK
—E-=FMA—H 1,013 8,713 9,726
Impairment loss RENFERREBE
recognised for the
year 1,094 - 1,094
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMF
—A=+—H 2,107 8,713 10,820
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are FIEER - FRRER N EIEED
described above. EFRER X -

BEERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE

—E-ME=A=+—HItEE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

238

(iif)

Other credit risk

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise
when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 21% (2023: 38%) and 100%
(2023: 75%) of the total trade receivables
were due from the Group's largest trade
debtor and the five largest trade debtors
respectively within the OEM Business and
Wholesaling Business segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are usually due
within 30 days to 60 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from trade customers.

Legendary Education Group Limited
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36. EXxEBEE (#)
(b) s@EMREEREREE (&)

(2)

FERR (&)

(i)

Az EmbE

Z ZEWGRIA
REBEAZ 2 EERBRE
EXEREPMERFEE
FTB1T S BR 2 ER1E
A2 Bt EXEE
EhEBREZRNAEE
AZEARERNEPER
RIEER - B S RUGR
BEFE221% (Z T ==
F:38%) K100%(= &
ZZF 75%) DRIk B
REERRBRERBR
HEEBIBRZHZARE
SEBARAKRE HEH
A o

FEBERBBETERL
EEZEFPI9g Lﬂm%
EERE - ZEAE
%Eﬁh&%ﬂ%ﬁﬁz
FCER SRR 2 B R RE
WEBZFP ZBEER
AR B P& P 2 1R
RIR - RS RUGIRER
B % % H 8 #30H £60
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)
(2) Credit risk (Continued)

(iif)

Other credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group's historical credit l0ss
experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on
past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information
about the Group's exposure to credit risk
and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024:

As at 31 March 2023

Current (not past due) g CRaH)
1 t0 30 days past due #H12308

31 to 60 days past due BH31ZE60H
6110 90 days past due HEI61E90H
Over 91 days past due B EFEA91 A

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

(2) =ERE (&)

(i) EfpsEmER (&)
B 5 WA ()
AEBRBER 2 HEH
EEEBRNSRE (ERR
BEME) SAEESHE
WRE R R - XA
SEELEEEBRERY
TETRTREF D EHE
BEAAEREZR Al
ERE BB R AR
AEAREETREFEE
1THE—FER -

TREFIRN_Z_=F=

A=+—ARZZF_MF

—A=t+—B4x&@E2E

BRBR A R E 5 EUGK

BIEEMEEEEER
Gross

carrying
amounts

Expected
credit loss
rate
HHEE

Loss
allowance
(3B IREAE

HK$ 000
FHBIT

BRBE
HK$'000
FAx

AZBZ=f¥=HA=+-H

2.2%

12% 573 69

As at 31 March 2024

Current (not past due) B (K@)
1 to 30 days past due #H1ZE30H

31 to 60 days past due EH31ZE60H
6110 90 days past due EH61ZE0H
Over 91 days past due BB H

RZE-_WME=A=+—H

2.67%-4.06%

BELHEEEERAF
2024 £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 36. EXRAMBERE (#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) €FEKREEEERBEK (&)
and policies (continued)
(2) cCredit risk (continued) (2) EERK &)
(i) Other credit risk (Continued) (i)  AftlzERRE (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) Z Z WG (&)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss TEEE BRI ERERE
experience and adjusted to reflect differences HRAS BRI A B LA S B g
between economic conditions during the S FE 52 2R BRI O AR
period over which the historic data has S BRI R A E S
been collected, current conditions and the TR FEW R IB TE BA R A AC
Group's view of economic conditions over the BERANERZESR -

expected lives of the receivables.

Movements of ECL allowance for trade REE-_T-_=F=A

receivables during the years ended 31 March —t+t—AR-ZT-NF=

2023 and 31 March 2024 are as follows: AR=+—RHILtFE &5
FEWFIENTEHREEEBE
BESHHT -

Balance at beginning of the year — F##&5 %
Impairment losses recognised FNERHREEE
during the year

Balance at end of the year FAREEH

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(2)

(3)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Other credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables and deposits
For other receivables and deposits, the
directors of the Company make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and
gualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.
Based on the impairment assessment
conducted by the directors of the Company,
the Company recognised impairment 10ss
amounted to approximately HK$473,000
(2023: HK$1,682,000) which was charged to
the profit and loss for the year.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from loan receivables, cash at banks,
bank borrowing, promissory note payables and
lease liabilities. Loan receivables, bank borrowing,
promissory note payables and lease liabilities at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and
the interest income thereon is not significant.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE—_Z_mME&E=A=+—HILEE

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

(2)

(3)

EERK (&)

(i) AftlzERRE (&)
Hh R RIERIES
FEAD YR RiZ &
= ARRIEZIREBAE
BT - BELRIAR
£33 B BIPIR FERATIE
HFEERTEHEER - HE
b FE U SRIE R 2 ) AT R
] 1 377 E BRME B IR AR -
RIEARR B E S HEITRIR
BFE - ARAF AR
S 1B 5 18 #9473,00075 7T
(ZFEZ =4 : 1,682,000
BIT) B BBk -

M=E R
MERERASEETARFER
ARRBESREHERADHFE
BEMKBHER - AEEF
RKEBET2REEKRER R
TR VRITEE  BAERS
SBREIHEEAE  BEMNEE
WEH - RITFEE - BRAAL
SEMEERERAEE @R
DFEMEER -

RITERRBRENXFE - A
HMBWAALAEK -

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 36. EXRMER (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) 2RAMEEEEREEK &)
and policies (continued)
(3) Interest rate risk (Continued) (3) F=Emb (&)
Interest rate profile FIZERLR
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRAMKEEFEEMIA
the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments RS BAR A R BER, -

at the end of the reporting period:

2024
—E-mE
Effective
interest rate  Amount
BRAI= K%}
% HK$'000
TER

Fixed interest rate EERI=
Financial assets SREE

— Loan receivables — Bl E 5%t012% 40,996
5%Z12%
Financial liabilities tHAR
- Bank borrowing - BITEE 3.625% (4,682)
3.625%
- Lease liabilities -HEaE 2% 10 6.5%  (15,630)
2%Z6.5%
Variable interest rate ZEFE
Financial assets SREE
— Cash at bank —f1RE 0.75% to 3.4%
0.75%%3.4% 68,222
88,906
Fixed rate instruments EEFET AN
as a percentage of net FTEERIA
interest-bearing financial ~ JFEHE L
instruments

Legendary Education Group Limited
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2023
—E-=F

Effective

HK$'000
T

5% 0 12% 43,217
5%%12%

2.75% 10 3.75% (5,000)
2.75%%3.75%

2% 10 5.9% (22,042)
2%%5.9%

0.001% 48,599

64,774

25%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

(3)

(4)

(5)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Loan receivables, bank borrowing, promissory
note payables and lease liabilities are fixed rate
instruments and are insensitive to any change in
interest rates. A change in interest rates at the
end of the reporting period would not affect profit
or loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure
to interest rates arising from variable rate cash
at bank, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the executive
directors monitor its foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposures should the need arises. At
the end of the reporting period, there is minimal
exposure to currency risk by the Group as
substantially all financial assets and all financial
liabilities recognised are denominated in the
functional currency of the respective Group entities.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent
company'’s board approval. The Group's policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

&

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

e — T i — A Sl E e

36. EXEBEE (#)
(b) s@EAMREEREREE (&)

(3)

(4)

(5)

MR (&)

HBED T
AEBRWER  RITEE
ENAAREREEAERE
FEM &R T A B8 H) & i (] 2
PHPRERE - RmEHAKRZ
NEZEFH I EERS

AEBEWE|ES QT BRITR
EWEAMEERE  FHEARE
P BRENEDHT

BE¥ER
ﬁ%l%ﬁﬁiﬂﬁl\ﬁgﬁiqﬂﬂl
o BRT - MITE B EIEESD
Eﬂﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%%%
¥R BERINERER o RIREHA
K ANEBEEERRMROR
N REREHERNLTRE
CRMEERFESRBEETINA

EEEERIEERETE °

REBESRR
$EIWM%%%a%E§ﬁ
ERECHESERIE B8

?Eﬁé@ﬁ%ZL%ﬁ&é&%%
EFNENERREHER X
AENNRERE ZHERT
AEE o AEEZBRZES
ERHERDESHAT  MET
MERE  BERASE#RTRT
HRRREEABNEERR
BEARDHESFEL

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(5) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period
and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay, is as follows:

36. EXxEBEE (#)
(b) s@EMREEREREE (&)

(5) REBEEER (&)

MRS R - A 7 JEOT A
SR EEES ORBEAR
(BHENA DFES (B FD
FI%) 58 145 HIoR 2 B AT
RiHE 2 R B EOR) 2 BIHE
REARBALNORST B H
T

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

Within 1

year oron year but less

demand
—ERg,
BEX
HK$'000
Tign

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-RE

More than 1
than 2 years

EmER
HK$'000

AHREERERE

More than

2 years but
less than 5
years

WER
BRER
HK$'000
TiEn

More than 5
years Total

Carrying
amount
—£%
BREE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx THR

REE
HKS'000

TiEn TiEn

ZB=1-H
Non-derivative financial HitsBEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  ZZRHHEMNFTE 14,456 29,770 49,335 42,189
Bank borrowing RRE 4,724 - 4,724 4,682
Lease liabilties figak 12,387 210 16,141 15,630
31,567 70,200 62,501
As at 31 March 2023 RoE-zE
ZR=1-8
Non-Gerivative financial HitsBEE
iabilities
Trade and other payables EHREERNTE 13,089 2014 38447 6,030 59580 58,007
Bank borrowing RRE 5723 - - - 5723 5000
Lease liabilties g8k 13079 8765 1,238 - 23082 2002
31,891 10,779 39,685 6,030 88,385 85,049

Legendary Education Group Limited
Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

7 vl ) U RS < — (5] || 4

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 36. EXEBRERE (#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

(5) Liquidity risk (Continued)
Bank borrowing with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “within 1 year or on
demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying
amounts of this bank borrowing amounted to
approximately HK$4,682,000 (2023 HK$5,000,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the management does not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such bank borrowing
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below:

(b) EREMEERERBE &)
(5) RBESER (#)

B A5 12 B SRE B AR RTTE
Bt A LB EBASTA [ —
FRNKREKR] HEBER -
RZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H
ZBITEENRE@DEBY AR
4,682,000 T (=T — =% :
5,000,000/ 7T) ° ZERAEH
BB ISR - BERERARIT
TRAT BT H 15 i E sk B
FEXR - BEEERA 2SR
TEERBREBEER R HTERET
EIERBHMEER  FREART

Maturity Analysis - Bank and other borrowings with

a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
repayments

HBBSH - WEREREERINRTRALEE (ERTHER)

Within 1 More than 1

year oron year but less
demand than 2 years
—ER -
BEX EmER
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

As at 31 March 2024 R=B-mE
ZA=t-A
Bank borrowing ROkE

More than
2 years but
less than 5

years
WER
BRER
HK$'000
T

Carrying
Over 5 years Total amount

EFAL #it REfE
HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TR TER

As at 31 March 2023 RZB-=Zf
ZA=t+-H
Bank bhorrowing RiTEE 178 707

2416 57123 5,000

BEERABEEEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 37. EXEmETHNEEYHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TR AEERETHEENEEY
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BEReRIREEH - EFHELENE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are ERBEESREIRKRBSRENAERLGES
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, ReMERTHIBRARETHELRGME
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows HEE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Promissory
note Bank Lease

payables borrowing liabilities Total
EBAELEE RITEE HEAE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TAET FET
At 1 April 2022 RZZE-FMA—H - 5,000 24,277 29,277

Changes from financing cash RERENEY
flows (92) (143) (11,886) (12,121)
New leases entered TN HETEE - - 8,749 8,749
Acquisition of a subsidiary BB AR 2,491 - - 2,491
Interest expenses MEFRS 92 143 902 1,137

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April %_Zi:—i_ﬂ =+—H

2023 “E-=FMA—H 2,491 . 22,042 29,533
Changes from financing cash mﬂéfﬁﬁuﬁéﬂ

flows (2,511) (15,328) (18,305)
New leases entered TN MFEE - - 7,962 7,962
Interest expenses FEFAX 20 954 1,122
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-NFE=R=1+—H . 15,630 20,312

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2024, the Group had the following significant non-cash
transactions:

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group agreed
to settle the debts of HK$1,200,000 owed by Best Take
Global Limited regarding the acquisition of the entire
equity interest in Best Take Global Limited (see note
38(a) ().

Further, during the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with the
carrying amount of HK$6,459,000 through the entering
into the leasing arrangements with the counterparties.

During the year ended 31 March 2024

Further, during the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
acquired certain property, plant and equipment with the
carrying amount of HK$7,962,000 through the entering
into the leasing arrangements with the counterparties.

38.

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

BEXFRERS
BESEANBERLBHRBEES -
BE-—F-_=F=A=+-AR-F_MF
ZA=t+—RALER  AREEUATEA
EES TR

() BE=—F=-=F=A=+—H
IHFE
HEZT-_=F=-A=+—HBIL*F
- AKER EH U EBest Take
Global Limitedz & #B i% # 45 1Best
Take Global Limited#% /& #91,200,000
EoER (RHIEE38@)I) °

o BHE-FE-=F=A=+—H
LHEE  AEBRBBEIZHF ]
SR E B AR I (E 436,459,00078
TCHIE T - BB KR -

(b) BE=—E-—WE=B=+—H
IEFE
o ME=T-mE=A=+—8

LFE - Zlié‘%@%_i@ﬁiﬁ&%ﬂ?ﬁﬂ
YHEE R H BB RRTIE &7,962,0008
TTRETYE - BB MR -

EERBEEBERRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z_NF=A=+—HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. XRARIMBARIZFHE
COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RRERR - AR FEELRBEFENRE

Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below. NRIFEEHINNT ©

Attributable equity interest
and voting power
held by the Company  Principal activities
KRRFERERERRERE TEEK
% %

Issued and
fully paid-up capital
ERTRABEER

Place of incorporation/
operation

HEMEY /SR

Directly owned subsidiary

EEERMEAF
Multi Vision Development Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
gach
Multi Vision Development Limited RERGHE /B8 RERIETHLER 100 100 ®EEK
Able Glorious Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
Able Glorious Limited ZBRLES/BA RERIETHLBR 100 100 REER
Peaceful Success Enterprises Limited — BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
BREEERAT RERNEE /B RERIETNL AR 100 100 #EZER
Indirectly owned subsidiary
BEERIEAR
Hong Kong Investor Education Limited  HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses
EAREEHFEARRA Bk BE RERER 100 100 RENERREHERE
Able Rich Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
ENERERAA) ABRLHS/BA RERIETHLBR 100 100 REER
L & A Group of Companies Limited ~ HK/HK 38,400,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Manufacturing, sales and
retailing of garment
products
HOEEARDA BB/ BA 38,400,0008% &% 100 100 REEREE HERT
&
L & A Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
of US$1 each
L & A Management Limited EERAEE /BE RERIETHLER 100 100 REZR

Legendary Education Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE_Z_WF=A=+—HLFE

BEERABEEEERAF

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. XRARIMBARIZFHE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Attributable equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
SRR /S BETRBRER ARFAMKEERERRRER TEEK
% %
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI/HK 3,000 ordinary shares of 100 100 Investment holding
US$1 each
Sun Dynamic Group Limited EBRGEE/EE  3000RERIETMLER 100 100 HEER
Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 80 80 Provision of private
Supplementary
education courses
RECEERAH B/ B 1,000 &35 Ak 80 80 RELUBHHESRRE
L & A Food Trading Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share Dormant
SERRBEHBRAR &b/ Bk REBR EmEY
L & A Solutions Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Money Lending
L & A Solutions Limited B/ B TRE R 100 100 HE
Freemaker Institute Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses
BEREHEEEERAR Bk /B% 1,008 & % 100 100 REMERREHERE
Bewisekid Holding Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share Investment holding
Bewisekid Holding Limited EERAEE /BE REER REER
Be Wise Kid Education Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
COUrses
—A—HREARDH &b/ Bk 100000 Bk 100 100 REMARREHERE
Initial Aim Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding
each
Initial Aim Limited ZBRLES/BA RERIETNLER 100 100 REER
Prestige Concord Limited BVI/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding
of US$1 each
Prestige Concord Limited EBREUHE /BB 1,000% &% 100 100 HERR
VERER
YH Group Limited HK/HK 150,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
COUrses
TFEEEEERAR Bk /BR 150,0008% & 100 100 REUHBHREEHERE
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. XRATFIMBARIZFHE (&)
COMPANY (continued)
Attributable equity interest
Place of incorporation/ Issued and and voting power
operation fully paid-up capital held by the Company  Principal activities
HMAY /S BETRBRER AAFAMKEERERRER TEEK
% %

YH Education Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
courses

TEAEER AR BB/ B 1RE B 100 100 REHHREEHAERR

98 SHH Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 100 Investment holding

each

98 SHH Limited ZBRLES/BA RERIETHLER 100 100 REER

31 Edutech Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 66 66 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
courses

31 Edutech Limited &b/ Bh 10008 & @ik 66 66 REBERREAAERE

KargoStudio Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
(uotient and
investment education
courses

KargoStudio Limited Bk /BE 1,000 &R 100 100 PREMERREHERE

Bingo Solution Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses

BT REARRT Bk BE 1,000 &R 100 100 REERREHERE

MPS Dance Limited HK/HK 1,000 ordinary shares 100 100  Operating pole dance
studios

MPS Dance Limited b/ BA 1,000 % % 100 100 SEMEBTRE

Hong Kong Institute of Professional ~ HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares 75 75 Provision of financial

Studies Limited Quotient and
investment education
courses

BEEREEERBRAT &%/ Bk 10,0008 & % 75 75 REMBRREHERRE

Brightest Intellects Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share 80 80 Provision of private
supplementary
education courses

(o=}
o

Brightest Intellects Limited BB/ BR RERER 80 REALVEPHFRE
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RATIMBRR 2FHE (@)

Attributable equity interest
and voting power
held by the Company  Principal activities

ARAFBEERERRRE TRER

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39.
COMPANY (Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and
operation fully paid-up capital
AL/ S BETRARER
Brightest Brilliance Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares
Brightest Brilliance Limited 2%/ BE 10,0008 % %

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
both years and at the end of both years.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI")

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, there has no
subsidiaries of the Group which has material non-controlling
interests.

% %

80 80 Provision of private
supplementary
education courses

80 80 RENLUEHHERE

i

FRIMA AN EERATEYEAREE
FHAERAEZ ARFHBEAT - AAH
EERB - REHMBL T2 FHE R
BRBATE -

RMEFEARRNREFER - HEREA
BIEITIEAIESE S o

JEERER ([ FFERER )
RZBZ=F=ZA=+—RHARFTOF=
A=+—8  A&EEMEESENIETERE
mRMB AR o

BEERABEEEERAF
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40.

252

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, for enhancing the
“relevance” on the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, certain reclassifications have been made to the
comparative figures presented in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the prior year to achieve comparability
with the current year's presentation. As a result, the line
item “Impairment losses under expected credit losses, net of
reversal” regarding comparative figures have been combined
with the line item “Other gains and losses, net”.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
reclassification made to the comparative figures has
insignificant impact on the Group’s consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, up to the date of the approval for issuance of
the consolidated financial statements, the Company had the
following significant events identified by the directors of the
Company:

(@) Placing of new shares

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 19
March 2024, on 19 March 2024, the placing agent (the
“Placing Agent”) and the Company entered into the
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place
through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, up to
38,462,000 placing shares (the “Placing Shares”) at the
placing price (the “Placing Price”) of HK$1.30 per Placing
Share to not less than six placees (the “Placees”) (the
“Placing”).

The Placing Shares will be allotted and issued under the
General Mandate, which was granted to the directors
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
Ccompany’s 2023 annual general meeting to issue and
allot new Shares not exceeding 20% of the then total
number of issued Shares, i.e. 83,319,932 new Shares.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 8
April 2024, the Company and the Placing Agent
entered into a supplemental placing agreement (the
“supplemental Placing Agreement”) and a second
supplemental agreement (the “Second Supplemental
Placing Agreement”) to the Placing Agreement, pursuant
to which the Company and the Placing Agent agreed to
amend the Placing Price from HK$1.30 per Placing Share
to HK$1.32 per Placing Share (the “Adjusted Placing
Price”).

A I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

41. RERHRBRWNEIER
BRGEFTBSREE B FAREEN - 8
EHEAMBRRIAETIRAE  AQTES
BHBIATARR 2 EREM :

(a)

[ =50 v
BEARAFDBHA-Z-_MNE=ZA
+HABZAH RZZE-_NF=A
ThBe BEERE ((BEERE)]) &
RRREI R ERE ((EREHHED
Bt ARFEBRGRESBAEE
RIBIEZNELER T DR SNBERA
([P A D) B &% %38,462,000/% Bt
ERm ((RERN] - BEE (R
EE]) REREERK1.30%T ([
BEE]) -

Fo &R IR IE — AR IR (R E
TR -FRFBFARE LRBNE
BABRERTES  UBITREH
TR E By 2 31T D 4 B20% 3 i
17 - B83,319,9320% % 1) A3k f 3%
T

BEANRBHAZS_NFINAN
Bz M NRAEEERIER AR
EmE Ml ERE ((HEkE
&) RE—Mhmxms (£ =10
MR ERE]) - Bt ARFHEE
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
(Continued)
(@) Placing of new shares (Continued)

254

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 23 April
2024, all the condition set out in the Placing Agreement
(as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental
Placing Agreement and the Second Supplemental Placing
Agreement) had been fulfilled and completion of the
Placing took place on 23 April 2024 (the “Completion”).
An aggregate of 22,656,000 Placing Shares have been
successfully placed to not less than six Placees at the
Adjusted Placing Price of HK$1.32 per Placing Share.

The 22,656,000 Placing Shares represent approximately
() 5.4% of the issued share capital of the Company
immediately before Completion; and (ii) 5.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Placing Shares immediately
upon completion.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 19
March 2024 and 8 April 2024, the gross proceeds and the
estimated net proceeds from the Placing (assuming all the
38,462,000 Placing Shares have been fully placed at the
Adjusted Placing Price) would amount to approximately
HK$50.8 million and HK$50.2 million, respectively. The
Company initially contemplated to apply the adjusted net
proceeds from the Placing as to approximately (i) HK$44.0
million for the potential expansion of the existing principal
businesses of the Group including the Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business and the private
supplementary education business; and (i) HK$6.2 million
for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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(@) EEHRAD @)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
(Continued)
(@) Placing of new shares (Continued)

Based on the 22,656,000 Placing Shares actually placed,
the actual gross proceeds and net proceeds (after
deducting the placing commission and other related
expenses and professional fees) from the Placing
amounted to approximately HK$30 million and HK$29.5
million, respectively. Based on the net proceeds of
approximately HK$29.5 million under the Placing, the
net price per Placing Share is approximately HK$1.3035.

The actual net proceeds of approximately HK$29.5
million from the Placing are intended to be applied by
the Company as to approximately (i) HK$23.3 million
for the potential expansion of the existing principal
businesses of the Group including the Financial Quotient
and Investment Education Business and the private
supplementary education business; and (i) HK$6.2 million
for working capital and general corporate purposes. It is
expected that the net proceeds will be fully utilised by 31
March 2025. The Company may consider other financing
and/or fundraising alternatives to raise additional funds
with a view to implementing its growth plan stated in (i)
above as initially contemplated.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 19 March 2024, 8 April 2024 and
23 April 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
(Continued)

256

(b) Subscription of Convertible Bonds

Pursuant to the Company’s announcements dated 24
April 2024 and 25 April 2024, and the circular dated
13 May 2024. On 24 April 2024, the Company and
each of the subscribers (the “Subscribers) entered
into the subscription agreements (the “Subscription
Agreements”). Pursuant to the Subscription Agreements,
the Company conditionally agreed to issue, and the
Subscribers conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the
convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds") in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000, which
may be converted into 10,135,134 conversion shares (the
“Conversion Shares”) based on the initial conversion price
(the “"Conversion Price”) of HK$1.48 upon full conversion.
The Conversion Shares represent approximately 2.3%
of the existing total number of shares in issue, and
approximately 2.2% of the total number of shares in
issue as enlarged by the allotment and issuance of the
Conversion Shares immediately after full conversion of
the Convertible Bonds at the initial Conversion Price
(assuming no other change to the issued share capital
of the Company) (the “Subscription”).

The Company would apply the net proceeds from the
Subscription, being approximately HK$14.8 million,
for the potential expansion of the existing principal
businesses of the Group, including the financial quotient
and investment education business and the private
supplementary education business.

The Subscription was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at an ordinary resolution at the Company's
extraordinary general meeting date 31 May 2024.
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e ) AR < — 5] [ 4EJE

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 41. FEBBENEBE (&)

(Continued)
(b) Subscription of Convertible Bonds (b) RBEUBRRES &)
(Continued)

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 11 June
2024, all conditions precedent of all the Subscription
Agreements have been fulfilled and completion of all the
Subscription Agreements took place on 11 June 2024.
Upon the completion of all the Subscription Agreements
and pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the
Company has issued to the Subscribers and the
Subscribers have subscribed for the Convertible Bonds in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$15,000,000 with an
initial conversion price of HK$1.48 per Conversion Share.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 24 April 2024, 25 April 2024, 13
May 2024, 31 May 2024 and 11 June 2024 and the circular
of the Company dated 13 May 2024.

BEAARBBHA-T _NF KA
T—B2Z2M - EREHERZAE
SORGHHEEENX - BEFARER
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEHBEHRE

2024 2023 2022 2020
—E-lE F ZE-A —TTF

===

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THTT T THETT THTT

Ccontinuing and FEREKILE

discontinued BEER

operations
Revenue &= 284,595 237,253 115,088 96,468 74,271
Operating profit/(loss) &4 %/ (&18) 60,466 45,757 34,186 42,866 (32,809
Profit/(loss) for the year fER%F|(E518) 47,111 34,590 26,007 40,425 (34,015)

Financial position B R AR

Assets and liabilities EENEBE

Total assets BEEE 434,408 379,598 329,389 353,178 89,536
Total liabilities BERR (102,028) (127,180) (117,272) (179,159) (39,557)
332,380 252,418 212,117 174,019 49,979

Capital and reserves  BA& R

Total equity ViN/NCIEZ 2= DN
attributable to FEIE M R
owners of the
Company 331,339 252,890 213,338 176,758 52,577
Non-controlling FEPEAR R
interests 1,041 (472) (1,221) (2,739) (2,598)

332,380 252,418 212,117 174,019 49,979
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